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Case Name:

1250264 Ontario Inc. v. Pet Valu Canada Inc.

Between
1250264 Ontario Inc., Plaintiff (Respondent), and
Pet Valu Canada Inc., Defendant (Appellant)

[2013] O.J. No. 2012
2013 ONCA 279

Docket: C55949

Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

W.K. Winkler C.J.0., R.P. Armstrong and A, Hoy JJ.A.

Heard: February 26, 2013,
Judgment: May 3, 2013.

(84 paras.)

Civil litigation - Civil procedure —- Parties - Class or represeniative actions -- Members of class or sub-class —- Pro-
cedure - Appeal by frranchisor and group of non-party franchisees from order invalidating opt-out notices filed by
other franchisees allowed -- Franchisor had nothing to do with non-party franchisees’ campaign to convince other
Jranchisees to opt-out of class proceeding commenced against franchisor -- Non-parties had no obligation to communi-
cate with each other objectively -- Increasing nuinber of opt-outs did not place action itself at risk -- No evidence sup-
ported finding any franchisees opted out due to intimidation -- Class Proceedings Act, 1992, ss. 9, 12, 17.

Commercial law -- Franchising -- Association of franchisees -- Appeal by franchisor and group of non-party fianchi-
sees from order invalidating opf-out notices filed by other franchisees allowed -- Franchisor had nothing to do with
non-parly franchisees' campaign to convince other franchisees to opt-out of class proceeding commenced against fran-
chisor -~ Non-parties had no obligation to communicate with each other objectively -- Increasing number of opt-outs
did not place action itself at visk -- No evidence supported finding any franchisees opted out due to intimidation.

Appeal by Pet Valu and 12 non-party franchisees, members of a group calling itself Concerned Pet Valu Franchisees,
from an order setting aside opt-out notices filed by several other Pet Valu franchisees in relation to a class proceeding
commenced by 1250264, another franchisee, against Pet Valu. The basis of the claim was an alleged breach by Pet Valu
of its contractual duty to franchisees by failing to share certain volume discounts and rebates it received from suppliers
and manufacturers. Communication with class members was subject to the court's supervision. Pet Valu had to commu-
nicate with its franchisees due to their ongoing business relationships, but such communications were subject to the
court's direction, especially during the opt-out period. Pet Valu's franchisee association, CFC, was not curtailed in its
commutnications about the class proceeding. The CFC met in August 2011, There was much dissention within the CFC
about the merits of the class proceeding. Members of the executive opposing the action ultimately formed the group
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Concerned Pet Valu Franchisees, with the intention of encouraging other franchisees to opt out of the action. The group
confacted other franchisees by telephone and via the Tnternet, during the opt-out period, encouraging them to opt out for
various reasons, The campaign resulted in a dramatic increase in the number of opt-out notices during the campaign.
The principal of 1250264 moved to have these notices set aside. In allowing this motion, the judge concluded there was
a reasonable probability many franchisees opted out as a result of misleading information and unfair pressure exerted by
the group. He expressed concern the survival of the class proceeding was placed at risk because almost half the class
had opted out. He accepted Pet Valu itself had no confrol over the group or the CFC and Pet Valu did not exert pressure
on class members to opt out. He declared invalid atl opt-out notices filed after September 5, 2011, and ordered a new
opt-out process to commence after the class proceeding was decided on its merits,

HELD: Appeal allowed. The order invalidating the opt-out notices was sct aside. The judge proceeded on the erroncous
principte the class proceeding was at risk of decertification based on the number of opt-outs. He also erred in imposing
on class members an obligation to communicate with each other in an objective manner. As representative plaintiff,
1250264 had an obligation to bring any concerns about the group’s campaign to the attention of the judge promptly, but
it failed to do so. There was no direct evidence from any franchisee stating whether or not its opt-out decision was vol-
untary and informed. There was no valid evidentiary basis for the judge to conclude any franchisees decided to opt out
due to unfair pressure amounting to intimidation.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited:
Arthur Wishart Act (Franchise Disclosure), 2000, 5.0, 2000, ¢. 3, s. 4(1)

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, 1982, R.S.C. 1985, App. II, No. 44, Schedule B, s. 2{d}
Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 8,0, 1992, ¢, 6,8. 9, 8. 12, 5. 17, 5. 17{6)(b), 5. 20

Appeal From:

On appeal from the order of Justice George R. Strathy of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice, dated July 27, 2012,
with reasons reported at 2012 ONSC 4317, 112 O.R. (3d) 294, and on appeat from his costs order, dated September 11,
2012, with reasons reported at 2012 ONSC 5029,

Counsel;

Geoftrey B, Shaw and Derck Ronde, for the appeliant Pet Valu Canada Inc,

Lawrence G. Theall and Bevan Brooksbank, for the appellant franchisees.

David Sterns and Jean-Marc Leclerc, for the respondent.

The judgment of the Court was delivered by
W.K, WINKLER C.J.0.:--
A. OVERVIEW

1 This is an appeal from an order made by a motion judge concerning the validity of the opt-out process in a class
proceeding certified under the Class Proceedings Aet, 1992, S.0. 1992, ¢. 6 ("CPA"),

2 Section 9 of the CPA provides class members with the right to opt out of a class proceeding. The right to opt out
must be exercised during a finite period which is set out in the certification order and spelled out in the court-approved
notice to class members of the certification of the action. Critical to the integrity of the opt-out process is the right of
individual class members to make a fully informed and voluntary decision about whether to remain as a member of the
class or to exercise the right to opt out.

3 The disputed opt-out process in this case followed the certification of a class proceeding brought on behalf of fran-
chisees against the appellant franchisor, Pet Valu Canada Inc. Towards the end of the opt-out period, a group of Pet
Valu franchisees who opposed the class action and who called themselves "Concerned Pet Valu Franchisees” ("CPVF")!
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waged a concerted campaign to try to persuade class members to opt out. After the CPVF's campaign began, the number
of returned opt-out notices increased dramatically. By the end of the opt-out period, more than half of the class had
submitted opt-out notices.

4 A considerable time after the opt-out period ended, Robert Rodger, the principal of the representative plaintiff,
1250264 Ontario Inc., moved for an order setting aside the received opt-out notices. The motion judge granted the mo-
tion in part and invalidated any opt-out notices received on or after the beginning of the CPVF's opt-out campaign. The
motion judge provided for a new opt-out period to take place after the final disposition of the action on its merits.

§  The motion judge's remedial order followed from his conclusion that there was a "reasonable probability” that many
franchisees decided to opt out due to misleading information and unfair pressure amounting to intimidation resulting
from the CPVF's campaign. The motion judge found there was no evidence that the defendant Pet Valu was responsible
for, or connected to, this misleading information or unfair pressure. Rather, he exclusively attributed the impugned con-
duct to activities of the members of the CPVE,

6 Both the defendant Pet Valu and 12 non-party franchisees who were members of the CPVF ("appellant franchi-
sees") appeal from the motion judge's order. The motion judge based his decision that the conduct of the CPVF under-
mined the opt-out process on the following considerations: his analysis of the content of the CPVE's web site and its
telephone campaign; his inference that class members were coerced or intimidated by the conduct of the campaign; and
his finding that the campaign resulted in misinformation due to its lack of objectivity.

7 Inmy view, the motion judge erred in two material respects:; drawing the inference in the absence of any direct evi-
dence and holding the CPVF to a standard of objectivity. The information disseminated amounted {0 no more than opin-
fon as to the advisability of the lawsuit from a business perspective. If did not purport to comment on the legal merits of
the action. Information relating to the action was already available through neutral court approved notices. The commu-
nications here were simply acceptable fntva-class debate. Therefore, the motion judge misapplied the fully informed and
voluntary test enunciated in the jurisprudence. [ would allow the appeal and set aside the order invalidating the opt-out
natices, My reasons follow.

B. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

8  The factoal background is well-stated by the motion judge at paras. 5-55, and, for the most part, I simply repeat the
relevant details from his reasons.

9 The Pet Valu chain consists of specialty stores selling pet food and supplies. The certified class consists of 256 Pet
Valu franchisees who operated stores in Ontario and Manitoba between December 31, 2003 and March 28, 201 1. At the
time of certification, there were 155 Pet Valu franchised stores, with 145 in Ontario and 10 in Manitoba. Pet Valu also
operated a total of 214 corporate stores, about 144 of which were under the "Pet Valu" banner, with the remainder oper-
ating under other frade names.

10 The motion judge presided over a number of case conferences and several motions. Pet Valu has vigorously de-
fended the action and the motion judge characterized the atmosphere on motions and case conferences as highly adver-
sarial. The plaintiff has a pending motion for partial sammary judgment. Pet Valu has indicated that it proposes to bring
a motion o de-certify the class proceeding, Tt has also filed a competing motion for summary judgment.

11  The motion judge certified the action in January 2011; see reasons reported at 201 | ONSC 287, 16 C.P.C. (7th)
52. The central common issue that was certified is whether Pet Valu breached its contractual duty to class members by
failing to share with its franchisees certain volume discounts and rebates that it received from suppliers and manufactur-

ers during the class period.

12 Following certification, communication with class members was an extremely contentious subject. A case confer-
ence was held in February 2011, which included a discussion of communications with class members, The minutes of
the conference state:

His Honour expressed his general concern about communications to the class and advised that
there was fo be no communications to the class without court approval,

13 The formal certification order issued on June 29, 2011 incorporated a Plan of Proceeding. The Plan of Proceeding
includes provisions dealing with communications with class members. There was a concern on both sides, which the
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motion judge shared, that communications with the class between certification and the end of the opt-out period should
be carefully supervised.

14 Pet Valu had to be able to communicate with franchisees due to their ongoing commercial relationship. However,
each party was exiremely distrustful of the other and neither wanted the other to be able to sway class members' free-
dom to make their own decision about whether to opt out. The Plan of Proceeding therefore provided:

Communications with the Class Members before the expiry of the opt-out period are subject to
the direction of the class proceedings judge.

15 The certification order and the Plan of Proceeding did not purport to curtail the right of other franchisees -- includ-
ing Pet Valu's franchisee association known as the Canadian Franchise Council ("CFC") -- from communicating about
the class action.

16  Section 17(6)(b) of the C'PA provides that the right to opt out of a class proceeding must be exercised during a
finite period which is set out in the certification order and spelled out in the court-approved notice to class members of
the certification of the action. In the present case, the certification notice approved by the case management judge was
distributed to class members on July 15, 20t 1. The notice specified that the opt-out period would be a 60-day opt-out
period, expiring on September 15, 2011,

(1) The Opt-Out Process

17 At an annual general meeting of the CFC held in August 2011 (during the opt-out period), there was considerable
discussion amongst franchisees about the merits of the class action. Some class members, including Mr. Rodger, spoke
in favour of the action while others, including members of the Executive Committee of the CFC, voiced opposition.

18 The Executive made a motion to authorize it to present its view of the class action to those attending the annual
general meeting. The motion carried and the Executive read a statement indicating in strong terms its opposition to the
tawsuit as being harmful to franchisees' businesses and profitability, and their financial futures. A motion to have the
entive membership of the CFC vote on a resolution to support the Executive's unanimous statement was withdrawn.

19 Inearly September 2011, 10 of the 11 members of the Executive Committee of the CFC, as well as a spouse of an
Executive member and two other franchisees, became founding members of the CPVF. The sole purpose of the CPVF
was to encourage other Pet Valu franchisees to opt out of the class action.

20 The campaign mounted by the CPVF had two major fronts. First, beginning on the Labour Day weekend, the
founding members did a telephone blitz, calling every franchisee to encourage them to opt out of the class action. The
calls followed a standard script. CPVF members identified themselves and explained that they were calling to encourage
the franchisee to opt out. The caller asked whether the franchisee had already opted out and also asked whether, if the
franchisee was opting out, the CPVT could publish his/her name. The caller also directed the franchisee to the CPVF's
website. :

21 Second, in conjunction with the telephone campaign, in early September 2011, the CPVF launched a website. The
motion judge set out much of the content of the website at para. 53 of his reasons.

22  The website included a tally of the number of franchisees who had opted out of the action and a list of the names
and store locations of the franchisees who had declared their intention to opt out. In addition, it contained staiements
voicing strong opposition to the class action based on beliefs that it would: hurt profitability; damage the brand; divert
time and resources away from building a stronger franchise; place walls between franchisees and the new management
who were described as being commitied to improving the brand; and would reduce growth by deterring prospective
purchasers of the franchise: see motion judge's reasons, at para, 53. The website also stated that class members who opt.
out "still have the right to individually or collectively pursue {their} rights.” It continued: "This will not waive your
rights or stop you from pressing forward with issues individually or through the CFC, although statutory time limits can
prevent how far a court can 'look back'."

23 By September 4, 2011, only 37 opt-out forms had been received froin class members. After the start of the CPVF's
campaign, there was a noticeable spike in the delivery of opt-out forms. By the end of the opt-out period on September
I5, 2011, a total of 140 forms were received, which amounted to about 65 percent of current franchisees and 10 percent
of former franchisees.

(2) The Plaintiff's Motion
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24  On November 16,2011, two months after the end of the opt-out period, the plaintiff served a notice of motion,
without any supporting affidavit or other material, requesting an order setting aside all the opt-out notices. On February
13, 2012, the plaintiff served a further notice of motion with the supporting affidavit of Mr. Rodger. The plaintiff filed
an amended notice of motion in June 2012, almost a year after the certification order was made. The motion was heard
on July 4, 2012,

25 Incross-examination on his affidavit, Mr. Rodger acknowledged that he knew that the CPVF's campaign was go-
ing on during the opt-ont period, but he did not seek direction from the motion judge during the opt-out period.

C, REASONS OF THE MOTION JUDGE

26 The motion judge observed that the question before him was whether the opt-out process was "so irreparably im-
paired as to justify the extraordinary measure of judicial intervention” (at para. 2).

27 He attributed the dramatic increase in the number of opt-out notices that were received in the last two weeks of the
opt-out period to "a well-organized, systematic and highly effective campaign by the CPVF to deal a death blow to the
class action by persuading other franchisees to opt out” (at para. 24).

28 The motion judge found that the CPVF's website contained statements that had no factual basis and that were ex-
aggerated or misleading. He expressed nine specific concerns about the content of the CPVF's website, at para. 54,
which are set out below, at para. 53 of my reasons, He concluded, at para. 55, that the CPVF's telephone campaign and
website "were an unabashed attempt to destroy the class action”, "made no attempt to provide [franchisees] with any
information concerning the positive aspects of the class action”, and gave franchisees "more misinformation and added
to the confusion".

29 Based on the conduct of the CPVF and the content of its website, the motion judge concluded that there was "a
reasonable probability ... that many franchisees decided to opt out as a result of misleading information and untair pres-
sure amounting to intimidation” (at para. 75). He was not swayed by the affidavit evidence of some class members that
they did not experience pressure,

30 Significantly, however, the motion judge found there was no evidence indicating that Pet Valu was somehow con-
trolling the members of the CFC or the CPVF, or that Pet Valu had exerted any form of pressure on class members to
opt out: see paras. 27, 31, 65-66.

31 Turning to the issue of remedy, the motion judge concluded that an extraordinary remedy was warranted by the
need to protect the integrity of the court process and the rights of all class members to make an informed and voluntary
choice about whether to opt out (at paras. 80-81). He declared invalid any opt-out notice received on or after September
5,201 1. He further declared that opt-out notices received prior to that date were presumptively valid, but were subject
to the right of a franchisee to move to set aside his or her opt-out. Finally, he made an order for a new opt-out process
that would oceur following the release of the court's decision on the summary judgment motion, or other final disposi-
tion of the action on its merits.

32  In fashioning this remedy, the motion judge dismissed the concern that his order would undo the res judicata ef-
fect of the CPA by permitting class members to wait and see if the action is successful before deciding whether to opt
out, thereby giving them a "second kick at the can” either individually or collectively. In his view, if the class action
were dismissed on the merits, it would be highly unlikely that any subsequent action, individual or collective, would
succeed (at para. 86).

33  The motion judge acknowledged that the plaintiff may have delayed in bringing the motion and that Mr, Rodger
may have engaged in unsanctioned communication. However, he did not find these concerns determinative, noting that
this did not detract from his conclusion that the appellant franchisees' actions had impaired the opt-out process (at para.
87). ‘

34 Finally, the motion judge dismissed concerns that had been raised about franchisees' rights of association pursuant
to s. 4(1) of the Arthur Wishart Act (Franchise Disclosure), 2000, 8.0. 2000, ¢, 3 ("Franchise Disclosure Act™). He
found that in the unique circumstances of this case the exercise of these rights had interfered with the rights conferred
by the CPA such that relief was necessary (at para. 88).

35 Inseparate reasons prepared after receiving written submissions on costs, the motion judge awarded $60,000 in
costs to the plaintift, payable jointly and severally by Pet Valu and the appeliant franchisees: see reasons reported at
2012 ONSC 5029,
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D, ISSUES
36 The appellants allege that the motion judge made the following errors of law:

1 He faiied to hold the plaintiff to the civil standard of proof.

2) He erred in requiring that conununications by the appellant franchisees satisfy a legal
standard of objectivity and impartiality, which applies to court-approved notices under ss.
17-20 of the CPA,

3) He erred in failing to accept the uncontroverted evidence of the appellant franchisees and
independent affiants that franchisees were not intimidated or coerced by the CPVF's cam-
paign,

4) He erred in disregarding the association rights of the appellant franchisees provided by s.
4(1) of the Franchise Disclosure Act and he failed to exercise his statutory authority in
conformity with the right of association provided by s. 2(d) of the Charter.

5) He erred in granting equitable relief without giving any weight to the plaintiff's failure to
pursue the motion expeditiousiy or the misconduct of the plaintiff in engaging in unsanc-
tioned communication with class members during the opt-out period.

6) He erred in deferring the opt-out period until afier the final determination of the case on
its merits, thereby eviscerating the res judicata principles of the CPA.

7 He erred by ordering an extraordinary remedy where more appropriate alternative meas-
ures were available, such as the holding of a new opt-out period without delay.

37  The appellants further argue that the motion judge committed palpable and overriding error in finding that class
members were misled and pressured into opting out when there was no evidentiary basis capable of supporting this find-
ing.

38  No issue was taken with the appellant franchisees' standing on the motion or the appeal. As former class members
who have opted out of the class proceeding, the appellant franchisees are not parties as of right. There was no judicial
order conferring intervener status on them. The only order against them was the motion judge’s costs order, which the
appellant franchisees have not appealed and which, in any event, [ would set aside. Accordingly, in my view, the appel-
lant franchisces were not proper parties on the motion and are not proper appellants. However, nothing turns on this lack
of standing for purposes of dealing with the merits of the appeal. In oral argument before this court, the appellant Pet
Valu adopted the submissions of the appellant franchisees in their entirety.

39 Only Pet Valu secks leave to appeal the costs award. It argues that the plaintiff's notice of motion contained seri-
ous allegations of misconduct on the part of Pet Valu that were unsubstantiated and that deserved the sanction of costs.

E. ANALYSIS

(1) Section 12 of the CPA and the A&P Test

40 The motion judge's order was an exercise of his "broad, discretionary jurisdiction" under s. 12 of the CPA: Fantl v.
Transamerica Life Canada, 2009 ONCA 377, 95 O.R. (3d) 767, at para. 42. A discretionary decision to safeguard the
fairness of a class proceeding is entitled to receive significant deference from this court. It may only be set aside if it is
based on an error of law, a palpable and overriding error of fact, the consideration of irrelevant factors or the omission
of factors that ought to have been considered, or if the decision was unreasonable: Aventis Pharma S.4. v. Novopharm
Lid., 2005 FCA 390, 44 C.P.R. {(4th) 326, at para. 4.

41 In making his remedial order, the motion judge properly recognized the need to protect the interests of the absent
class members in the opt-out process, He stated, correctly, that class members "ought to be free to exercise their right to
participate in or abstain from the class action on an informed, voluntary basis, free from undue influence”, citing
176560 Ontario Ltd, v. Great Aflantic & Pacific Co. of Canada Lid. (2002), 62 O.R. (3d) 535 (S.C.1.), affirmed (2004),
70 O.R. (3d) 182 (Div. Ct.}, leave to appeal refused, [2004] O.J. No. 2008, (May 11, 2004), Court File No. M31109
{Ont. C.A.), at para. 74 (emphasis added by the motion judge). As explained in A&P, at paras. 75-76;

The primary protection for the absent class members in the class proceeding process is the right
to opt out of the class action. It is axiomatic that no class member need participate in a class ac-
tion against his or her will. However, to ensure the integrity of the opt out process, absent class
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members must be fully informed of the issues in the proceeding and the impact on them as indi-
viduals.

Where ... a communication constitutes misinformation, a threat, intimidation, coercion or is made
for some other improper purpose aimed at undermining the process, the court must intervene,

42 The reason why the opt-out decision must be informed and voluntary is that the choice to opt out of a class pro-
ceeding involves a serious access to justice issue. Once a class member opts out of a class proceeding, that person is
either left to pursue his or her rights individually, which may be an unrealistic possibility depending on the nature of the
claim, or the class member must relinquish the right to participate in any remedy that may be obtained for the underly-
ing conduct of the defendant.

43 Where class members engage in conduct that amounts to misinformation, threats, intimidation, coercion or that
reveals some other improper purpose in an attempt fo undermine the opt-out process, the court may intervene to restrain
and remediate the effect of such conduct. The court may do so based on the jurisdiction under s. 12 of the CPA ro pro-
tect the fair determination of the proceeding.

44  Where the parties become aware that class members or former class members are engaging in tactics that may
demand judicial scrutiny during the opt-out period, the representative plaintiff should promptly seek the intervention of
the supervising judge. As well, the defendant may not sit idly by in the face of such conduct without running the risk
that a court will invalidate opt-outs based on the application of the informed and voluntary test established in A&P.

(2)  Application to the Present Case

45  The purpose of the opt-out process is to provide class members with the opportunity to make an informed and vol-
untary decision as to whether they wish to remain as participants in the class action,

46 The motion judge was rightly motivated by a concern for protecting the fairness of the opt-out process and by the
goal of ensuring that opt-out decisions were not the product of misinformation or intimidation. He was deeply troubled
that the "CPVF telephone campaign and website were an unabashed attempt to destroy the class action” (at para. 55). In
his decision awarding the plaintiff its costs of the opt-out motion, the motion judge stated, at para. 20, that the "survival
of the class action depended on the outcome of the [opt-out] motion."

47 These comments reveal that the motion judge was proceeding on an erroneous principle, at least to the extent that
his analysis was premised on the view that the survival of the class action depended on the ontcome of the opt-out mo-
tion. The motion judge believed that because slightly more than half the class had opted out, the very survival of the
class action was at stake on the plaintiff's motion, He did not explain exactly what he meant by "thie survival of the class
action". In his reasons on the opt-out motion, he mentioned, at para, 6, that the defendant had raised the prospect of
bringing a decertification motion.

48 Ifby the survival of the class action the motion judge was referring 1o the prospect of decertification, he did not
explain why the number of class opt-outs could undermine the evidence satisfying the certification criteria. Indeed,
other than perhaps in the most extreme cases, | fail to see any reason why the number of opt-outs would be a basis for
decertification. Alternatively, if he meant the viability of the class action somehow depends on the number of remaining
class members, there is no basis for this concern. A certified class proceeding will continue regardless of the diminished
size of the class and the correspondingly diminished damages award or seitlenment amount that might follow therefrom.

49  The motion judge evaluated the fairness of the opt-out process based on an incorrect belief that the viability of the
class action was in peril. From that viewpoint, the CPVFE's actions would have appeared more troubling than they actu-
ally were.

50  The motion judge's view that the survival of the class action was at stake on the apt-out motion -- although incor-
rect -- reflected the CPVF's motivation for waging the opt-out campaign. They were at feast in part trying to end the
class action by encouraging class members to opt out.

51 Given these misconceptions about the nature of the opt-out process, I think it is important to emphasize that the
CPA does not contemplate the politicization of the opt-out process. The opt-out process is not analogous to the labour
context where majority support or opposition is required to certify or decertity a union. Within the statutory framework
of the CPA, there is no legitimate purpose that can be achieved by politicizing the opt-out process. As explained in
A&P, at para. 32, certification motions are not determined through a referendum of the class members, Nor is the viabil-
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ity of the class action dependant on majority support. Just as the percentage of support amongst class members is not an
element of certification, opting out cannot stop a class action. The number of opt-outs does not in itself provide a basis
for decertifying a class action.

52 In aclass proceeding, a representative plaintiff seeks to obtain court approval through certification of the action to
pursue a remedy for a group -- the class -- who have suffered a common wrong. Once the action is certified, as it was
here, the representative plaintiff is obliged to pursue the action on behalf of the class, subject to receiving court approval
to withdraw. The opt-out process is not a vote on whether the class action should go forward. It is simply a process by
which members of the class can individually elect not to have the representative plaintiff continue to act and pursue the
claim on their behalf and in so doing, forego any right to share in the success of the lawsuit. Once a class member has
opted out of the class proceeding, he or she is a stranger to the lawsuit and has no standing before the court. Thus, the
person who has opted out has no say about how the action is conducted or whether or not it will continue to go forward.

53  The motion judge was right to be attuned to the possibility that the CPVF was attempting to undermine the opt-out
process by politicizing it. He was also right to analyze this possibility by applying the A&P test. However, he ¢rred in
his porfrayal of the impact of the opt-out process. He also erred in imposing on the class members the obiigation to
commmnicate in an objective manner and in his interpretation of the campaign as a whole.

54 The motion judge identified the following nine specific concerns about the misleading and intimidating nature of
the language of the CPVF's website, at para, 54;

(a)  The identification of the names of opt-outs was clearly designed to put pressure on those
who had not opted out -- the message was, "get on the bandwagon, because almost every-
one ¢lse has and you don't want to be one of the few left standing at the end.”

(b)  The message of the website was that the CPVF had determined that the class action was
bad for franchisees and the implication was that anyone who did not opt out (and who
wotild be readily identifiable as a non-conformist) was damaging the business, harming
other franchisees, and undermining the efforts of the CFC.

{c)  The message that the class action would "create walls" between the franchisees and the
Tranchisor was designed to enhance the position of the Executive as the sole voice of Pet
Valu franchisees and to exploit franchisees' concerns about the power imbalance between
themselves and the franchisor. It in fact runs contrary to McNeely's evidence ... that Pet
Valu intended to treat all its franchisees fairly and equally, regardless of their participation
in the class action.

(d)  There was no attempt to provide any form of informational balance or to discuss the is-
sues in the class action -- the fact that, if the action was successful, every class member
might have a right to substantial damages, was not even mentioned.

(e)  The website disparaged class counsel -- references were made to lawyers "creating walls",
receiving "25% if not more" out of any settlement or judgment and referred to them as
"tawyers who seek to assert claims focused upon allegations of past misconduct." The
message was: "This is all driven by class action lawyers trying to make money".

109 The suggestion that the lawsuit was motivated by a "desire to punish" the former owners
has no factual basis, The liability of Pet Valu in this action is a corporate liability, which
is obviously distinct from the ownership of the corporation.

{g)  The suggestion that the issue of volume rebates could be addressed by the CFC is contrary
to the evidence on certification that the CFC had been either unable or unwilling to do so.
There is no evidence at all that Pet Valu as a corporation, under new management or oth-
erwise, is prepared to address this issue voluntarily and without being required to do so as
a result of this action.

(h)  The alleged consequences of the class action, including its impact on franchisee profitabil-
ity, its effect on Pet Valu, and its effect on the brand, were exaggerated and lacked any
factuat or evidentiary foundation.

{ The statement that opting out would not prevent franchisees from individually or collec-
tively pursuing their rights was misteading. It failed to address the reality, to which 1
averted in my decision on certification at para, 111, that individual claims by franchisees
would be impractical. Collective pursuit would almost certainly be ineffective without the
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clout of a class action, given that Pet Valu continues to vigorously contest the franchisees’
rights to share in volume rebates,

55  He went on to make the following findings about the CPVF’s campaign, at para. 55:

The CPVF telephone campaign and website were an unabashed attempt to destroy the class ac-
tion. The campaign made no pretence of giving franchisees an opportunity to make a private,
considered and informed decision. It made no attempt to provide them with any information con-
cering the positive aspects of the class action. While expressing concern about franchisees being
"confused or misinformed”, the CPVF gave them more misinformation and added to the confu-
sion. In an environment in which communications to the class by the parties had been strictly cur-
tailed at the request of the parties and with the cowrt's approval, the CPVF was able to use its in-
fluence and its opinions to advance what it perceived to be the interests of franchisees, which it
aligned with the interests of the franchisor.

56 In the Plan of Proceeding, the motion judge had restricted communications by the plaintiff and the defendant. He
did not impose restrictions on members of the class. I agree that in the present case there was a real risk that the CPVE's
opt-out campaign could cross the line of pressuring or intimidating class members into opting out on an uninformed or
involuntary basis.

57  Despite this risk, however, a finding that the CPVF's campaign crossed the line described in A&P was unavailable
to the motion judge on the record before him. It is instructive to describe the nature of the evidence of the defendant’s
conduct in A&P and the representative plaintiffs' response to it, and to compare these circumstances to the present case.

58 InA&P, the plaintiff franchisees brought a certification motion as well as a motion seeking an order restricting
communications by the defendant franchisor with class members during the opt-out perfod. After granting the certifica-
tion order, the court considered whether it was appropriate to grant the extraordinary relief requested by the plaintiffs on
their additional motion.

59  The plaintifts in A&P introduced affidavit and viva voce evidence indicating that, prior to the certification motion,
the defendant franchisor had “engaged in a course of conduct that is intimidating, threatening, and coercive, and in con-
sideration of the information vacuuin, sufficiently misleading to vitiate any notion that the franchisees executing re-
leases are doing so on an informed basis” (at para. 80), The evidence showed that the defendant had monitored franchi-
sees' legal services, imposed unlawful and unilateral rent increases on non-cooperative franchisees, and had arranged for
franchisor executives to personally visit franchisees to solicit releases of their claims, Based on this evidence, the court
made an order restricting the franchisor's communications with franchisees and prohibiting it from circulating its new
franchise agreements to, or entering into releases with, class members during the opt-out period.

60 In the present case, both parties became well-aware of the CPVF's opt-out campaign soon after it began. Either
party could have sought the motion judge's intervention to determine if the CPVF's telephone campaign and website
were misleading, or if its tactics were threatening, intimidating or coercive. The motion judge had given the parties an
open invitation to seek his direction regarding communications with class members. Yet neither side acted on this invi-
tation during the opt-out period,

61 Here, unlike the pre-emptive approach of the moving party in A&P, the plaintiff waited for two months after the
expiry of the opt-out period to file a notice of motion questioning the fairness of the opt-out process. Supporting mate-
rial for the motion was not delivered until three months later, in February 2012, The motion was not made returnable
untit July 4, 2012, almost ten months after the opt-out period had expired and more than a year after the centification of
the action,

62  This dilatory conduct by the representative plaintiff is very troubling. Post-certification, the representative plaintift
represented all class members up until the time that they chose to opt out of the proceeding. Prior to that point, the rep-
resentative piaintiff had a duty to protect their interests. In the present circumstances, this duty included a responsibility
to alert the motion judge to any communications that appeared to coerce, infimidate or mislead class members into opt-
ing out. The purpose behind ensuring that the opt-out decision is made voluntarily and with full information is nof to
protect the size of the class for the benefit of the representative plaintiff or his counsel. If the representative plaintiff had
concerns about the nature of the CPVF's cominunications during the opt-out period, it was incumbent upon the repre-
sentative plaintiff to bring the issue to the attention of the motion judge as soon as possible.
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63 Also distinguishing this case from A&P is the lack of evidence adduced by the plaintiff capable of establishing
that class members had been misled or intimidated. The plaintiff filed no direct evidence from any class member gbing
to the issue of whether their opt-out decisions were voluntary and informed. Considering that the only issue on the
plaintiff's motion was whether the opt-outs were involuntary or misinformed because of the CPVF's campaign, it is
strange indeed that no evidence was adduced from a singte opt-out to the effect that any one of them felt intimidated or
misled into opting out.

64  The only affidavit evidence filed in support of the motion consisted of Mr. Rodger's affidavit, which refers to un-
named franchisees allegedly having experienced pressure from members of the CPVF to opt out. The motion judge did
not rely on this evidence in coming to his conclusions {at para. 89). Thus, the motion judge's finding that the telephone
campaign and the public disclosure on the CPVF's website of the names and store locations of opt-outs had a coercive
effect on the rest of the class was not based on direct evidence from any class member.

65 Instead, the motion judge's conclusion was based on an inference that class members were misled or pressured
fito opting out by the CPVF's campaign. His reasons, at paras. 68 and 70, illustrate this:

The CPVF exploited this [vulnerability of the relationship between franchisor/franchisee} by ask-
ing for an efectronic show of hands on the website -- asking, in effect, "are you with us and your
fellow franchisees or against us?”

The CFC, wearing the hat of the CPVF, mounted a campaign designed to kill the class action. It
did so by putting subtle and not-so-subtle pressure on hold-outs by prominently listing the "grow-
ing" list of names of opt-outs. A franchisee who did not pledge allegiance to the CPVF and prom-
ise to opt out could reasonably conchuede that he or she would be outed as part of an identified mi-
nority who were pursuing their own selfish interests, who were not team players and who were
indifferent to the concerns of the majority.

66  There can be no doubt that there was evidence that the CPVF were attempting to persuade and pressure the class
members to opt out of the proceeding. The issue is whether this evidence is capable of supporting an inference that the
campaign was coercive. In relying on the posting of names of opt-outs as supporting the inference of coercion, the mo-
tion judge did not take into account the following evidence: that the CPVF's telephone callers asked class members for
permission to publish their names; that the website listed the number of franchisees who had opted out but who pre-
ferred to remain anonymous; and that the certification order, posted on class counsel's website, required class counsel to
serve on Pet Valu a list of the names of opt-outs. In short, the CPVF's website explicitly respected class members”ano-
nymity and did not divuige any information about class members that Pet Valu was not otherwise entitled to receive
pursuant to the certification order.

67 There was no evidence that any class member perceived a threat that Pet Valu might take retaliatory action against
them for remaining in the class. To the extent that the motion judge's inference that pressure to opt out took advantage
of the vulnerability inherent in the franchisor/franchisee relationship, this is inconsistent with his finding that Pet Valu
was not linked to the impugned conduct of the CPVF. The motion judge made multiple findings to this effect:

I did not accept the plaintiff's submission that the CFC or the Executive is somehow under the
controt of Pet Valu. Tt receives some modest operational funding from Pet Valu, but it is other-
wise independent (at para. 27).

There is no evidence that Pet Valu has taken any repercussions against any franchisee as a result
of the class action, Indeed, Pet Valu's evidence is that it treated its franchisees equally and impar-
tially, regardless of their support of the class action (at para. 31).

I also accept Pet Valu's assurances that it was not party to the activities of the CPVF. An exten-
sive affidavit was sworn by McNeely [the Chief Executive Officer] of Pet Valu. On the basis of
that affidavit, which is largely unchallenged, 1 conclude that Pet Valu itself did not interfere with
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the integrity of the opt-out process or attempt to influence franchisees to opt out of the class ac-
tion, I also conclude that Pet Valu did not directly encourage the CFC or the CPVF to do so. That
said, McNeely was clearly aware of what CPVF was up to and was content to let it continue un
abated (at para. 65). [Emphasis in original.] :

68 The motion judge's inference that class members were intimidated into opting out by the public disclosure of the
names of opt-ouis is also inconsistent with his acceptance of the evidence of Mr. McNeely, the CEO of Pet Valu, that:
Pet Vah: "had not taken and would not take repercussions against a franchisee as a result of his or her or its participation
in the class action™; and he "consistently” told franchisees that whatever their decision on the class action, it would not
affect their relationship with him or Pet Valu (at para. 66). The motion judge commented that while this attitude was
"commendable", it is "inconsistent with the message delivered to franchisees by the CFC and the CPVF." However, the
CPVF could not, and did not, speak on behalf of Pet Valu. Any inference to the effect that it did is inconsistent with the
motion judge's findings concerning the absence of involvement by Pet Valu in the campaign.

69  Appellate intervention is warranted where an inference of fact is not supported by any evidence and where an im-
proper inference has a material effect on the outcome: see Housen v. Nikolaisen, 2002 SCC 33, [2002] 2 8.C.R. 235, at
paras. 22-23. The conclusion reached by the motion judge, at para. 75, that there is "a reasonabie probability” that many
franchisees decided to opt out due to "unfair pressure amounting to intimidation" is based on the inferences he drew. In
my view, these inferences lack a valid evidentiary basis and, given their significance to the outcome of the motion, must
be set aside.

70  The motion judge also erred in law in holding the CPVF to a standard of objectivity in the circumstances. He con-
cluded, at para, 54(d), that the CPVF's campaign rendered the opt-out process unfair because there was no attempt on
the website "to provide any form of informational balance or to discuss the issues in the class action". He noted: "the
fact that, if the action was successful, every class member might have a right to substantial damages, was not even men-
tioned."

71  However, unlike the situation in A&P, the CPVF's campaign took place following certification. At the start of the
opt-out period, the class members received a court-approved notice of certification describing the nature of the proceed-
ing and indicating that damages were being sought on their behalf. The notice describes the opt-out process and the con-
sequences of opting out. In addition, the notice has a link to class counsel's website and advises class members that a
copy of the statement of claim and the rulings by the court in the action are available on that site. Thus, the class mem-
bers had readily-available information about the possible benefits of the class proceeding through the court-approved
notice of certification and class counsel's website.

72  Indeed, had the representative plaintitf brought his concerns before the motion judge in a timely fashion, the mo-
tion judge could have dealt with any problem of improper communications whether by relieving the plaintiff from the
terms of the "gag order", by giving some form of direction to the parties, or by reminding the parties and the class
members that objective information regarding the lawsuit was available through the sources just discussed. The motion
judge was not afforded the opportunity to do so.

73 When the motion judge was eventually asked to deal with the plaintiff's concerns, he should not have held the
CPVF's communications to a standard of objectivity. These former class members had an unassailable right to speak out
in opposition to the class proceeding in an attempt to convince other class members to opt out, subject only to the over-
riding principles set out in A&P,

74  The CPVF's website to which the motion judge took exception, at para. 54, contains assertions of belief that the
class action is not in the best interests of franchisees and that it is driven by lawyers with a large financiai stake in the
outcome. The comments amount to no more than the CPVF members expressing their opinion on the undesirability
from a business perspective of pursuing the lawsuit, as opposed to denigrating the technical merits of the action. The
opt-out provision is the appropriate mechanism for class members to voice these types of objections te the wisdom of a
class action: see Fairview Donut Inc. v. TDL Group Corp., 2008 CanLII 60983 (On. 8.C.), at para. 11. Class members
are able to consider such objections in the context of the other information made available to them in the notice of certi-
fication and on class counsel's website. Apart from attempting to persuade other class members to forego their legal
recourse against a defendant in a class proceeding, this interaction has no effect on the lawsuit other than reducing the
number of persons in the class.
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75 The motion judge’s application of the fully informed and voluntary test from A&P was flawed in these circum-
stances where there was no evidence linking the defendant to the impugned conduct and where the communications
amounted to the type of intra-class debate that is acceptable during the opt-out period.

¥. CONCLUSION AND DISPOSITION

76  For these reasons, despite the deference that is owed to a discretionary decision by the motion judge, I'would al-
low the appeal and set aside the order at issue.

77 It was within the purview of the motion judge to scrutinize the CPVF's campaign according to the fully informed
“and voluntary test as enunciated in A&P. In so doing, the motion judge found that the appellant Pet Valu was not impli-
cated in the CPVF's campaign. Given the evidentiary record on the motion, the power imbalance inherent in the franchi-
sor/franchisce relationship was not properly considered in assessing the effect of the CPVF's conununications on class
members,

78 At the start of the opt-out period, the class members were provided with a court-approved notice of certification
and had access to class counsel's website with full particulars regarding the action. In this manner and in accordance
with the statutory scheme, they were afforded access to objective information regarding the legal proceeding.

79 The CPVF's campaign only dealf with the opinion as to the advisability of the legal proceeding from the business
perspective of the franchisees. The campaign had as its central theme the suggestion that the class members should give
the franchisor's new management team a chance to deal with the complaint underlying the primary common issue certi-
fied in the proceeding. The CPVF's campaign advocated as a matter of opinion that it was not in the interests of the
class members to have an outstanding lawsuit between them and the franchisor because it would distract the franchisor
from running the business, would harm the Pet Valu trademark and would devalue their assets. In other words, the cam-
paign did not attempt to address the technical merits of the lawsuit.

80 The motion judge ought not to have held the CPVF's campaign to a standard of objectivity but should only have
considered if the conduct of the campaign constituted misinformation, threats, coercion, intimidation or was otherwise
unfawful. As explained, there is no evidence to suppori a finding that the opt-outs by individual class members were not
voluntary or fully informed.

81 The representative plaintiff was aware of the campaign by the CPVF to encowrage class members to opt out of the
action during the opt-out period. Nonetheless, he took no action to bring the campaign to the motion judge's attention
until months afier the opt-out period had expired. When he finally argued his motion to invalidate the opt-out decisions,
he was unable to tender evidence from a single other class member indicating that the CPVF's campaign improperly
influenced the decision to opt out of the proceeding in the sense contemplated by the test established in A&P.

82 Iwould therefore allow Pet Valu's appeal and set aside the order invalidating the opt-out notices. I would also set
aside the motion judge's cost award against Pet Valu and the members of the CPVF.

83  The appellant Pet Valu shall have its costs of the appeal fixed in the amount of $10,000, inclusive of disburse-
ments and HST.

84  As noted, the appellant franchisees had no standing on the motion or the appeal. As such, they are not entitled to
their costs of the motion or the appeal.

W.K. WINKLER C.J.O.
R.P. ARMSTRONG J.A.:-- 1 agree.
A, HOY J.A.:-- I agree.

cp/e/lnfgljel/qipmg/glhes/qlrxg/qimll

I Twelve franchisees who were founding members of the CPVF were named as respondents in the plaintiff's amended notice of motion,
dated February 13, 2012 (amended June 19, 2012).
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Michael Deverett, for 3 objectors,
Gary R. Will and J. Douglas Barnett, for 11 objectors.

SHARPE J.:--

1. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

1 In this action, commenced pursuant to the Class Proceedings Act 1992, the plaintiff asserts claims for alleged
breach of contract and negligent misrepresentation arising out of the manner in which whole life participating insurance
policies with a premium offset option were sold. Similar actions were commenced in Quebec and in British Columbia.
Before the defendant filed a statement of defence and before certification as a class proceeding, this action, together
with the Quebec and British Columbia actions, was settled by written agreement, dated June 16, 1997, setting out de-
tailed and complex terms. The settlement is subject to and conditional upon court approval in all three provinces.

2 Winkler J. approved a form of notice of motion for a certification/authorization and agreement approval to be sent
to imentbers of the proposed Ontario class. Similar orders were made in Quebec and British Columbia. The notice stated
that members of the class who wished to participate in the hearing for approval of the settlement were required to file a
written statement of objection and notice of appearance by a specified date. Fourteen members of the proposed Ontario
class filed objections. Three are represented by Mr. Deverett and eleven by Messrs. Will and Barnett. At the opening of
this hearing, Mr, Deverett indicated that one of the objectors he represents wished to withdraw from further participa-
tion,

3 On August 28, 1997 Winkler J. directed that there be a hearing to determine certain procedural issues, namely:

(a) Standing (o object;

(b)  Procedures for and scope of objection;

{¢)  The role of the court in approval of the agreement;

{d)  Onus for approval of the agreement;

(¢}  Factors to be considered by the court for approval of the agreement;
() Cost consequences.

4 The issue of standing was determined by Winkler I. and it was contemplated that the motion to determine the re-
maining procedural issues would be heard on September 4, 1997. Tt did not proceed on that date as the Deverett objec-
tors requested an adjourniment. The Deverett objectors then brought a motion to set aside Winkler J.'s carlier order re-
garding the notice of motion for certification/authorization, to declare the plaintiff's counsel to be in a conflict of inter-
est, and for other relief, including an order that those objectors be given immunity from costs and be awarded interim
costs. While the costs issue remains ouistanding, other aspects of the motion were disinissed by Winkler J. An applica-
tion for leave to appeal from that order was dismissed by O'Driscoll J. on January 22, 1998.

5 1have now heard full argument on the outstanding procedural issues specified by Winkler J.'s August 29, 1997 di-
rection. For conventence of analysis, I propose fo deal with them in the following order:

(a) Onus for approval of the agreement;

{b)  The role of the court in approval of the agreement;

(c) Factors to be considered by the court for approval of the agreement;
{d)  Procedures for and scope of objection;

{¢)  Cost consequences

6 I wish to emphasize at the outset that what follows is intended only to provide a procedural framework for the hear-
ing of this motion. It would be entirely inappropriate to attempt to determine in the context of one case a process appro-
priate for all cases. My ruling has been determined on the basis of the submissions I have heard and is intended to do no
more than provide guidance o the partics and objectors in the present case.

2. ANALYSIS
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{a)  Onus for approval of the agreement

7 It is common ground that the parties proposing the settlement bear the onus of satisfving the court that it ought to be
approved.

(k)  The role of the court in approval of the agreement

8 There are two matters to be determined by the court: (1) should the action be certitied as a class proceeding and, if
the answer is yes, (2) should the settlement be approved. While the role of the court with respect to certification is well
defined by the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, the same cannot be said of the approval of settlements. Section 29 provides
that "[a] settlement of a class proceeding is not binding unless approved by the court” but the Act provides no statutory
guidelines that are to be followed.

9  Experience from other situations in which the court is required to approve settlements does, however, provide guid-
ance. Court approval is requirgd in situations where there are parties under disability (see Rule 7.08(1)). Court approval
is also required in other circumstances where there are affected parties not before the court (see Canada Business Cor-
porations Act, R.S.C. 1985, ¢. C-d4, 5. 242(2) dealing with derivative actions). The standard in these situations is essen-
tially the same and is equally applicable here: the court must find that in all the circumstances the settlement is fair, rea-
sonable and in the best interests of those affected by it.

10 Tt has often been observed that the court is asked to approve or reject a settlement and that it is not open to the
court to rewrite or modify its terms; Poulin v, Nadon, [1950] O.R. 219 (C.A.) at 222-3. As a practical matter, it is within
the power of the court to indicate areas of concern and afford the parties the opportunity to answer and address those
concerns with changes to the settlement; see eg Bowling v. Plizer Inc. 143 F.R.D. 141 (1992), | would observe, how-
ever, that the fact that the settlement has already been approved in Quebec and British Columbia would have to be con-
sidered as a factor making changes unlikely in this case.

11 With respect to specific objections raised by the objectors, there is an additionai factor to be kept in mind. The role
of the court is to determine whether the seitlement is fair, reasonable and in the best interests of the class as a whole, not
whether it meets the demands of a particular class member. As approval is sought at the same time as certification, even
if the settlement is approved, class members will be afforded the right to opt out. There is, accordingly an element con-
trol that may be exercised to alleviate matters of particular concern to individual class members,

12 Various definitions of "reasonableness" were offered in argument. The word suggests that there is a range within
which the settlement must fail that makes some allowance for differences of view, as an American court put it "a range
which recognizes the uncertainties of law and fact in any particular case and the concomitant risks and costs necessarily
inherent in taking any litigation to completion". (Newman v. Stein 464 F. (2d) 685 (1972) at 693).

{c)  Factors to be considered by the court for approval of the agreement

13 A leading American text, Newberg on Class Actions, (3rd ed), para. 11.43 offers the following useful list of crite-
ria:

Likelihood of recovery, or likelihood of success
Amount and nature of discovery evidence

Settlement terms and conditions

Recommendation and experience of counsel

Future expense and likely duration of litigation
Recommendation of neutral parties if any

Number of objectors and nature of objections

The presence of good faith and the absence of coliusion

NN

14 I also find the following passage from the judgment of Callaghan A.C.J.1.C. in Sparling v. Southam Inc. (1988),
66 O.R. (2d) 225 at 230-1 to be most helpful. Callaghan A.C.I.ILC. was considering approvat of a settlement in a de-
rivative action, but his comments are equally applicable to the approval of settlements of class action:

In approaching this matter, I believe it should be observed at the outset that the comts consis-
tently favour the settlement of lawsuits in general. To put it another way, t here is an overriding
public interest in favour of settlement. This policy promotes the interests of litigants generally by
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saving them the expense of trial of disputed issues, and it reduces the strain upon an already
overburdened provincial court system,

In deciding whether or not to approve a proposed settlement under s, 235(2) of the Act, the court
must be satisfied that the proposal is fair and reasonable to all shareholders, In considering these
matters, the court must recognize that settlements are by their very nature compromises, which
need not and usually do not satisfy every single concern of all parties affected. Acceptable set-
tlements may fall within a broad range of upper and lower limits.

In cases such as fhis, it is not the court's function to substitute its judgment for that of the parties
who negotiate the settlement, Nor is it the court's function to Htigate the merits of the action. [
would also state that if is not the function of the court as simply rubber-stamp the proposal.

The court must consider the nature of the claiins that were advanced in the action, the nature of
the defences to those claims that were advanced in the pleadings, and the benefits accruing and
lost to the paities as a resuit of the seftlement,

The matter was aptly put in two American cases that were cited to me in the course of argument.
In a decision of the Federal Third Circuit Court in Yonge v. Katz, 447 F. (2d) 431 (1971), it is
stated:

It is ntot necessary in order to determine whether an agreement of settlement and compro-
mise shall be approved that the court try the case which is before it for settlement. Such
procedures would emasculate the very purpose for which settlements are made. The court
is only called upon to consider and weigh the nature of the claim, the possible defences,
the situation of the parties, and the exercise of business judgment in determining whether
the proposed settlement is reasonable.

In another case cited by all parties in these proceedings, Greenspun v. Bogan, 492 F, (2d) 375 at
p. 381 (1974), it is stated:

... any settlement is the result of a compromise - each party smrrendering something in or-
der to prevent unprofitable litigation, and the risks and costs inherent in taking litigation
to completion. A district court, in reviewing a settlement proposal, need not engage in a
trial of the merits, for the purpose of settlement is precisely to aveid such a trial. See
United Founders Life Ins. Co. v. Consumer's National Life Inc. Co., 447 F. (2d) 647 {7th
Cir. 1971); Florida Trailer & Equipment Co. v, Deal, 284 F. (2d) 567, 571 (5th Cir. 1960).
It is only when one side is so obviously correct in its assertions of law and fact that it
would be clearly unreasonable to require it to compromise in the extent of the settlement,
that to approve the settlement would be an abuse of discretion. (Emphasis added)

15 Tt is apparent that the court cannot exercise its function without evidence, The court is entitled to insist on suffi-
cient evidence to permit the judge to exercise an objective, impartial and independent assessment of the fairness of the
setilement in all the circumstances, '

16 In the arguments presented by the proponents of the settlement, considerable emphasis is placed on the opinion of
senior counsel that the settlement is fair and reasonable as an important factor. While I agree that the opinion of counsel
is evidence worthy of consideration, it is only one factor to be considered. It does not relieve the parties proposing the
setttement of the obligation to provide sufficient information to permit the court to exercise its function of independent
approval, On the other hand, the court must be mindful of the fact that as the consequence of not approving the settle-
ment is that the litigation may well continue, there are inherent constrainis on the exten{ to which the parties can be ex-
pected to make complete disclosure of the strengths and weaknesses of their case,

(d)  Procedures for and scope of objection
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17 The Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 5. 12 confers a general discretion on the court with respect to the conduct of
class proceedings:

12, The court, on the motion or a party or class member, may make an order it considers appropriate
respecting the conduet of a class proceeding to ensure its fair and expeditious determination and,
for the purpose, may impose such terms on the parties as it considers appropriate.

18  Section 14 provides for the participation of class members in the following terms:

14(1) In order to ensure the fair and adequate representation of the interests of the claims or any
subclass or for any other appropriate reason, the court may, at any time in a class proceeding,
permit one or more class members to participate in the proceeding.

(2)  Participation under subsection (1) shall be in whatever manner and on whatever terms, including
terms as to costs, the court considers appropriate.

19  Asalready noted, the order of Winkler 1. required class members who wished to object to the settlement to file
written objections, Tt remains to determine the procedural and other rights objectors have in relation to the approval
process.

20 In general, the procedural rights of alt participate in the approval process must reflect the nature of the process
itself and the special role of the court. The matter cannot be viewed in strictly adversarial terms. The plaintiff and the
defendant find themselves in common cause, seeking approval of the setttement. The objectors have their own specific
concerns which, upon examination, may or may not be reflective of the interests of the class as a whole.

21 Inview of the fact that the purpose of the exercise is to ensure that the interests of the unrepresented class mem-
bers are protected, the court is called upon to play a more active role than is called for in strictly adversarial proceed-
ings. It is important that the court itself remain firmly in control of the process and that the matter not be treated as if it
were a dispute to be resolved between the proponents of the settlement on the one side and the objectors on the other.

(i) Objectors’ right to adduce evidence

22 1can see no reason why the objectors should not have the right to adduce evidence. However, given the interests
of the objectors and the nature of the process, the right to adduce evidence is not at large. Any evidence adduced by the
objectors must be relevant to the points they have raised by way of objection, It must also be adduced in a timely fash-
ion, I direct that any evidence be adduced by way of affidavit filed at least 30 days prior to the date set for the hearing of
this motion.

(i)  Objectors' right to discovery

23 Under the Rutes of Court, the right to oral discovery and production of documents is restricted to parties to an ac-
tion, The objectors are not parties to the action, and accordingly have no right to oral discovery or production of docu-
ments.

24 On the other hand, s. 14(2) of the Act does provide that participation "shall be in whatever manner and on what-
ever terms ... the court considers appropriate.” On behalf of the objectors he represents, Mr. Deverett sought the right to
conduct essentizally & "no holds barred" discovery of the partics to the action, He submitied that as no discovery had
been conducted, it was impossible to assess the merits of the case and the settlement without one. In iy view, this sub-
mission misses the whole point of the settlement approval exercise. The very purpose of the settlement at an early stage
of the proceedings is to avoid the cost and delay involved in discovery and other pre-trial procedures. If Mr. Deverett is
right, then a class action could almost never be settled without discovery, for if the parties did not conduct one, an ob-
jector could insist upon doing so as a precondition of seitlement. This would create a powerful disincentive to early set-
tlements by the parties and would run counter to the general policy of the law which strongly favours early resolution of
disputes. On the other hand, the lack of discovery is a factor the court may take into account in assessing the fairness of
the settlement. However, the remedy in a case where the court concludes that the settlement cannot be approved without
a discovery is to refuse to approve the settlement and not to have one conducted by an objector. Given the very different
in approach to discovery in the United States, I do not find the American authorities cited by the objectors on this point
to be persuasive.
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25  The objectors represented by Mr, Will seek production of certain specific documents relevant to their claims. This
request has to be assessed in the light of the seitfement agreement itself. An important element of the settlement agree-
ment is a process to resolve individual claims. One aspect of that process will entitled these objectors to production of
documents. The process will also permit them to opt out of the settlement after they receive production. In my view, in
light of the process contemplated by the settlement agreement, these objectors are not entitled to insist upon production
of documents at this stage. The point of the approval process is to determine whether the settlement is fair, reasonable
and in the best interests of those affected by it. The issue for the court, then, is to assess whether the process contem-
plated by the settlement agreement is a fair one, I fail to see what relevance documents pertaining to the claims of these
objections have at this stage or how they would assist the court in determining whether the settlement and the process it
specifies is a fair one.

26 Accordingly, in the circumstances of this case, I find that it is not appropriate to grant the objectors the right to
oral or documentary discovery.

(iti)  Right to cross-examine

27  The objectors also seek a general right to cross-examine on the atfidavits filed in support of approval of the set-
tlement. There is not inherent right to cross-examine: see eg. Kevork v, The Queen, [1984] 2 F.C. 753. On the other
hand, it is important that there be some way for the court to ensure that evidence on contentious points can be probed
and tested. As I have already stated, I view the approval process as one which the court must contrel and in which the
court must take an active role. Tn keeping with that principle, and in view of the ¢xtremely open-ended request made by
the Deverett objectors, I direct as follows:

(1) that any cross-examination of deponents shall take place viva voce before the court on the
dates set for the hearing of the certification/approval motion;

(2)  that any party or objector who wishes to cross-examine a deponent serve and file at least
10 days prior to the motion a written outline of the matters upon which cross-examination
is requested;

(3)  that the nature and extent of cross-examination shall, subject to the discretion of the court,
only be in an area indicated by the written outline and shall be subject to the discretion of
the court to exclude such cross-examination which may be exercised either before or dur-
ing the hearing of the motion;

(4)  that any deponent for which cross-examination is requested shall be available to attend
court on the days the motion is to be heard as if under summons;

(5) that in any event, Mr. Ritchie be in attendance for the motion;

(6}  that the right of the court to question witnesses shall remain within the sole discretion of
the cowrt and shall not be in any way affected by para (2).

(&)  Costs consequences

28 The Deverett objectors seek an order that they not be subject to any order as to costs and that they be awarded
interim costs. It was suggested, in the alternative, by Mr. Will that T specify in advance the circumstances which would
or would not lead to an adverse costs order,

29 Inmy view, no such orders or directives should be made. Nothing has been shown that would bring this case
within the category of "very exceptional cases" contempiated by Organ v. Barnett (1992), 11 O.R. (3d) 210 as justifying
an award of interim costs to ensure that the objectors are able to continue their participation. Section 32(1) of the Act,
which provides that class members are not liable for costs except with respect to the determination of their own claims,
does not apply. That provision contemplates the usual situation where a class member takes no active step in the pro-
ceedings. The objectors are subject to the discretion conferred by s. 14(2), which expressly preserves the right of the
court to inpose appropriate terms as to costs.

30 It is important that, as one means of controlling the process, the court retain its discretion with respect to the costs
of this process. I hardly need add that my discretion is to be exercised in accordance with an established body of law
dealing with cost orders. That body of law recognizes the right of the court to award costs to compensate for or sanction
inappropriate behaviour by a litigant. It also recognizes that in certain cases, departure from the ordinary rule that an
unsuccessful pay the costs of the winner may be appropriate: see eg. Mahar v. Rogers Cablesystems Lid. (1995), 25
O.R. (34d) 690.
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CONCLUSION

31 Ifthere are further procedural issues which arise prior to the hearing of the motion, I may be spoken to.
SHARPE J.

qp/mii
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Case Name:
Gragss (Litigation guardian of) v. Women's College
Hospital

Befween
Natalie Grass, a minor by her Litigation Guardian,
Marilyn Grass and the said Marilyn Grass personally,
Plaintiffs (Respondents), and
Women's Ceollege Hospital, Jane Doe, John Doe, Beth
Gherson and Fay Weisberg, Defendants (Appellant)

{20071 OJ. No. 2918
2007 ONCA 542

159 A.C.W.S. (3d) 201
Docket: C46985

Ontario Court of Appeal
Toronto, Ontario

J.I, Laskin, J.I., MacFarland JJ.A. and
M.L. Benotto J. (ad hoc)

Heard: July 17, 2007.
Oral judgment: July 17, 2007.

{9 paras.)

Civil evidence — Opinion evidence -- Expert evidence -- Appeal from decision of motion judge to grant an application to
amend a settlement made for a child in 1998 and allow for an increase in the claim for damages based on a doctor's
opinion evidence as to the increased life expectancy of the child -- Appeal dismissed -- The doctor's opinion evidence
was admissible - His opinion provided a basis for the motion judge's order -- The weight to be accorded his opinion
was a matter for the trial judge,

Civil procedure -- Settlements -- Approval -- Setting aside, grounds -- Appeal firom decision of motion judge to grant an
application to amend a setilement made in 1998 and allow for an increase in the claim for damages by the guardian of
a child as opposed to maintaining the settlement -- Appeal dismissed -- The amendment was in the best interests of the
child.

Appeal from decision of motion judge to grant an application to amend a settlement made in 1998 and allow for an in-
crease in the claim for damages by Grass, as opposed to maintaining the settlement. The basis for the amendment was
the child's increased life expectancy today compared to her life expectancy in 1998. The only evidence before the mo-
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tion judge on the child's life expectancy today was the opinion evidence of a doctor that the child now had a life expec-
tancy approximately 30 to 35 years greafer than the experts considered she had when the settlement was made nine
years previously. The Hospital filed no contrary opinion. It did cross-examine the doctor and, in oral argument, argued
that in the light of that cross-examination his opinion should be given no weight,

HELD: Appeal dismissed. The amendment was in the best interests of the child. The doctor's opinion evidence was ad-
missible. His opinion provided a basis for the motion judge's order. The cross-examination went to the weight of that
opinion. The weight to be accorded his opinion was a matter for the trial judge.

Appeal From:

On appeal from the order of Justice Cotin L. Campbell of the Superior Court of Justice dated March 9, 2007,

Counsel:

Harry Underwood and Erica J. Baron for the appeltant.

Susan M, Chapman and Pavid S. Steinberg for the respondents,

. Gregory Richards and Caroline E. Abela for the Children's Lawyer.

ENDORSEMENT

The following judgment was delivered by

1 THE COURT (orally):-- We agree with the reasons of the motion judge and with his conclusion, We add the fol-
lowing,

2 Whether the motion judge ought to have granted the amendment increasing the claim for damages or whether he
should have approved the settlement made in 1998, at heart raised the same question: At the time of the motion, what
was in the best interests of the child?

3 That is the question the motion judge asked. His conclusion that it was in the best interests of the child to grant the
amendment and to refuse to approve the settlement is a conclusion reasonably supported by the record before him.

4  The basis for the amendment was the child's increased life expectancy today compared to her life expectancy in
1998. The only evidence before the motion judge on the child's life expectancy today was the opinion evidence of Dr.
William Geisler. His opinion was that the child now has a life expectancy approximately 30 to 35 years greater than the
experts considered she had when the settlernent was made nine years ago. The appellant filed no contrary opinion. The
appellant did cross-examine Dr. Geisler and, in oral argument, argued that in the light of that cross-examination, his
opinion should be given no weight.

5 We cannot accept that argument, In our view, the motion judge properly rejected it as well. Dr. Geisler's opinion
evidence was admissible. Thus, the cross-examination went to the weight of that opinion. The weight to be accorded his
opinion is a matter for the trial judge. His opinion provided a basis for the motion judge's order,

6  The appellant also contended that the motion judge erred in not following the procedure outlined by the English
Cowrt of Appeal in Bailey v. Warren, [2006} E.-W.C.A. 51. We do not agree with this contention. Our procedure is set
out in rule 7.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, which the motion judge did follow. Moreover, nothing in Bailey v.
Warren detracts from the principle that a motion judge must focus on the best interests of the child and exercise his or
her discretion on that basis. Finally, we note that Bailey v. Farren is entirely distinguishable on its facts.

7  We add that today the child, Natalie Grass, has outlived the life expectancy proffered by the appellant’s own expert
nine years ago. By itself that would cause any judge to doubt the wisdom of approving the settlement,

8 Insummary, the motion judge had before him evidence showing that it was in the child's best interests to grant the
amendment, and no evidence showing that it was not in the child's best interests to do so. The motion judge was there-
fore entirely correct to refuse to approve the settlement and to grant the amendment, -
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9 The appeal is dismissed, with costs fixed at $15,000, all inclusive.

LI LASKIN 1A,
J.L. MacFARLAND J.A.
M.L. BENOTTO J. {(ad hoc)
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Indexed as:

Hollick v. Toronto (City)

John Hollick, appellant;
V.
City of Toronto, respondent, and
Friends of the Earth, West Coast Environmental Law
Association, Canadian Association of Physicians for the
Environment, the Environmental Commissioner of Ontario
and Law Foundation of Ontario, interveners.

[2001]3 S.C.R. 158
[2001] S.C.J. No. 67
2001 SCC 68

File No.: 27699.

Supreme Court of Canada
2001: June 13 /2001: October 18.

Present: McLachlin C.J. and Gonthier, lacobucci, Major,
Bastarache, Binnie and Arbour JJ.

ON APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR ONTARIO (38 paras.)

Practice -- Class actions -- Certification -- Plaintiff complaining of noise and physical pollution from landfill owned
and operated by city -- Plaintiff bringing action against city as representative of some 30,000 other residents who live
in vicinity of landfill -- Whether plaintiff meets certification requirements sel out in provincial class action legislation -
Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 5.0, 1992, ¢. 6, s. 5(1).

The appellant complains of noise and physical pollution from a landfill owned and operated by the respondent city. He
sought certification, under Ontario's Class Proceedings Act, 1992, to represent some 30,000 people who live in the vi-
cinity of the landfill. The motions judge found that the appellant had satisfied each of the five certification requirements
set out in s. 5 of the Act and ordered that the appeliant be allowed to pursue his action as representative of the stated
class. The Divisional Court overturned the certification order on the grounds that the appellant had not stated an identi-
fiable class [pagel59] and had not satisfied the commonality requirement. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appel-
lant's appeal, agreeing with the Divisional Court that commonality had not been established.

Held: The appeal should be dismissed.
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The Class Proceedings Act, 1992 should be coustrued generously to give full effect to its benefits, The Act was adopted
to ensure that the courts had a procedural tool sufficiently refined to allow them to deal effi cwntiy, and on a principled
rather than ad hoc basis, with the increasingly complicated cases of the modern era. ‘

In this c¢ase there is an identifiable class within the meaning of s, 5(1)(b). The appellant has defined the class by refer-
ence to objective criteria, and whether a given person is a member of the class can be determined without reference to
the merits of the action. With respect to whether "the claims ... of the class members raise common issues", as required
by s. 5(1)(c), the underlying question is whether altowing the suit to proceed as a representative one will avoid duplica-
tion of fact-finding or legal analysis, Thus an issue will be common only where its resolution is necessary to the resolu-
tion of each class member's claim. Further, an issue wili not be "common" in the requisite sense unless the issue isa
substantial ingredient of each of the class members' claims. Here, if each of the class members has a claim against the
respondent, some aspect of the issue of liability is common within the meaning of 5. 5(1)(¢). The issue is whether there
is a rational connection between the class as defined and the asserted common issues. While the putative representative
must show that the class is defined sufficiently narrowly, he or she need not show that everyone in the class shares the
same interest in the resolution of the asserted common issue. The appellant has met his evidentiary burden. It is suffi-
ciently clear that many individuals besides the appellant were concerned about noise and physical emissions from the
landfill. Moreover, while some areas within the geographical area specified by the class definition appear to have been
the source of a disproportionate number of complaints, complaints were registered from many different ar¢as within the
specified boundaries.

A class proceeding would not be the preferable procedure for the resolution of the common issues, however, as required
by s. 5(1)(d). In the absence of legislative guidance, the preferability inquiry should be conducted through the lens of
the three principal advantages of class actions: judicial economy, access [page160] to justice, and behaviour modifica-
tion. The question of preferability must take into account the importance of the commeon issues in relation to the claims
as a whote. The preferability requirement was intended to capture the question of whether a class proceeding would be
preferable in the sense of preferable fo other procedures such as joinder, test cases and consolidation. The preferability
analysis requires the court to look to all reasonably available means of resolving the class members' claims, and not just
at the possibility of individual actions. The appellant has not shown that a class action is the preferable means of resolv-
ing the claims raised here. With respect to judicial econonyy, any common issue here is negligible in relation to the indi-
vidual issues, While each of the class members must, in order to recover, establish that the landfill emitted physical or
noise pollution, it is likely that some areas were affected more seriously than others, and that some areas were affected
at one time while other areas were affected at other times. Once the common issue is seen in the context of the entire
claim, it becomes difficult to say that the resolution of the common issue will significantly advance the action. Nor
would allowing a class action here serve the interests of access to justice. The fact that no claims have been made
against the Smali Claims Trust Fund may suggest that the class members claims are either so small as to be non-existent
or so farge as to provide sufficient incentive for individual action. In either case access to justice is not a serious con-
cern. The argument that behaviour modification s a significant concern in this case should be rejected for similar rea-

S0ns.

Cases Cited

Referred to: Rylands v. Fletcher {1868), L.R. 3 H.L. 330; Bywater v. Toronto Transit Commission (1998), 27 C.P.C.
(4thy 172; Western Canadian Shopping Centres Inc. v. Dutton, [2001] 2 S.C.R. 534, 2001 SCC 46; Capuio v, Imperial
Tobacco Ltd. (1997), 34 O.R. (3d) 314; Webb v. K-Mart Canada Ltd. (1999), 45 O.R. (3d) 389; Mouhteros v. DeVry
Canada Inc. {1998), 41 O.R. (3d) 63; Taub v. Manufacturers Life Insurance Co. (1998), 40 O.R. (3d) 379; Abdool v.
Anaheim Management Ltd. (1995), 21 O.R. (2d) 453; Rumley v. British Columbia, [2001] 3 5.C.R. 184, 2001 SCC 69.

Statutes and Regulations Cited

Class Proceedings Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 50, s. 4(2).
Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 8.0. 1992, c. 6, ss. 2(1), (2), 5(1), (4), (5}, 6.

[pagelol]

Code of Civil Procedure, R.S.Q., ¢. C-25, Book IX.
Environmental Bilt of Rights, 1993, $.0. 1993, ¢. 28, ss. 61(1), 74(1).
Environmental Protection Act, R.8.0. 1990, c. E.19, ss. 14(1), 99, 172(1), 186(1).



Page 3

Family Law Act, R.S.0. 1990, ¢. F.3.
Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(b)(3).
Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194, Rule 12.01.

Authors Cited

Branch, Ward K. Class Actions in Canada. Vancouver: Western Legal Publications, 1996 (loose-leaf updated Decem-
ber 1998, release 4).

Cochrane, Michael G. Class Actions: A Guide to the Class Proceedings Act, 1992. Aurora, Ont.: Canada Law Book,
1993,

Eizenga, Michael A., Michael J. Peerless and Chatles M. Wright. Class Actions Law and Practice. Toronto: Butter-
worths, 1999 (loose-leaf updated June 2001, issue 4).

Friedenthal, Jack TI., Mary K. Kane and Arthur R. Miller. Civil Procedure, 2nd ed. St. Paul, Minn.: West Publishing
Co., 1993,

Ontario. Attorney General's Advisory Committee on Class Action Reform. Report of the Attorney General's Advisory
Committee on Class Action Reform. Toronto: The Comunittee, 1990.

Ontario. Law Reform Commission. Report on Class Actions. Toronto: Minisiry of the Attorney General, 1982,

APPEAL from a judgment of the Ontario Court of Appeat (1999), 46 O.R. (3d) 257, |81 D.L.R. {4th) 426 (sub nom.
Hollick v, Metropolitan Toronto {Municipality)), 127 O.A.C. 369, 32 CELR. (N.S)) 1,41 C.P.C. {4th) 93, 7T M.P.L.R.
(3d) 244, [1999] O.J. No. 4747 (QL), dismissing an appeal from a decision of the Divisional Court {1998), 42 O.R. (3d)
473, 168 D.LR. (4th} 760, 116 O.A.C. 108, 28 C.E.L.R. (N.8.) 198,31 C.P.C. (4th) 64, [1998] O.]. No. 5267 (QL),
allowing an appeal from a decision of the Ontario Court (General Division) (1998), 27 C ELR. (N.8.) 48, 18 CP.C.
{4th) 394, {1998] O.J. No. 1288 (QL.), granting a motion to have an action certified as a class proceeding. Appeal dis-
missed.

Michael McGowan, Kirk M. Baert, Pierre Sylvestre and Gabrielle Pop-Lazic, for the appellant.

[pagele2]

Graham Rempe and Kalli Y. Chapman, for the respondent.

Robert V. Wright and Elizabeth Christie, for the interveners Friends of the Earth, West Coast Environmental Law Asso-
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The judgment of the Court was delivered by

I  MeLACHLIN C.J.:-- The question raised by this appeal is whether the appellant has satisfied the certification re-
quirements of Ontario's Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 8,0, 1992, ¢. 6, and whether the appellant should accordingly be
allowed to pursue his action against the City of Toronto as the representative of some 30,000 other residents who live in
the vicinity of a landfill owned and operated by the City. For the following reasons, I conclude that the appellant has not
satisfied the certification requirements, and consequently that he may pursue this action only on his own behalf, and not
on behalf of the stated class.
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L Facts

2 The appellant Hollick complains of noise and physical pollution from the Keele Valley landfill, which is owned and
operated by the respondent City of Toronto. The appellant sought certification, under Ontario's Class Proceedings Act,
1992, to represent some 30,000 people who live in the vicinity of the landfill, in particular:

A All persons who have owned or occupied property in the Regional Municipality of York, in the
geographic [page163] area bounded by Rutherford Road on the south, Jane Street on the west,
King-Vaughan Road on the north and Yonge Street on the east, at any time on or after February
3, 1991, or where such a person is deceased, the personal representative of the estate of the de-
ceased person; and

B. All living parents, grandparents, children, grandchildren, siblings, and spouses (within the mean-
ing of 5. 61 of the Family Law Act) of persons who were owners and/or occupiers ... .

The merits of the dispute between the appellant and the respondent are not at issue on this appeal. The only question is
whether the appeHant should be allowed to pursue his action as representative of the stated class.

3 Until 1983, the Keele Valley site was a gravel pit owned privately. It operated under a Certificate of Approval is-
sued by the Ministry of the Environment in 1980, After the respondent purchased the site in 1983, the Ministry of the
Environment issued a new Certificate of Approval, The 1983 Certificate covers an area of 375.9 hectares, of which 99.2
hectares are actual disposal area. The remainder of the land constitutes a buffer zone, The Certificate restricts Keele
Valley to the receipt of non-hazardous municipal or commercial waste, and it sets out various other requirements relat-
ing to the processing and storage of waste at the site. It also provides for a Small Claims Trust Fund of $100,000, ad-
ministered by the Ministry of the Environment, to cover individual claims of up to $5,000 arising out of "off-site im-
pact".

4 The Ministry of the Environment monitors the Keele Valley site by employing two full-time inspectors at the site
and by reviewing detailed reports that the respondent is required to file with the Ministry. In addition, the City of
Vaughan has established the Keele Vailey Liaison Committee, which is meant to provide a forum for community con-
cerns related to the site. Until 1998, the appeliant participated regularly at meetings of the Liaison Committee. Finally,
the respondent maintains a telephone complaint system for members of the cormmunity.

[pagel64]

5 The appellant’s claim is that the Keele Valley landfill has unlawfuily been emitting, onto his own lands and onto the
lands of other class members:

{a) large quantities of methane, hydrogen sulphide, vinyl chloride and other toxic gases, obnoxious
odours, fumes, smoke and airborne, bird-borne or air-blown sediment, particulates, dirt and litter
(collectively referred to as "Physical Pollution"); and '

{b)  loud noises and strong vibrations (collectively referred to as "Noise Pollution");

The appellant filed a motion for certification on November 28, 1997. In support of his motion, the appellant pointed out
that, in 1996, some 139 complaints were registered with the respondent's telephone comptaint system. (Before this
Court, the appellant submitted that "at least 500" compiaints were made "to various governmental authoritics between
1991 and 1996 {factum, at para. 7).) The appellant also noted that, in 1996, the respondent was fined by the Ministry of
Environment in refation to the composting of grass clippings at a facility located just north of the Keele Valley landfill.
In the appellant's view, the class members form a well-defined group with a common interest vis-3-vis the respondent,
and the suit would be best prosecuted as a class action, The appellant seeks, on behalf of the class, injunctive relief]

$500 miltion in compensatory damages and $100 miltion in punitive damages.

6 The respondent disputes the legitimacy of the appellant’s complaints and disagrees that the suit should be permitted
to proceed as a class action. The respondent claims that it has monitored air emissions from the Keele Valley site and
the data confirm that "none of the air levels exceed Ministry of the Environment trigger levels”. It notes that there are
other possible sources for the pollution of which the appeltant complains, including an active quarry, a private transfer
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station for waste, a plastics factory, and an asphatlt plant. In addition, some farms in the area have private compost op-
erations. The respondent also argues that the number of registered complaints -- it says that 150 people complained over
the six-year period covered in the [pagel65] motion record - is not high given the size of the class. Finally, it notes that,
to date, no claims have been made against the Small Claims Trust Fund,

H. Judgments

7 The motions judge, Jenkins J., found that the appellant had satisfied each of the five certification requirements set
out in s. 5(1) of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992: (1998), 27 C.E.L.R. (N.S.) 48. He found that the appellant's statement
of claim disclosed causes of action under s. 99 of the Environmental Protection Act, R.8.0. 1999, ¢. E. 19, and under the
rule in Rylands v. Fletcher (1868), L.R. 3 H.L. 330; that the appellant had defined an identifiable class of two or more
persons; that the issues of liability and punitive damages were comimon to the class; and that a class action would be the
preferable procedure for resolving the complaints of the class. Finally, he found that the appellant would be an adequate
representative for the class and that the appellant had set out a workable litigation plan. Though Jenkins I struck out the
appellant's claim for injunctive relief on the ground that damages would be a sufficient remedy and rejected his claims
under the Family Law Act, R.8.0. 1990, c. F.3, on the grounds that the facts pleaded "cannot ... establish a basis for a
claim for loss of care, guidance, and companionship” {p. 62). Jenkins J. conchuded that the appellant had satisfied the
certification requirements of s, 5(1). Accordingly he ordered that the appellant be allowed to pursue his action as repre-
sentative of the stated class.

8 The Ontario Divisional Court, per O'Leary I., overturned the certification order on the grounds that the appellant
had not stated an identifiable class and had not satisfied the commonality requirement: (1998), 42 O.R. (3d) 473.
O'Leary J. interpreted the identifiable class requirement to require that "there be a class that can all pursue the same
cause of action" against the defendant. He noted that "[t]o pursue such cause of action the members of the class must
have suffered the interference with use and enjoyment of property complained of in the [page166] statement of claim”
(p. 479). O'Leary J. concluded that the appellant had not stated an identifiable class (at pp. 479-80):

[T]he evidence does not make it likely that thiej 30,000 [class members] suffered such interfer-
ence. It cannot be assumed that the complaints made to Toronto make it likely that the landfill
was the cause of the odour or thing complained about... . [Elven if one were to assume that the
Keele Valley landfill site was the source of all the complaints, 150 people making complaints
over a seven-year period does not make it likely that some 30,000 persons had their enjoyment of
their property interfered with,

For the same reasons, he concluded that the appellant had not satisfied the commonality requirement, writing that
"[blecause the class that was certified ... bears no resemblance to any group that was on the evidence likely injured by
the landfill operation, there are no apparent common issues relating to the members of the class" (p. 480). O'Leary 1. set
aside the certification order without prejudice to the plaintiff's right to bring a fresh application on finther evidence.

9 The Court of Appeal for Ontario, per Carthy J A, dismissed Hollick's appeal {(1999), 46 O.R. (3d) 257), agreeing
with the Divisional Court that commonality had not been established. Citing Bywater v. Toronto Transit Commission
{1998), 27 C.P.C. (4th) 172 (Ont. Ct. {Gen. Div.)), Carthy J.A. noted that the definition of a class should not depend on
the merits of the litigation. However, he saw no bar to a court's looking beyond the pleadings to determine whether the
certification criteria had been satisfied. "If it were otherwise", he noted, "any statement of claim alleging the existence
of an identifiable group of people would foreclose further consideration by the court" (p. 264). Carthy J.A, acknowl-
edged that a court should not test the existence of a class by demanding evidence that each member of the purported
class have, individually, a claim on the merits. The court should, however, demand "evidence to give some credence to
the allegation that ... there is an identifiable class ..."" (p. 264) (emphasis deleted).

[pagel67]

10 Carthy J.A. did not find it necessary to resolve the issue of whether the appefiant had stated an identifiable class,
because in his view the appellant had not satisfied the commonatity requirement. In Carthy J.A.'s view, proof of nui-
sance was essential to each of the appellant's claims. Because a nuisance claim requires the plaintiff to make an indi-
vidualized showing of harm, there was no commonality between the class members. Carthy J.A. wrote (at pp. 266-67):
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This group of 30,000 people is not comparable to patients with implants, the occupants of
a wrecked train or those who have been drinking polluted water. They are individuals whose lives
have each been affected, or not affected, in a different manner and degree and each may or may
not be able to hold the respondent liable for a nuisance... .

No common issue other than liability was suggested and I cannot devise one that would

advance the litigation.

Carthy J.A. dismissed the appeal, affirming the Divisional Cowrt's order except insofar as it would have allowed the
appellant to bring a fresh application on further evidence.

HI.  Legislation

11 Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 8.0, 1992, ¢. 6

5. -~ {1} The court shall certify a class proceeding on a motion under section 2, 3 or 4 if,

(@)
(b)

(¢}
(d)

(€

[pagel68]

the pleadings or the notice of application discloses a cause of action;

there is an identifiable class of two or imore persons that would be represented by
the representative plaintiff or defendant;

the claims or defences of the class members raise common issues;

a class proceeding would be the preferable procedure for the resolution of the
common issues; and

there is a representative plaintiff or defendant who,

(D would fairly and adequately represent the interests of the class,

(ii)  has produced a plan for the proceeding that sets out a workable method of
advancing the proceeding on behalf of the class and of notifying class
members of the proceeding, and

(iif)  does not have, on the common issues for the class, an interest in conflict
with the interests of other class members,

6. The court shall not refuse to certify a proceeding as a class proceeding solely on any of
the following grounds:

1.

Do W

V. Issues

The relief claimed includes a claim for damages that would require individual as-
sessiment afier determination of the common issues.

The relief claimed relates to separate contracts involving different class members.
Different remedies are sought for different class members.

The number of class members or the identity of each class member is not known.
The class includes a subclass whose members have claims or defences that raise
common issues not shared by all class members.

12 Should the appellant be permitted to prosecute this action on behalf of the class deseribed in his statement of

claim?
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V. - Analysis

13 Ontario’s Class Proceedings Act, 1992, like similar legistation adopted in British Columbia and Quebec, allows a
member of a class to prosecute a suit on behalf of the class: see Ontario Class Proceedings Act, 1992, s, 2(1); see also
Quebec Code of Civil Procedure, R.5.Q., ¢. C-25, Book IX; British Columbia Class Proceedings Act, R.5.B.C, 1996, c.
50. In order to conunence such a proceeding, the person who seeks to represent the class must make a motion for an
order certifying the action as a class proceeding and recognizing him or her as the representative of the class: sce Class
Proceedings Act, 1992, s. 2(2). Section 5 of the Act sets out five criteria by which a motions judge is to assess whether
[page169] the class should be certified. If these criteria are satistied, the motions judge is required to certify the class.

14 The legislative history of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, makes clear that the Act should be construed gener-
ously. Before Ontario enacted the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, class actions were prosecuted in Ontario under the au-
thority of Rule 12.01 of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194, That rule provided that

[wlhere there are numerous persons having the same interest, one or more of them may bring or
defend a proceeding on behalf or for the benefit of all, or may be authorized by the court to do so.

While that rule allowed courts to deal with relatively simple class actions, it became clear in the latter part of the 20th
century that Rule 12.01 was not well-suited to the kinds of complicated cases that were beginning to come before the
courts. These cases reflected "[t}he rise of mass production, the diversification of corporate ownership, the advent of the
mega-corporation, and the recognition of environmental wrongs™: Western Canadian Shopping Centres Inc. v. Dutton,
[20017 2 S.C.R. 534, 2001 SCC 46, at para. 26. They often involved vast numbers of interested parties and complex,
intertwined legal issues -- some common to the class, some not, While it would have been possible for courts to ac-
commodate moderately complicated class actions by reliance on their own inherent power over procedure, this would
have required courts to devise ad hoc solutions to procedural complexities on a case-by-case basis: see Western Cana-
dian Shopping Centres, at para. 51. The Class Proceedings Act, 1992, was adopted to ensure that the courts had a proce-
dural tool sufficiently refined to allow them to deal efficiently, and on a principled rather than ad hoc basis, with the
increasingly complicated cases of the modern era. .

15 The Act reflects an increasing recognition of the important advantages that the class action offers as a procedural
tool. As I discussed at some length in Western Canadian Shopping Centres (at paras. [page!70] 27-29), class actions
provide three important advantages over a multiplicity of individual suits. First, by aggregating similar individual ac-
tions, class actions serve judicial economy by avoiding unnecessary duplication in fact-finding and legal analysis. Sec-
ond, by distributing fixed litigation costs amongst a large number of class members, class actions improve access to
justice by making economical the prosecution of claims that any one class member would find too costly to prosecute
on his or her own, Third, class actions serve efficiency and justice by ensuring that actual and potential wrongdoers
modify their behaviour to take full account of the harm they are causing, or might cause, to the public. In proposing that
Ontario adopt class action legistation, the Ontario Law Reform Commission identified each of these advantages: see
Ontario Law Reform Commission, Report on Class Actions (1982}, vol. I, at pp. 117-45; see also Minisiry of the Attor-
ney General, Report of the Attorney General's Advisory Committee on Class Action Reform (February 1990), at pp. 16-
18. In my view, it is essential therefore that courts not take an overly restrictive approach to the legislation, but rather
interpret the Act in a way that gives full effect to the benefits foreseen by the drafters.

16 It is particularly important to keep this principle in mind at the certification stage. In its 1982 report, the Ontario
Law Reform Commission proposed that new class action legislation include a "preliminary merits test" as part of the
certification requirements. The proposed test would have required the putative class representative to show that "there is
a reasonable possibility that material questions of fact and law common to the class will be resolved at trial in favour of
the class”: Report on Class Actions, supra, vol. III, at p. 862. Notwithstanding the recommendation of the Ontario Law
Reform Commission, Ontario decided not to adopt a preliminary merits test, Instead it adopted a test that merely re-
quires that the statement of claim "disclos[e] a cause of action": see Class Proceedings Act, 1992, s. 5(1}(a). Thus the
certification stage is decidedly [page171] not meant to be a test of the merits of the action: sce Class Proceedings Act,
1992, 5. 5(5) ("An order certifying a class proceeding is not a determination of the merits of the proceeding"); see also
Caputo v, Imperial Tobacco Lid. (1997), 34 O.R. (3d) 314 (Gen. Div.), at p. 320 ("any inquiry into the merits of the
action will not be relevant on a motion for certification"), Rather the certification stage focuses on the form of the ac-
tion, The question at the certification stage is not whether the claim is likely to succeed, but whether the suit is appropri-
ately prosecuted as a class action: see generally Report of the Attorney General's Advisory Committee on Class Action
Reform, at pp. 30-33.
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17  With these principles in mind, | turn now to the case at bar. The issue is whether the appellant has satisfied the
certification requirements set out in s. 5 of the Act. The respondent does not dispute that the appellant's statement of
claim discloses a cause of action. The first question, therefore, is whether there is an identifiable class. In my view, there
is. The appellant has defined the class by reference to objective criteria; a person is a member of the class if he or she
owned or occupied property inside a specified area within a specified period of time. Whether a given person is a mem-
ber of the class can be determined without reference to the merits of the action. While the appellant has not named every
member of the class, it is clear that the class is bounded (that is, not unlimited). There is, therefore, an identifiable class
within the meaning of 5. S(1){(b): see J. H. Friedenthal, M. K. Kane and A. R. Miller, Civil Procedure (2nd ed. 1993}, at
pp. 726-27; Bywater, supra, at pp. 175-76; Western Canadian Shopping Centres, supra, at para. 38,

18 A more difficuit question is whether "the claims ... of the class members raise common issues", as required by s.
5(1}(c) of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992. As I wrote in Western Canadian Shopping Centres, the underlying question
is "whether ailowing the suit to proceed as a representative one will avoid duplication of fact-finding or legal analysis".
Thus an issue will be common "only where its resofution is necessary to the resolution of each class member's ¢laim"
(para. 39). Further, [page!72] an issue will not be "common" in the requisite sense unless the issue is a "substantial ...
ingredient” of each of the class members’ claims.

19 Inthis case there is no doubt that, if each of the class members has a claim against the respondent, some aspect of
the issue of liability is common within the meaning of' s. 3(1}(c). For any putative class member to prevail individualty,
he or she would have to show, among other things, that the respondent emitted pollutants into the air. At least this as-
pect of the Hability issue {(and perhaps other aspects as well) would be common to all those who have claims against the
respondent. The difficult question, however, is whether each of the putative class members does indeed have a claim --
or at feast what might be termed a "colourable claim" -- against the respondent. To put it another way, the issue is
whether there is a rational connection between the class as defined and the asserted common issues: see Western Cana-
dian Shopping Centres, at para. 38 ("the criteria [defining the class] should bear a rational relationship to the common
issues asserted by all class members"). In asserting that there is such a relationship, the appellant points to the numerous
complaints against the Keele Valley landfill filed with the Ministry of Environment. In the appellant's view, the large
number of complaints shows that maiy others in the putative class, if not all of them, are similarly situated vis-a-vis the
respondent. For its part the respondent asserts that " 150 people making complaints over a seven-year period does not
make it likely that some 30,000 persons had their enjoyment of their property interfered with" (Divisional Court's judg-
ment, at pp. 479-80). The respondent also quotes the Ontario Court of Appeal's judgment (at p. 264), which declined to
find commonality on the grounds that

[iln circumstances such as are described in the statement of claim one would expect to see evi-
dence of the existence of a bady of persons seeking recourse for their [page!73} complainis, such
as, a history of "town meetings”, demands, claims against the no fault fund, [and] applications to
amend the certificate of approval ... .

20 The respondent is of course correct to state that implicit in the "identifiable class" requirement is the requirement
that there be some rational relationship between the class and common issues. Litile has been said about this require-
ment because, in the usual case, the relationship is clear from the facts. In a single-incident mass tort case (for example,
an airplane crash), the scope of the appropriate class is not usually in dispute. The same is true in product lability ac-
tions {where the class is usually composed of those who purchased the product), or securities frand actions (where the
class is usually composed of those who owned the stock). In a case such as this, however, the appropriate scope of the
class is not so obvious. It falls to the putative representative to show that the class is defined sufficiently narrowly.

21  The requirement is not an onerous one. The representative need not show that everyone in the class shares the
same interest in the resolution of the asserted common issue. There must be some showing, however, that the class is
not unnecessarily broad -- that is, that the class could not be defined more narrowly without arbitrarily excluding some
people who share the same interest in the resolution of the common issue. Where the class could be defined more nar-
rowly, the court shouid either disallow certification or allow certification on condition that the definition of the class be
amended: see W, K. Branch, Class Actions in Canada {1996), at para. 4.205; Webb v. K-Mart Canada Ltd. (1999), 45
O.R. (3d) 389 (5.C.J.) (claim for compensation for wrongful dismissal; class definition overbroad because included
those who could be proven to have been terminated for just cause); Mouhteros v, DeVry Canada Inc, (1998}, 41 O.R.
(3d) 63 {Gen, Div.} {claim against school for misrgpresentations about marketability of students afler graduation; class
[pagel74] definition overinclusive because included students who had found work after graduation),
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22 The question arises, then, to what extent the class representative should be allowed or required to introduce evi-
dence in suppoit of a certification motion. The recommendations of the Onfario Law Reform Commission's 1982 report
on this point should perhaps be given limited weight because, as discussed above, those recommendations were made in
the context of a proposal that the certification stage include a preliminary merits test: see Report on Class Actions, su-
pra, vol. IL, at pp. 422-26 (recommending that both the representative plaintiff and the defendant be required, at the cer-
tification stage, to file one or more affidavits setting out all the facts upon which they intend to rely, and that the parties
be permitted to examine the deponents of any such affidavits). The 1990 report of the Attorney General's Advisory
Committee is perhaps a better guide. That report suggests that "[u]pon a motion for certificationr.: , the representative
plaintiff shall and the defendant may serve and file one or more affidavits setting forth the material facts upon which
each intends to rely” {emphasis added): see Report of the Attorney General's Advisory Commiittee on Class Action Re-
form, supra, at p. 33. In my view the Advisory Committee's report appropriately requires the class representative to
come forward with sufficient evidence to support certification, and appropriately allows the opposing party an opportu-
nity to respond with evidence of its own,

23 This appears to be the existing practice of Ontario courts, In Caputo, supra, the representative brought a class ac-
tion against cigarette manufacturers claiming that they had knowingly misked the public about the risks associated with
smoking, In support of the certification motion, the class representative filed only a solicitor's affidavit based on infor-
mation and belief. The court held that the evidence adduced by the class representative was insufficient to support certi-
fication, and that the defendant manufacturers should be allowed to examine the individual class members in order to
obtain the information required to allow the court {page175] to decide the certification motion. The "primary concern”,
the court wrote, is "[t]he adequacy of the record", which "will vary in the circumstances of each case” (p. 319).

24  In Taub v. Manufacturers Life Insurance Co. {1998), 40 O.R. (3d) 379 (Gen. Div.), the representative sought to
bring a class action on behalf of the residents in her apartment building, alleging that mould in the building was expos-
ing the residents to health risks. The representative provided no evidence, however, suggesting that the mould had been
found anywhere but in her own apartment. The court wrote (at pp. 380-81) that "the CPA requires the representative
plaintiff to provide a certain minimum evidentia[ry] basis for a certification order" (emphasis added). While the Class
Proceedings Act, 1992 does not require a preliminary merits showing, "the judge must be satisfied of certain basi[c]
facts required by s. 5 of the CPA as the basis for a certification order" (p. 381).

25 Iagree that the representative of the asserted class must show some basis in fact to support the certification order.
As the court in Taub held, that is not to say that there must be affidavits from members of the class or that there should
be any assessment of the merits of the claims of other class members. However, the Report of the Attorney General's
Advisory Committee on Class Action Reform clearly contemplates that the class representative will have to establish an
evidentiary basis for certification: see Report, at p. 31 ("evidence on the motion for certification should be confined to
the [certification] criteria™). The Act, too, obviously conternplates the same thing: see s. 5(4) ("[t}he court may adjourn
the motion for certification to permit the parties to amend their materials or pleadings or to permit further evidence"). In
my view, the class representative must show some basis in fact for each of the certification requirements set out i s. 5
of the Act, other than the requirement that the pleadings disclose a cause of action. That latier requirement is of course
governed by the rule that a pleading should not be struck for failure to disclose [page176] a cause of action unless it is
"plain and obvious" that no claim exists: see Branch, supra, at para. 4.60,

26 In my view the appellant has met his evidentiary burden here. Together with his motion for certitication, the ap-
pellant submitted some 115 pages of complaint records, which he obtained from the Ontario Ministry of Environment
and Energy and the Toronto Metropolitan Works Department. The records of the Ministry of Environment and Energy
document almost 300 comptlaints between July 1985 and March 1994, approximately 200 complaints in 1995, and ap-
proximately 150 complaints in 1996, The Metropolitan Works Department records document almost 300 complaints
between July 1983 and the end of 1993. As some people may have registered their complaints with both the Ministry of
Environment and Energy and the Metropolitan Works Department, it is difficult to determine exactly how many sepa-
rate complaints were brought in any year. It is sufficiently clear, however, that many individuals besides the appellant
were concerned about noise and physical emissions from the landfill. I note, firther, that while some areas within the
geographical area specified by the class definition appear to have been the source of a disproportionate number of com-
plaints, complaints were registered from many different areas within the specified boundaries. I conclude, therefore, that
the appeliant has shown a sufficient basis in fact to satisfy the commonality requirement,

27 I cannot conclude, however, that "a class proceeding would be the preferable procedure for the resolution of the
common issues", as required by s. 5(1)(d). The parties agree that, in the absence of legislative guidance, the preferability
inquiry should be conducted through the lens of the three principal advantages of class actions -- judicial economy, ac-
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cess to justice, and behaviour modification: see also Abdool v. Anaheim Management Lid. (1995), 21 O.R. (2d) 453
{Div. Ct.); compare British Columbia Class Proceedings Act, s. 4(2) (listing factors that court must consider in
[pagel77] assessing preferability). Beyond that, however, the appellant and respondent part ways. In oral argument be-
fore this Court, the appellant contended that the court must took to the common issues alone, and ask whether the com-
mon issues, taken in isolation, would be better resolved in a class action rather than in individual proceedings. In re-
sponse, the respendent argued that the common issues must be viewed contextually, in light of all the issues -- common
and individual -- raised by the case. The respondent also argued that the inquiry should take into account the availability
of alternative avenues of redress.

28  The report of the Attorney General's Advisory Committee makes clear that "preferable” was nieant to be construed
broadly. The term was meant to capture two ideas: first the question of "whether or not the class proceeding [would be]
a fair, efficient and manageable method of advancing the claim", and second, the question of whether a class proceeding
would be preferable "in the sense of preferable to other procedures such as joinder, test cases, consolidation and so on':
Report of the Attorney General's Advisory Committee on Class Action Reform, supra, at p. 32. In my view, it would be
impossible to determine whether the class action is preferable in the sense of being a "fair, efficient and manageable
method of advancing the claim" without looking at the commeon issues in their context. .

29 The Act itself, of course, requires only that a class action be the preferable procedure for "the resolution of the
common issues” (emphasis added), and not that a class action be the preferable procedure for the resolution of the class
members' claims, [ would not place undue weight, however, on the fact that the Act uses the phrase "resolution of the
common issues” rather than "resolution of class members’ claims”. As one commentator writes:

The [American] class action [rule] requires that the class action be the superior method to resolve
the "controversy." The B.C. and Ontario Acts require that the class proceeding be the preferable
procedure for the resolution of the "common issues" (as opposed to the entire controversy). [This]
distinctio[n} can be seen as creating a lower [pagel78] threshold for certification in Ontario and
B.C. than in the U.S. However, it is still important in B.C. and Ontario to assess the litigation as a
whole, including the individual hearing stage, in order to determine whether the class action is the
preferable means of resolving the common issues. Tn the abstract, common issues are always best
resolved in a common proceeding, However, it is important to adopt a practical cost-benefit ap-
proach to this procedural issue, and to consider the impact of a class proceeding on class mem-
bers, the defendants, and the court.

See Branch, supra, at para. 4.690. I would endorse that approach.

30 The question of preferability, then, must take into account the importance of the common issues in relation to the
¢latms as a whole, Tt is frue, of course, that the Act contemplates that class actions will be allowable even where there
arc substantial individual issues: see s. 5. i is also true that the drafters rejecied a requirement, such as is contained in
the American federal class action rule, that the common issues "predominate” over the individual issues: see Federal
Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(b)(3) (stating that class action maintainable only if "questions of law or fact common
to the members of the class predominate over any questions affecting only individual members"); see also British Co-
lumbia Class Proceedings Act, s. 4(2)(a) (stating that, in determining whether a class action is the preferable procedures,
the court must consider "whether questions of fact or law common to the members of the class predominate over any
questions affecting onty individual members"}). I cannot conclude, however, that the drafters intended the preferability
anaiysis to take place in a vacuum. There must be a consideration of the common issues in context. As the Chair of the
Attorney General's Advisory Committee put it, the preferability requivement asks that the ciass representative "demon-
strate that, given al of the circumstances of the particular claim, {a class action] would be preferable to other methods
of resolving these claims and, in particular, that it would be preferable to the use of individual proceedings” (emphasis
added): M. G. Cochrane, Class Actions: A Guide to [page179] the Class Proceedings Act, 1992 (1993), at p. 27.

31  Ithink it clear, too, that the court cannot ignore the availability of avenues of redress apart from individual actions.
As noted above, the preferability requirement was intended to capture the question of whether a class proceeding would
be preferabie “in the sense of preferable to other procedures such as joinder, test cases, consolidation and so on": see
Report of the Attorney General's Advisory Committee on Class Action Reform, supra, at p. 32; see also Cochrane, su-
pra, at p. 27; M. A. Eizenga, M, J. Peerless and C. M. Wright, Class Actions Law and Practice (loose-leaf), at para. 3.62
("[als part of the determination with respect to preferability, it is appropriate for the court to review alternative means of
adjudicating the dispute which is before it"). In my view, the preferability analysis requires the court to look to all rea-
sonably available means of resolving the class members' claims, and not just at the possibility of individual actions.



Page 11

32 Tam not persuaded that the class action would be the preferable means of resolving the class members' claims.
Turning first to the issue of judicial economy, I note that any common issue here is negligible in relation to the individ-
ual issues. While each of the class members must, in order to recover, establish that the Keele Valley landfill emitted
physical or noise pollution, there is no reason to think that any pollution was distributed evenly across the geographical
area or time period specified in the class definition. On the contrary, it is likely that some areas were affected more seri-
ousty than others, and that some areas were affected at one time while other areas were affected at other times. As the
Divisional Couit noted, "{e]ven if one considers only the 150 persons who made complaints -- those complaints relate to
different dates and different locations spread out over seven years and 16 square miles" (p. 480). Some class members
are close to the site, some are further away. Some class members are close to other possible sources of pollution. Once
the common issue is seen in the [page 1807 context of the entire claim, it becomes difficult to say that the resolution of
the common issue will significantly advance the action.

33 Nor would altowing a class action here serve the interests of access to justice. The appellant posits that class
members' claims may be so small that it would not be worthwhile for them to pursue relief individually. In many cases
this is indeed a real danger. As noted above, one important benefit of class actions is that they divide fixed litigation
costs over the entire class, making it economically feasible to prosecute claims that might otherwise not be brought at
all. T am not fully convinced, however, that this is the situation here. The central problem with the appellant's argument
is that, if it is in fact true that the claims are so small as to engage access to justice concerns, it would seem that the
Small Claims Trust Fund would provide an ideal avenue of redress. Indeed, since the Small Claims Trust Fund estab-
lishes a no-fault scheme, it is likely to provide redress far more quickly than would the judicial system, If, on the other
hand, the Small Claims Trust Fund is not sufficiently farge to handle the class members' claims, one must question
whether the access to justice concern is engaged at all. If class members have substantial claims, it is likely that they
will find it worthwhile to bring individual actions. The fact that no claims have been made against the Small Claims
Trust Fund may suggest that the class members claims are either so small as to be non-existent or so large as to provide
sufficient incentive for individual action. In either case access to justice is not a serious concern. Of course, the exis-
tence of a compensatory scheme under which class members can pursue relief is not in itself grounds for denying a class
action -- even if the compensatory scheme promises to provide redress more quickly: see Rumley v. British Columbia,
[2001] 3 5.C.R. 184, 2001 SCC 69, at para. 38. The existence of such a scheme, however, provides one consideration
that must be taken into account when {page181] assessing the seriousness of access-to-justice concerns.

34  For similar reasons 1 would reject the argument that behaviour modification is a significant concern in this case.
Behavioural modification may be relevant to determining whether a class action should proceed. As noted in Western
Canadian Shopping Centres, supra, at para. 29, "[wlithout class actions, those who cause widespread but individually
minimal harm might not take into account the full costs of their conduct, because for any one plaintiff the expense of
bringing suit would far exceed the likely recovery". This concern is certainly no less pressing in the context of environ-
mental litigation. Indeed, Ontario has enacted legislation that reflects a recognition that environmental harm is a cost
that must be given due weight in both public and private decision-making: se¢ Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993, 5.0.
1993, ¢. 28, and Environmental Protection Act, I am not persuaded, however, that allowing a class action here would
serve that end. If individual class members have substantial claims against the respondent, we should expect that they
will be willing to prosecute those claims individually; on the other hand if their claims are small, they will be able to
obtain compensation through the Small Claims Trust Fund. In either case, the respondent will be forced to internalize
the costs of its conduct.

35 Iwould note, further, that Ontario's environmental legislation provides other avenues by which the complainant
here could ensure that the respondent takes full account of the costs of its actions, While the existence of such legisla-
tion certainly does not foreclose the possibility of environmental class actions, it does go some way toward addressing
legitimate concerns about behaviour modification: see Environmental Bill of Rights, 1993, ss. 61(1) (stating that "[a]ny
two persons resident in Ontario who believe that an existing policy, Act, regulation or instrument of Ontario should be
[page182] amended, repealed or revoked in order to protect the environment may apply to the Environmental Commis-
sioner for a review of the policy, Act, regulation or Instrument by the appropriate minister"} and 74(1) (stating that
"Tajny two persons resident in Ontario who believe that a prescribed Act, regulation or instrument has been contravened
may apply to the Environmental Commissioner for an investigation of the alleged contravention by the appropriate min-
ister"); Environmental Protection Act, 5. 14(1) (stating that "[d]espite any other provision of this Act or the regulations,
no persen shall discharge a contaminant or cause or permit the discharge of a contaminant into the natural environment
that causes or is likely to cause an adverse effect™); s, 172(1) (stating that "fw]here a person complains that a contami-
nant is causing or has caused injury or damage to livestock or to crops, trees or other vegetation which may result in
economic loss to such person, the person may, within fourteen days after the injury or damage becomes apparent, re-
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quest the Minister to conduct an investigation"); and s. 186(1) (stating that "[e]very person who contravenes this Act or
the regulations is guilty of an offence").

36 1 conclude that the action does not meet the requirements set out in s, 5(1) of Ontario’s Class Proceedings Act,
1992. Even on the generous approach advocated above, the appellant has not shown that a class action is the preferable
means of resolving the claims raised here.

37 Ishould make one note on the scope of the holding in this case. The appellant took pains to characterize this case
as raising the issue of whether Ontario’s Class Proceedings Act, 1992 permits environmental class actions. T would not
frame the issue so broadly. While the appellant has not met the certification requirements here, it does not follow that
those requirements could never be met in an environmental tort case. The question of whether an action should be per-

mitted to be prosecuted as a class action is necessarily one that turns on the [page83] facts of the case. In this case
there were serious questions about preferability. Other environmental tortf cases may not raise the same questions. Those

cases should be decided on their facts.

38 The appeal is dismissed. There will be no costs to either party.
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REASONS FOR DECISION
PM. PERELL J.:--

L INTRODUCTION

1 In this class action, under the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, 8,0, 1992, ¢. C.6, the court has already approved a set-
tlement. 1 shall refer to that settlement as the "Approved Settlement.”

2  This is a2 motion, and the moving parties seek the court's approve for an amendment to the Approved Settlement. 1
shall refer to the amendment as the "Amended Settlement,"

3 Onamotion to approve a class action settlement, the court's only choices are to approve or to reject the settlement
using the test of whether the proposed settlement is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of the class members. The
court does not have the choice of fixing or revising the settlement to make it fair, reasonable, or in the best interests of
the class members. The court's only choices are to approve or to not approve the proposed settlement,

4  Most unfortunately, in the case at bar, these choices of approval or disapproval present the court with a double bind,
a choice between unpleasant and distressing alternatives. As the discussion below will reveal, the circumstances of the
case at bar are such that the court is being asked to make a choice between two courses where neither course is substan-
tively, procedurally, circumstantially, or institutionally fair to the class members,

5  As1will detail below, in this class action, the Plaintiffs sued Canada Life Assurance Company for a declaration as
to the ownership of pension plan surpluses and for damages for breach of the Pension Plan. In the class action, it was
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alleged that Canada Life employees owned any surplus in their Pension Plan and that Canada Life had wrongfully
charged administrative expenses to the Pension Plan, There were also claims for partial wind-ups of the Pension Plan.

6 Inaddition to resolving the claims of some Canada Life employees, the already Approved Settlement settled the
claims of four discrete groups of claimants, who were identified with four different pension plan partial wind-ups;
namely: (1) the Integration Partial Wind Up Group; (2) the Pelican Partial Wind Up Group; (3} the Indago Partial Wind
Up Group; and (4) the Adason Partial Wind Up Group.

7 Under the Approved Settlement: () plan members would receive 57.22% of the surplus for their designated part of
the Pension Plan; (b) inactive plan members would receive 12.44% of the designated surplus; and (¢) Canada Life
would receive 30.34% of the surplus allocable to the partial winding ups.

8 The Plaintiffs and Canada Life claborately campaigned to secure the support of Class Members for the proposed
settlement. There were organized meetings across the country and an elaborate information package, Untypically, and
without precedent, the proposed Class Members were asked to vote for or against the Approved Settlement. As a part of
the promotional campaign, without being given any guaraniee, the Integration Group's members were told that if was
estimated that they would be sharing about 70% of a surplus estimated for them to be worth $55 miilion.

9 Unfortunately, after the Approved Settlement was approved by the court and after the parties set about to imple-
ment it, almost immediately, they discovered that their assumptions or predications about the value of the surplus to be
distributed to the Integration Group were very-very wrong,.

10 The unhappy discovery was that the anticipated surplus of $55 mitlion, upon which the Approved Settlement had
been predicated and which, as noted above, was to be shared by the Integration Group and Canada Life was diminishing
dramatically and quickly.

11  The diminishment of the surplus came about mainty for two reasons. First, a decline in interest rates in the Cana-
dian financial marketplace increased the notional liabilities of the Pension Plan for the Integration Group's members,
which liabilities are calculated in accordance with prescribed actuarial principles. Second, a greater than anticipated
number of Integration Group class members chose or were deemed to have chosen pension benefit annuities rather than
choosing to take the accumulated value of their pension benefits. In other words, fewer Infegration Group pensioners
than predicted cashed out their benefits and this, in turn, increased the liabilities of the Pension Plan on an on-geing
basis and all this diminished the actuarially calculated surplus or deficit.

12 And to further complicate matters, there was another surprise for the Integration Group and Canada Life, because
the marketplace for annuities shut down, and annuities were not available for those who had chosen to stay with Canada
Life's Pension Plan. The Plan's Administrators had to internalize the cost of the annuities rather than outsource this li-
ability for the pension benefits.

13 These problems did not, however, materially affect the Pelican, Indago, and Adason Groups' part of the Approved
Settlement, nor did the surprises affect current employees of Canada Life, who were to enjoy a two-year contribution
holiday under the Approved Settlement.

14 The problems, however, were grave for the Integration Group because Canada Life proposed to implement the
settlement without purchasing annuities. Canada Life intended fo unilaterally transfer the assets and liabilities of the
Integration Group from the old Pension Plan into the ongoing portion of a new Pension Plan, which had been estab-
lished as a part of the overall settlement between the parties.

15 The Integration Group moved to enjoin Canada Life from acting unilaterally to implement the Approved Settle-
ment,

16  Class Counsel preferred to delay the implementation of the settlement to see if interest rates would rebound and to
allow a recalculation of the Pension Plan surplus for the Integration Group when the economy and interest rates might
have bounced back. Nothing however could be done to change the impact of the unexpected numbers of Integration
Members who had chosen to stay with the Pension Plan.

17 The injunction motion, however, was not argued. Instead, the parties negotiated a settlement, the "Amended Set-
tlement," The Plaintiffs now move for approval of the Amended Settlement. The Plaintiffs and Canada Life submit that
the Amended Settlement is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of the class members.
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18 The moving parties main argument is that the Amended Settlement is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of
the class members because it is better than the alternative of rejecting the Amended Settlement and just implementing
the Approved Settlement, which T will later in this judgment rename the "Stark-Reality” Settlement.

19 In other words, their argument is that under the Approved Settlement that became the Stark-Reality Settlement, the
Integration Group will receive a terribly disappointing monetary award, but under the Amended Settlement, they will
receive a terribly disappointing monetary award with a "shot” at a second distribution of surplus re-calculated as at De-
cember 31, 2014 when interest rates may have rebounded. This shot at a second distribution - capped at $15 million -
makes the Amended Settlement fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of the class members and better than the alter-
native of reviving the litigation, which would be purposcless.

20 Numerous class members from the Integration Group object to the Amended Settlement, and they ask the court
not to approve it. They submit that the Amended Settlement is unfair, unreasonable, and not in the best interests of the
Class Members.

21 Over 90 class members filed a petition with the cowrt, also unprecedented, asking the court not to approve the
Amended Setilement but rather to approve a settlement where there would be a temporally unlimited and uncapped sec-
ond distribution of the surpius, As one petitioner expressed it: "1 hope the Honourable Judge sees our petition and gives
us some fairness."

22 The double bind for the court, however, is that approving the unfair Amended Settlement is monetarily better than
the alternative of not approving the Amended Settlement. Approving the unfair Amended Settlement also avoids re-
newed litigation and the collateral damage to the current employees of Canada Life and the Pelican, Indago, and Adason
Groups, who are indifferent to the unfair Amended Settlement and who just want to have this litigation at an end and
certainly not resumed.

23 The court cannot make a fair settlement for the parties, and for the reasons that follow, my conclusion s that the
Amended Seitlement is not fair. The disappointment and anger of the objectors and the reasons for their objection are
reasonable, and, 1 agree with them that the Ainended Settlement is unfair. In my opinion, the Amended Settlement is all
of substantively, procedurally, circumstantially, and institutionally unfair. Therefore, I shall not approve it. Approving
an unfair settlement would be contrary to both the letter and the spirit of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992, Tt also would
be inconsistent with the court's responsibilities when asked to review a settlement under the Act. I cannot in judicial
good conscience put the court's endorsement to the Amended Settlement, Accordingly, I dismiss the motion,

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

24  The Representative Plaintiffs are David Kidd, Alexander Harvey, Jean Paul Marentette, Garry C. Yip, Louie
MNuspl, Susan Henderson, and Lin Yeomans. '

25 Each of the Representative Plaintiffs is or was a member or former member of the Pension Plan, They are also
members of Canada Life Canadian Pension Plan Members' Rights Group ("CLPENS™), which is a voluntary, unincorpo-
rated association of members and former members of the Pension Plan. CLPENS includes active employees, pension-
ers, deferred vested pension members, and former Canada Life employees whose employment was terminated as a re-
sult of various partial wind-ups. The members of the CLPENS Executive Committee have actuarial experience and are
knowledgeable about the operation of the Canada Life Pension Plan.

26 Class Counsel for the Plaintiffs Kidd, Harvey, Marentette, Henderson and Yeomans are Koskie Minsky LLP and
Harrison Pensa LLP. Class Counsel for the Plaintiffs Yip and Nuspl is Sack Goldblatt Mitchell LLP.

27 The Plaintiffs' action was against Canada Life and against A.P. Symons, D. Allen Loney, and James R. Grant, who
are the trustees of the Canada Life Canadian Employees' Pension Plan,

28 The original trust agreement for a pension plan for Canada Life employees was established on December 31,
1964. Canada Life is the sponsor and administrator of the Pension Plan. The Pension Plan is funded through a trust
agreement between Canada Life and the Trustees of the Fund.

29  Effective January 1, 1997, the Pension Plan was merged with The Canada Life Assurance Company Trust Cana-
dian Staff Pension Fund (1958) and The Canada Life Assurance Company Trust Canadian Agents' Pension Fund, A
consolidated Pension Plan was created, and the associated funds were merged into a singte fund.
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30 A major issue in this class action is who owns the surplus in the Pension Plan. Pension surplus is the excess value
of the assets in a pension plan over the value of the liabilities, both calculated in a manner prescribed by pension laws.
The amount of surplus at any given time is actuarially determined under set gnidelines and prescribed factors. It will
become important to understand that at any given time, a pension surplus is a legal fiction. A pension surplus only be-
comes tangible and real when trust fund monies calculated at a particular date are actually paid out to the owners of the

surplus.

31 In this class action, the Plaintiffs claimed that the 1997 amendments to the Pension Plan and other amendments
relating to the possibility of reversion of surplus assets to Canada Life on plan and fund termination were unlawful and
of no force or eftect. The Plaintiffs’ position was that the Pension Plan surplus belonged to the Class Members.

32 During the course of its administration of the Pension Plan, Canada Trust made certain amendments to the plan
documents that permitted it to charge expenses to the pension fund. In the class action, the Plaintiffs alleged that the
plan expense amendiments were a breach of contract and a breach of trust.

33 During the course of its administration of the Pension Plan, Indago Capital Management Inc., a subsidiary of Can-
ada Life, whose employees participated in the Pension Plan, merged with another corporation. As a result of the merger,
the emptoyment of 14 employees of Indago was terminated, but there was no partial wind-up of the Pension Plan with
respect to the termination of employment.

34  During the course of its administration of the Pension Plan, the employment of 37 employees of Adason Proper-
ties Limited, a subsidiary of Canada Life, was terminated, but there was no partial wind-up of the Pension Plan with
respect to the termination of employment.

35 During the course of its administration of the Pension Plan, the employment of 38 employees of Pelican Food Ser-
vices Limited, a subsidiary of Canada Life, was terminated, but there was no partial wind-up ofthe Pension Plan with
respect to the termination of employment.

36 In 2003, a partial wind-up of the Pension Plan within the meaning of the Pension Benefits Act, R.8.0. 1990, c. P.8
was declared as of July 10, 2003 in relation to members of the Pension Plan who were terminated from employment,
retired or resigned voluntarily from the Company as a result of the integration of Canada Life with The Great-West Life

Assurance Company,

37  As of June 30, 2005, Canada Life's Partial Wind-up Report for the Integration Group disclosed an estimated par-
tial wind-up surplus of approximately $93 million attributable to the Integration Group.

38 In 2005, the Representative Plaintiffs Kidd and Harvey retained Koskie Minsky LLP and Harrison Pensa LLP for
their advice and services in relation to the Integration Group Partial Wind-up and about the issue of Canada Life charg-

ing expenses to the fund.

39 M. Kidd commenced a class action by Notice of Action issued on April 12, 20035, and filed on May 11, 2005. Mr.
Marentette commenced a similar action by Statement of Claim issued on February 3, 2005. He discontinued his action,
and he was added as a Plaintiff to Mr. Kidd's action.

40  These actions were commenced after CLPENS had filed a complaint with the Ontario pension regulator. The
complaint led to an investigation by the Financial Services Commission of Ontario ("FSCO™), which investigation was
suspended, pending the resolution of the class action.

41 In the class action, the Plaintiffs made three major claims; (1) they claimed that amendments to the Pension Plan
concerning the reversion of surplus assets to Canada Life on Plan and Fund termination were unlawful; (2) they claimed
that Canada Life had wrongfully been reimbursed for expenses charged to the Pension Plan in excess of $41 million;
and (3} they claimed that certain groups of employees had a claim for a partial winding-up of the Pension Plan. The
action sought winding up orders with respect to the Integration, Pelican, Indago, and Adason Groups.

42 In October, 2005, the Plaintiffs filed material supporting a motion for certification. The motion for certification
was scheduled to be heard in February, 2006, but the original certification motion was adjourned pending settlement
discussions,

43 In April 2007, the parties attended a two-day mediation session facilitated by Justice Winkler, as he then was. The
mediation resulted in an agreement on the framework for a potential settlement,

44  Negotiations continued, and on November 9, 2007, the parties signed a Memorandum of Understanding,.
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45  Between 2008 and 2010, the parties continued their negotiations about the details of the proposed settlement. Dur-
ing these negotiations, the Indago, Pelican, and Adason Partial Wind-Ups claims were added to the agenda of matters to

be settled.

46 It was part of the plan to settle that Canada Life would, in effect, restart its Pension Plan under a new trust, which
would receive the assets from the Pension Plan. Implementation would also require a court application to obtain a varia-

tion of trust,

47  The negotiations culminated in the Surplus Settlement Agreement, which I have labelled the Approved Settlement.
The Surplus Settlement Agreement was conditional on obtaining certain levels of consent from past and present plan

members.
48  The Surplus Settlement Agreement (the Approved Settlement) involved five key elements:

(1) the assets of the Pension Plan would be transferred to a new Pension Plan;

(2)  administrative expenses would be paid from the assets of the new Pension Plan;

(3  cligible active Plan members would be able to suspend their contributions to the Plan for
two years; (The value of the contribution holiday for active Plan members is $4.6 mil-
fion.)

(4)  former Plan members affected by a partial wind-up and other Plan members not included
in a partial wind-up (deferred/vested members and pensioners) would each receive a share
of the surplus assets {estimated to be worth $49.4 million) related to the partial wind-ups
of the Pension Plan; and '

(5}  Canada Life would also receive a share of the surplus related to the partial wind-ups {es-
timated to be worth $21.5 million).

49  Under the Approved Settlement: (a) plan members would receive 57.22% of the surplus for their designated part
of the Pension Plan; (b) inactive plan members would receive 12.44% of the designated surplus; and (c) Canada Life
would receive 30.34% of the surplus allocable to the partial winding ups.

50 I March 2011, a detailed information package was sent to all persons included under the Surplus Settlement
Agreement (the Approved Settiement).

51 Following mailing of the Information Packages, a total of 15 meetings were held in cities across Canada (Vancou-
ver, Calgary, Regina, Toronto, London, Montreal and Halifax) to describe the agreement and to provide an opportunity
to Class Members to ask questions. At each of the mneetings, presentations were made by Canada Life, a CLPENS rep-
resentative, and Mr. Kidd's counsel. There were also meetings held with active employees of Canada Life to respond to
some of their concerns, on May 17, 18, and 19, 2011, in Regina, London, and Tovonto respectively.

52 By order dated October 26, 2011, I certified this action as a class action for setflement purposes. See Kidd v Can-
ada Life, 2011 ONSC 6324.

53  There was a great deal of support for the proposed settlement. There are 5,228 persons in the classes, As of Janu-
ary 3, 2012, 4,293 Class Members in the Integration Group (82%) voted in favour of settling their claims in accordance
with the Surplus Settlement Agreement. Overall, there were just 57 no votes, There was one objector,

54  The parties moved for approval of the Approved Settlement, which I granted on January 27, 2012, for reasons
released on February 6, 2012, See: Kidd v Canada Life, 2012 ONSC 749.

55  Asapart of the settlement, Canada Life required an order approving a variation of trust pursuant to the Variation
of Trusts Act, R.5.0. 1990, ¢. V.1 and the rule from Saunders v. Vautier, (1841), Cr. & Ph. 240, 41 ER. 482. This too
was granted.

56 1also approved: (a) Sack Goldblatt Mitchell ELP's fee request of $119,911.47 for legal services to the Adason
Group pius $105,000 for future legal work; and {b) Koskie Minsky L.LP and Harrison Pensa LLPs' fee request of

$4,667,845 plus applicable taxes and disbursements of $60,601.84 plus payment for post-settlement work at an hourly
rate without multiplier. Class Counsel was to receive approximately $5 million for fees and disbursements under the

Approved Setftlement.
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57  The value of the confribution holiday for active Plan members was $4.6 million, Thus, the total financial benefit to
Class Members from the Approved Settlement was ¢stimated to be $54 million, plus payment of all of their legal fees
and expenses estimated at $5 miilion.

58 However, one month after the settlement had been approved, Class Counsel were advised by Canada Life that the
Integration Group's surplus had decreased to $23.7 million. The explanations for the decrease were that: (a) changes in
interest and inflation assumptions with respect to annuity purchases had increased the actuarial cost of these expenses;
and (b) a higher than assumed take-up rate of the guaranteed pension option for members of the Integration Group had
increased the liabilities, depleting the surplus.

59  To be more precise, on February 23, 20612, legal counsel to Canada Life provided to Class Counsel a memoran-
dum reflecting updated information on the estimated actuarial surplus available for distribution under the Approved
Settlement. The memorandum from Canada Life's actuary indicated that as at December 31, 2011, the Integration Par-
tial Wind Up surplus had diminished from an estimated $54 million as at June 30, 2011 to approximately $23.7 million.

60  The Plaintiffs and the CLPENS Executive Committee were sceptical about the fruth of Canada Life's calculation
of the Integration Group's surplus, and with the assistance and guidance of Class Counsel and the actuarial advisor;
Class Counsel investigated the information provided by Canada Life. They satisfied themselves that it was correct from
an actuarial perspective. '

61 The Plaintiffs and Class Counsel also exptored solutions, and twe possible solutions were initially identified: {1)
delay the implementation of the Approved Settlement to allow a recovery in interest rates with the hope that the surplus
would recover; and (2) provide annuities to members of the Integration Group, with indexation provided through an
inflation hedging product created and insured by a third party, with a view to reducing the plan liabilities.

62  With these solutions in mind, Class Counsel approached counsel to Canada Life to initfate negotiations aimed at
amending the Approved Settlement.

63 The parties attended case management conferences before me on April 20 and May 7, 2012 to report on the situa~
tion and to obtain approval of a notice to update Class Members of the situation.

64 Notices were approved and sent to Class Members by direct mail on or before May 15, 2012, and also posted to
Class Counsel's website. The letters described the precipitous decline in the Integration Group's surplus and informed
the Class Members that the parties were working together to address the situation, The letters were modified for each
group because the problems mostly concerned the Integration Group.

65 Meanwhile, the surplus continued to decline through 2012, and as of August 31, 2012, the Integration Groups' part
of the surplus was estimated to be just $2.6 million.

66  Based on the new estimates of the surplus and Class Members' share of 69.66% plus the value of the contribution
holiday, the monetary value of the Approved Settlement to Class Members was $14.4 million, down from $54 million.

67 Pausing here, in order fo understand some of the arguments of the parties discussed below, it is important to ap-
preciate that the reason the surplus in the Pension Plan for the Integration Group declined has nothing to do with a de-
cline in the value of the assets held by the Pension Plan. In fact, the value of the assets has increased slightly.

68 The reason that the surplus was vaporizing was that the actuarially estimated value of the cost of providing future
pension benefits {which estimate is subtracted from the value of the assets to determine whether the plan is in a surplus
or deficit position) had increased because of low interest rates and because most Integration Group Plan Members were
electing to stay with the Pension Plan rather than choosing the option of taking the commuted value of their pension
benefits,

69  The principle reason for the increase in liabilities was the decline in yields on Government of Canada real-return,
long-term bonds. For example, at December 31, 2008, this yield was reported at 2.10%, whereas at December 31, 2011,
the yield was reported at 0.45%. At August 31, 2012, the yield on real-retum, long-term bonds was 0.40%.

70  Returning to the factuat background, the Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, the CLPENS Executive Committee, and their
expert actuarial advisor, Marcus Robertson, had extensive discussions to analyze the information, to test its accuracy,
and to consider next steps. Mr. Robertson is a fellow of the Canadian Institute of Actuaries, a former partner in the firm
of Robertson, Eadie & Associates. He had been retained by the Plaintiffs to provide actuarial advice to the Plaintiffs and
Class Counsel throughout the class action.
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71 Inthe inferim, Canada Life proceeded to solicit bids for annuities for members of the Integration Group who
elected a guaranteed pension option under the Approved Seitlement. However, they were no bidders. Canada Life had
approached seven Canadian insurance providers (including Canada Life) for immediate and deferred indexed annuities
as required under the Approved Settlement. All seven annuity providers declined to take on the business, apparently
because of the complicated indexing provisions in the Pension Plan, the number of deferred members, the deferral peri-
ads, the unavailability of assets to back the liabilities, and the size of the request,

72 With no annuities to be had, Canada Life decided it could implement the Approved Settlement in another way. In
August 2012, Canada Life proposed to unilaterally transfer the assets and liabilities of the Integration Group into the
ongoing portion of the Pension Plan, and proceed with the implementation of the Approved Settlement. By this time,
the anticipated surplus had continued its decline in value, and there was the prospect that there would be no surplus.
Canada Life's plan would crystallize the surplus, stop the bleeding, and avoid the risk that the surplus would become a
deficit, for which it as plan sponsor would become responsible under the Pension Benefits Act.

73 In other words, because there was no market in Canada for the annuities, Canada Life proposed unilaterally to
transfer the liabilities of the partial winding up to the ongoing portion of the Pension Plan, which had been re-
established under the Approved Settlement in a way favourable to Canada Life, The Integration Group's surplus would
be calculated, in part, on estimated rather than actual annuity prices,

74  Canada Life took the position that no amendment to the Approved Settlement was necessary following the drop in
the surplus, while Class Counsel viewed the Approved Settlement as unworkable and Canada 1.ife's plans as a breach of

contract.

75  The Plaintiffs brought a motion returnable on September 27, 2012 objecting to Canada Life's plans about how to
implement the Approved Settlement and seeking the appointment of a mediator.

76  In their motion, the Plaintiffs sought a declaration that the unilateral actions proposed by Canada Life would
breach the terms of the Approved Settlement. Both sides filed evidence that provided details about the circumstances
leading to the reduction in the estimated Integration Group's surplus.

7% The motion was not argued. I made the following endorsement.

This motion for a declaration has been settled on the following terms that shall be incorporated
into a court order:

i. Canada Life may proceed to file with FSCO the transfer report concerning the transfer of
the Integrationn PWU assets and liabilities to the ongoing plan.

2. The Representative Plaintiffs shall not object to any such filing and transfer of assets and
Habilities to the ongoing plan subject to paragraph 4 below.

3. If the parties do not reach an agreement on the implementation of the Surplus Sharing

Agreement within 45 days from today, the court shall appoint a mediator to assist the par-
ties in reaching an agreement; and

4, I no agreement is reached about implementing the Surplus Sharing Agreement, the Rep-
resentative Plaintiffs reserve the right to take such action as they may be advised.

78 Following the settlement of the motion, Justice Strathy agreed to act as mediator to assist the parties in resolving
their dispute.

79 In December 2012, the parties attended a one-day mediation, and negotiations in writing followed until the parties
came to an agreement to revise the Approved Settlement. The main terms of the Amended Settlement are as follows:

* Canada Life will fund top-up payments (at an estimated cost of $1.2 million) in order to
ensure that Integration Group will receive the promised minimum surplus shares of
$1,000 required under the Approved Settlement.

* Canada Life will waive its right fo any interest on the amount of its expense reimburse-
ment under the Approved Settlement {(estimated value $800,000).

* Canada Life will waive its right to reimbursement of $500,000 of its professional fees.
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* The Plaintiffs and CLPENS Executive Comunittee will waive their entitlement to reim-
bursement of future legal fees (but not disbursements) previously approved by the Court
(estimated at $200,000),

* For any member of the Integration Group who elected to receive a deferred or inmediate

pension, their portability rights would be satisfied by Canada Life transferring their assets
to the ongoing portion of the Plan effective August 31, 2012,

* The assets and liabilities related to members of the Tntegration Group who elected a de-
ferred or immediate pension will be notionally segregated (the "Segregated Portion"} until
the completion of a second distribution, if any.

* If a surpius exists for the notionally segregated Integration Groups assets as at December
31, 2014, there will be a second distribution to the Integration Group and Inactive Eligible
Class Members subject to the conditions that:

) 10% ofthe 2014 Gross Surplus shall be deducted off the top and remain in the Plan
as a cushion;

0 The 2014 Gross Surplus will be reduced to take into account any contributions and
other payments (together with interest at the Plan rate of return) made by Canada
Life into the Plan after August 31, 2012 and that are notionally allocated io the Seg-
regated Portion.

0 69.66% of the net Surplus, to a maximum of $15 million, will be paid to the Integra-
tion Group and Inactive Eligible Class Members.

o in order to avoid distributing numerous small amounts, the threshold for surplus
payments under the possible second distribution is $100,

0 I any individual would be receiving $100 or less, no payment will be made 1o that
individual and the individual's surplus share will instead be shared with the remain-
ing members (if any) who are receiving $100 or more.

80 Under the Amended Settlement, it is anticipated that the surplus for the first distribution for the Integration Group
will be $4,116,740.

81 I pause here to foreshadow that one of the major objections to the Amended Settlement are about the terms that
circumscribe the possible second distribution to the Itegration Group.

82  With the approval of the court, letters were sent to all Class Members in February 2013, describing the proposed
amendment to the Approved Settlement and giving notice of the next steps in the proceeding, including this fairness
hearing,

83  Since the mailing of the notices, Class Counsel has fielded over 70 inguiries by Class Members, and Class Coun-
sel has communicated with the objectors.

84  The Representative Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, and their actuarial advisor believe that the Amended Settlement is
the best agreement that can be achieved, They recommend the Amended Settlement as fair, reasonable, and in the best
interests of the Class, given the circumstances.

85 [t was Mr. Robertson's opinion that the dramatic reduction in the estimated value of the surplus was directly re-
fated to the decline in yields on Government of Canada real-return, long-term bonds and that this decline was a direct
result of econoiic forces beyond the control of the parties. It was his opinion that giving some Class Members the pos-
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sibility of a future surplus distribution ameliorates this economic misfortune and that overall Amended Settlement pre-
sents a hetter outcome than if the Approved Settlement were imptemented without any amendment,

86  As ofthe date of the fairness hearing, Class Counsel had received 15 written objections to the Amended Settle-
ment and a petition from over 90 objector-Class Members was filed with the court. T will describe the nature of the ob-
jections [ater in these Reasons for Decision.

87 Inaddition, Class Counsel exchanged emails with Class Member Dan Anderson. Mr. Anderson, who has an actu-
arial background, also participated in two lengthy conference calls with Ms. Clio Godkewitsch of Koskie Minsky LLP
and Mr. Robinson, the actuary for the Plaintiffs,

88  Mr, Anderson's concerns about the Amended Settlement were not placated, and he set them out in two information
sheets his concerns. Several of the objectors relied on Mr. Anderson's information sheets that were made attachments to

some of the written objections,
89 At the fairness hearing I spent several hours listening and speaking with the objectors. I heard from five objectors:
Paul Ludzki, Fred Taggart, Anne Carey, Dan Anderson, and Emily Truong,

111, THE POSITION OF THE PLAINTIFFS

90 The Plaintiffs and Class Counsel belicve that the Amended Settlement presents the best set of terms that could be
negotiated under unanticipated circumstances that seriously undermined implementation of the Approved Settlement.

91  They submit that Class Counsel, who are very experienced in pension matters and class proceedings, diligently
investigated the reasons for the diminution of the surplus and sought to negotiate a reasonable set of amendments in
adversarial arm's length negotiations, In their view, these factors favour approving the Amended Settlement.

92  They point out that mediation and negotiations continued over almost nine months and each of the parties were
independently represented and advised by sophisticated legal and actuarial professionals. They note that the terms of the
Amended Settlement were reached with the assistance of Justice Strathy in his capacity as a neutral mediator.

93  On the merits of the settlement, the Plaintiffs submit the analytical question for the court is whether the proposed
Amended Settlement is better for the class than the starus guo of implementing the Approved Settlement to the extent
that this is even possible. In this regard, they submit that the question for the court is whether Class Members are likely
to recover more from the proposed Amended Seftlement than under the Approved Settlement.

94 The proponents submit that the answer to this question is yes, because under the Approved Settlement, the Integra-
tion Group would recover $1.8 miltion (its share of $2.6 million), assuming that the surplus does not diminish further
before distribution, Under the Approved Settlement, there will be insufficient funds to pay the minimum $1,000 surplus
payments and there would be no possible future distribution. In contrast, under the Amended Settlement, the Integration
Group will receive at least $1,000 per eligible member and there is the possibility of a future distribution of surplus in
2014, if available.

95  Further, Class Counsel submits that approval of the Amended Settlement is superior to the alternative of revived
litigation. Class Counsel and the Plaintiffs believe that without the Amended Settlement, the Approved Settlement can-
not be implemented because it requires Canada Life to purchase indexed annuities for members of the Integration
Group, which Canada Life cannot do and it requires eligible Class members to receive a minimum cash distribution of
$1,000, which is impossible, given the status of the Integration Group's surplus. However, Canada Life disputes that the
Approved Settlement cannot be implemented and obviously it disagrees that it is breaching the Approved Settlement.

96 Canada Life's position raises the issue of whether or not there is a means of challenging any future steps taken by
Canada Life to implement the Approved Settlement over the objections of the Plaintiffs. For present purposes, more
significantly, the Plaintiffs and Class Counsel assett that Amended Settlement is better for the class than the alternative
of ltigation about the Approved Settlement or about the original claims in the class action,

97  The Plaintiffs submit that continued litigation does not represent a viable alternative, as no litigation can restore
the surplus. They point out that the estimates of surplus were always variable and dependent on factors such as interest
rates and the cost of purchasing annuities and thus the amount of the surplus was never guaranteed, nor could it ever be
guaranteed. Further, they note that the plan expense claim of the Plaintiffs has already been compromised, and stands a
very limited chance of success given the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Nofan v. Kerry (Canada) Inc.
[20609] 2 S.C.R. 678.
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98 The Plaintiffs submit that revived litigation would be lengthy and expensive and would not have the result of in-
creasing the surplus. Indeed, they submit that the situation may get worse and even the current small surplus may van-
ish.

99  The Plaintiffs submit that it would not be fair to the Indago, Pelican, and Adason Groups to hold up the Approved
Settlement because of the plight of the Integration Group. In a message from the CLPENS Executive Committee dated
March 12, 2013 to class members, the Executive stated:

What to do?

Technically, CLPENS could have asked the Court to set aside the previously-approved settlement
on the grounds that it could not be implemented as written. It is not clear that the Court would
have done so and, even if the Court agreed to this course of action, we would have been back to
the scenario of returning to court to argue about the ownership of the {much diminished) surplus.
However, by doing do so, no Class Member would receive any current payment. Although mem-
bers of the IPWU Group had little to lose and may have wished to pursue this strategy, members
of the other partial wind-up groups {Indago, Adason, Pelican Foods) had a lot to lose. As Non-
Partial Wind-up members (retivees, deferred vested members and active members) would be part
of any subsequent court action, they would receive nothing. Accordingly, CLPENS did not think
it right to pursue a solution that eliminated all current payouts in return for the possibility of the
partial wind-up groups being declared owners of whatever plan surplus existed at an unknown fu-
ture date. ... In conclusion, while the outcome of our class action is disappointing, it is the result
of unprecedented market developments and your Executive Commiltee believes that the amended
settlement is the best result achievable in the circumstances.

100 The Plaintiffs and Class Counsel submit that the outcome is fair and reasonable and in the best interests of the
Class. They submit that the Amended Settlement ought to be approved.

IV. THE POSITION OF THE OBJECTORS
101 All of the objectors request the court to not approve the Amended Settlement.

102 Several of the objectors objected to the approval process, and they submit that they have been denied natural jus-
tice. They dispute that they have been properly apprised on the situation after the settlement was initially approved, and
they complain that they have not been given ample time or ample information about the causes of the problems and
about the merits of the Amended Settlement. This objection is well expressed by Fred J. Taggart in his letter to the court
dated March 8, 2013, Mr. Taggart states:

All this is being done via an amendment to the setttement, with no further information sessions
for plan members, no oppertunity to ask questions, and no opportunity to vote - yet members are
bound by all of the terms and conditions and concessions that they agreed to in the original set-
tlement when they would share in $62 million rather than $5 million.

103 Ms. Carey, one of the objectors who spoke at the fairness hearing, asked for an adjourninent in order to hire a )
lawyer to provide her with independent legal advice.

104  Several objectors found it incomprehensible that the Representative Plaintiffs and Class Counsel did not foresee
the problem caused by declining interest rates and the low numbers of class members choosing not fo take the com-
muted value of their pension benefits. Some objectors suggested that Canada Life duped or tricked or schemed to deny
them the surplus by purposely delaying the litigation precisely because they knew that the surplus would be depleted.

105 Several objectors felt that they had been deceived when they agreed to the Approved Settlement and that the
Amended Settlement amounts to a revocation of the Approved Settlement. An example of this objection is provided by
Ms. Anne Carey in her ¢-mail message dated March 12, 2013. She writes:

- With respect to the substance of the matter, T think it is necessary to emphasize as strongly as
possible that the resolution which is being presented at this time does not constitute a minor
change or "amendment" but rather represents a virtual rescind of everything that was proposed as
late as 2011, when we were asked to agree on the settlement proposed. Specifically, it had been



Page 12

previously confirmed in written communication that T was entitled to approximately $38,000 of
surplus, at this point, the "amendment” is offering me a meagre $1,000 in lieu of this $38,000,
and others I know stand to lose upwards of $57,000 to $98,000.

106  Several objectors expressed the view that the Integration Group was being singled out for unfair treatment. Ob-
Jjectar Mary-Anne Matthews is representative of this view point. In her objection, she wrote:

While T can appreciate and understand that Koskie Minsky, the Plaintiffs and the CLPENS group
has done on the members’ behalf, particularly over the past year, I feel that the proposed amend-
ment to the settlement is not the best for all of us and I would have preferred a delayed settlement
for the [Integration Group] until the economy and interest rates recover to a degree that would af-
ford us an increase in the surplus. It appears to me as though Canada Life/Great West Life will
continue to enjoy the benefits afforded to them in the original settlement while those of us in the
[Integration Group) (excluding Indago, Pelican Foods and Adason, as well as the current Canada
Life employees) will be sacrificing their [benefits]. If the group had an opportunity to come to-
gether with one voice, [ believe that as a group we would be opposed to the amended proposal be-
ing put forth on March 18, 2013. This settlement is not what we voted for in 2011,

107  Several objectors found the proposal under the Amended Settlement for a second distribution of surplus unfair
and unreasonable. This objection is again well expressed by Mr. Taggart in his letter, where he states:

Now that the assets and liabilities have been fransferred to the on-going plan, what happens if and
when interest rates recover to a historically normal level? Don't the liabilities shrink as rapidly as
they ballooned, thus restoring the healthy surplus that the plan has enjoyed for decades? With a
certain set of assumptions, we've seen nearly $100 million disappear in the last 6 years. With a
different set of assumptions, might we see the $100 million reappear in the next 6 years? it is
unlikely that we will see a rebound by December 31, 2014 as the US Fed is on record to hold in-
terest rates steady until at least mid-2014. However, if it did magically occur, why would the sec-
ond surplus distribution be capped at $15 million?

It seems to this observer that Canada Life has seen a window of opportunity to move assets and
liabilities to the ongoing plan, temporarily value the liabilities at historically low interest levels,
distribute a severely diminished surplus to the plan members, and then wait for rising interest
rates to restore the healthy surplus that the plan has enjoyed for many years. ... Canada Life has
locked the members' surplus ¢laims into these tough economic circuimstances while insulating
their own share and in fact the entire PWU surplus from those same economic circumstances.

108  Many of the ohjectors, were upset that the Amended Settlement was vastly different from what they expected
when they voted for approval of the Accepted Settlement. Susan Marles made the point neatly in her e-mail message.
She wrote:

I am a [Integration Group] member, Like many other members, T am greatly concerned, confused
and highty suspicious in the huge drop in surplus. T had agreed to the original surplus settlement
based on the amount of surplus what was detailed to me at that time. I understand now that
amount in the proposed setilement will be $1,000, which: is vastly different from the amount in
which I made the decision to support the surplus settlement. I am objecting to the amendment to
the original settlement.

109 Al of the objectors were disappointed; some were angry. Several objectors found the commitments of Class
Counsel and Canada Life under the Amended Settlement to augment what remains of the surplus paltry and insulting.

V. DISCUSSION

1 Jurisdiction 1o Vary an Approved Settlement in a Class Proceeding

110 As far as I am aware, this is the first time that parties to an alveady approved settlement agreement in a class ac-
tion have sought approval to an amendment to the agreement. The Plaintiffs submit that the court has the jurisdiction to
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grant this relief from two sources; namely: {a} under Rule 59.06(2)(d} of the Rules of Civil Procedure; and (b) under s.
12 of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992,

111 Rule 59.06(2){d) of the Rules of Civil Procedure states:
59.06(2) A party who seeks to, [...]
(dY  obtain other relef than that originally awarded,

may make a motion in the proceeding for the relief claimed.

112 Section 12 of the CPA states:

12, The court, on the motion of a party or class member, may make any order it considers appropriate
respecting the conduct of a class proceeding to ensure its fair and expeditious determination and,
for the purpose, may impose such terms on the parties as it considers appropriate.

113 I do not think that s. 12 of the Class Proceedings Act, 1992 applies to the circumstances of this case, because [ do
not regard settlement approval to be an order respecting the conduct of a class proceeding to ensure its fair and expedi-
tious determination, and it would be odd o resort to this section of the Act, when s. 29 (2) deals expressty with the ap-
proval of any settlement. Section 29 (2) states: "A settlement of a class proceeding is not binding unless approved by the
court.”

114 1t seems obvious to me that s. 29 (2} applies to the circumstances of this case. The parties have entered into a
settlement and they seek court approval.

115 In my opinion, I have jurisdiction under s. 29 (2) to approve or deny approval of the proposed Amended Setile-
ment, and [ do not need to resort to rule 59.06 (2).

2. Is the Amended Settlement Fair, Reasonable, and in the Best Interests of those Affected
by it?

116  The design of North American class action regimes is to advance access to justice through a representative action
with (a) a genuine claimant, the representative plaintiff, who is the party with legal standing to advance the class mem-
bers' claims and to represent the class members; and (b) an entrepreneurial Class Counsel, who bears the financial risk
of failure but who shares in the class members' aggregate success. Most class actions settle, and under s. 29 (2) of the
Class Proceedings Act, 1992, a settlement of a class proceeding must be approved by the court to be binding on the par-
ties.

117 As1noted, in Berry v. Pulley, 2011 ONSC 1378 at para. 80, Class Counsel is confronted with an inherent con-
flict of interest when proposing a settlement of a class action. I stated:

80.  Asis well known, the settlement of class actions raises very difficult ethical problems for class
counsel because of the inherent conflicts of interest that arise because class counsel has an enor-
mous financial interest in the class members' causes of action. There is also the potential conflict
of interest of class counsel of having legat and ethical responsibilities to class members whose in-
terests are not homogeneous.

118  Settlement approval is the most important and difficult task for a judge under all class action regimes, including
Ontario's Class Proceedings Act, 1992. Since most class actions settle, the integrity and the legitimacy of class actions
as a means to secure access to justice largely depend upon the court properly exercising its role in the settlement ap-
proval process. In scratinizing a settlement, the court is called on to protect the interests of the class members who are to
be bound by the outcome and who will be compelled to release their claims against the defendant in exchange for their
participation in the class action settlement.

119  The design of the approval process requires the court to carefully scrutinize any proposed settlement. The design
of the approval process: (a) requires the proponents of the settlement to justify it; (b) provides an opportunity for those
affected by the settlement to be heard: and (c) requires the court to evaluate the settlement and make a formal order.
This design is meant both to deter bad settlements and also (o ensure good ones that achieve the goals of the class action
regime; namely: access to justice, behaviour modification, and judicial economy.
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120 Of'these goals of class actions, the most important for the approval process is access to justice, because a settle-
ment always achieves judicial economy, and a settlement may sometimes not achieve behaviour modification yet still be
a good settlement. However, a settlement will be a bad settlement if it does not achieve procedural and substantive ac-
cess to justice. The court's job is to review a proposed settlement to ensure that the class members have achicved access
to justice through a representative action,

121 The judge's task is difficult because judges are more accustomed and more comfortable adjudicating in the con-
text of an adversarial system, but at the time of the settlement approval process, the active parties to the class action are
no longer adversarial, and they all will be recommending the settlement,

122 1think judges are up to the task, but they are required to be more Inquisitorial and to compensate for the adver-
sarial void by being diligent in testing the one-sided arguments of the proponents of the settlement and by being atten-
tive to the views of objectors who may provide cogent counter-arguments fo the united front promoting the settlement.

123 There is a great deal of academic literature and criticism about the law and practice of class action settlements,
most of it from the Unitéd States, but there are valuable Canadian studies including: C. Piché, Fairness in Class Action
Settlements (Toronto: Carswell, 2011); J. Kalajdzic, Access fo Justice for the Masses? A Critical Analysis of Class Ac-
tions i Ontario {LL.M. Thesis: University of Toronto, 2009); G. Watson, "Settlement Approval - The Most Difficult
and Problematic Area of Class Action Practice” {(NJI Conference on Class Actions, 2008); C. Jones, Theory of Class
Actions (Toronto: Frwin Law, 2003). There are also some settlement approval manuals for judges including: S. Marcus
(ed,), Manual for Complex Litigation (4th) (Washington, D.C.: Federal Judicial Centre, 2004) and B.J. Rothstein and
T.G. Willging, Managing Class Action Litigation: A Pocket Guide for Judges (2nd ed.) (Washington, D.C.: Federal
Judicial Center, 2009).

124  Inthe case at bar, it was not a difficult task analyzing and approving the initial settlement of this action, the Ac-
cepted Settlement. The various factors favoured settlement, and there were no warning signs. I did not underiake a de-
tailed explanation of my decision to approve the Approved Settlement. However, in order for me to explain my judg-
ment not to approve the Amended Settlement, it will be necessary for me to review more fulsomely the law and the lit-
erature about settlement approval then I did when I approved the Approved Settlement, which was at a time when the
patties and the court's understanding of the circumstances of the Integration Group were different.

125 With respect to the law to be applied under s. 29 (2), I will begin by repeating what I said at paragraphs 108 to
111 of my reasons for granting approval to the Approved Settlement. I stated:

108. To approve a settlement of a class proceeding, the court must find that in all the circumstances
the settlement is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of those affected by it: Dabbs v. Sun
Life Assurance, [1998] O.]. No. 1598 (Gen. Div.) at para. 9; Parsons v. Canadian Red Cross So-
ciety, [1999] 0.J. No. 3572 {(S.C.J.) at paras. 68-73.

109. In determining whether to approve a settlement, the court, without making findings of facts on the
merits of the litigation, examines the fairness and reasonableness of the proposed settlement and
whether it is in the best interests of the class as a whole having regard to the claims and defences
in the litigation and any objections raised to the settlement: Baxter v. Canada (Attorney General)
{2006), 83 O.R. (3d) 481 (8.C.1.) at para. 10,

110.  When considering the approval of negotiated settlements, the court may consider, among other
things: (a} likelihood of recovery or likelthood of success; (b) amount and nature of discovery,
evidence or investigation; (c) settlement terms and conditions; (d) recommendation and experi-
ence of counsel; (¢) future expenses and likely duration of litigation and risk; (f) recommendation
of neutral parties, (g} if any; number of objectors and nature of objections; (h) the presence of
good faith, arms' length bargaining and the absence of collusion; (i) the degree and nature of
communications by counsel and the representative parties with class members during the litiga-
tion; and (j) information conveying to the court the dynamics of and the positions taken by the
parties during the negotiation: Dabbs v. Sun Life Assurance Company of Canada (1998), 40 O.R.
(3d) 429 (Gen. Div.) at pp. 440-44, afl'd (1998), 41 O R. (3d) 97 (C.A.), leave (o appeal to
S.C.C,, [1998] S.C.C.A. No. 372; Parsons v. The Canadian Red Cross Society, [1999] 0.J. No.
3572 (8.C.1.) at paras. 71-72; Frohlinger v. Nortel Networks Corp., [2007] O.J. No. 148 (S.C.J.)
at para. 8; Kelman v. Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co., [2005] O.J. No. 175 (5.C.1.) at paras. 12-
13; ¥Vitapharm Canada Ltd. v. F. Hoffinann-La Roche Ltd (2005), 74 O.R. (3d) 758 (S8.C.1.) at
para. 117; Sutherlandv. Boots Pharmaceutical ple, {20027 0.J. No. 1361 (8.C.J.) at para. 10.
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111. A reasonable and fair settlement is inherently a compromise and a reasonable and fair settlement
will not be and need not be perfect from the perspective of the aspirations of the parties. That
some class members are disappointed or unsatisfied will not disqualify a settlement because the
measure of a reasonable and fair settlement is not unanimity or perfection. See: Baxter v. Canada
{Attorney General), [2006] O.J. No. 4968 (S.C.1) at para. 21; Dabbs v. Sun Life Assurance Com-
pany of Canada (1998}, 40 O.R. (3d) 429 (Gen. Div.) at p. 440, aff'd (1998), 41 OR. (34} 97
{C.A.), leave to appeal to S.C.C., [1998] S.C.C.A. No. 372.

126 As may be observed from this brief discussion of settlement approval, courts have developed a test for settlement
approval and courts have developed a non-exhaustive list of factors to use to apply the test. As it happens, the test for
seftlement approval is almost identical in Canadian and American class actions, and the test involves determining
whether the settlement is fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of class members.

127 Professor Piché in her text Fairness in Class Action Settlements, supra at pp. 179-80 summarizes the various
factors for the settlement approval test into seven factors; i.e.: (1) judicial risk analysis: likelihood of recovery, or likeli-
hood of success on the merits weighed against amount and form of settlement relief; (2) future expense, complexity and
likely duration of litigation; (3) class reaction; number and nature of objections; (4) recommendations and experience of
counsel and opinion of interested persons; (5) adequacy of representation: good faith and absence of collusion; (6) dis-
covery evidence sufficient for "effective representation” and (7) adequacy of notice of proposed settlement to absent
class members. Professor Piché observes that the first four factors are pertinent to substantive fairness and the remaining
three factors are pertinent to procedural fairness.

128  Professor Piché's summary is very helpful, but I would add o it by suggesting that in addition to using the vari-
ous factors to determine substantive and procedural fairess, the court should aiso examine circumstantial fairness and
institutional faimess.

129 By circumstantial fairness, I mean the fairmess of the seftlement to the parties and the class members in their part-
ticular circumstances, and by institutional fairness, I mean the fairmess of the settlement from the perspective of a robust
notion of access to justice that includes an outcome that objectively should satisfy the class members’ entitlement to
justice for their grievances.

130 Having regard to institutional fairness will elevate the standard for approval and send the message that courts will
not rubber stamp settlements and turn a blind eye to what are in truth strike suits or suits where the defendant or the
defendant's insurer pays a modest price for buying peace rather than paying a fair price to compensate the class mem-
bers for their injuries. Having regard to institutional fairness will send the message that the court will not rubber stamp
settlements where the law suit is genuine but Class Counsel are content to take a low-ball offer because it suits their
entrepreneurial business model, Having regard to institutional faimess will send the message that the court will not ap-
prove a settlement if through misadventure, incompetence, opportunism, lassitude, or fatigue the Representative Plain-
tiff and Class Counsel do not achieve a settlement that is truly fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of class mem-
bers.

131 Epstein v. First Marathon Inc. [2000] O.J1. No. 452 (8.C.1.) is one of the very few cases where a settlement has
been rejected, and it provides an example of a case where the proposed outcome would have been institutionalty unfair.
The proposed settlement was that Class Counsel would receive $190,000 in legal fees and that the class members would
receive nothing. The court viewed the settlement as demonstrating that the action was 4 strike suit, and the court would
not approve the settlement.

132  InCanada, a few settlements have been initially rejected but subsequently approved after the parties fixed an

apparent unfairness. See: Burnett Estafe v. St. Jude Medical Inc., [2009] B.C.J. 2403; G.M. v. Associated Selwyrn House,
2008 QCCS 395 and 2009 QCCS 989. Very few settlements have been rejected, and it would be salutary for the institu-
tion of class actions if the standard for settlement approval was elevated by having regard to the institutional fairness of

the settlement.

133 With these comments as background, I turn now to evaluate the Amended Settlement and to ¢xplain why in my
opinion, it is not substantively, procedurally, circumstantially, or institutionally fair. I will begin this part of the discus-
sion by noting the factors that were not particularly helpful.

134  In determining the fairness of the Amended Settlement, the following factors are not particularly helpful or they
are neutral, at best; namely: (a) amount and nature of discovery, evidence or investigation; (b) recommendation and
experience of counsel; (¢} recommendation of neuiral parties, if any; (d) the presence of good faith, arms’ length bar-
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gaining and the absence of collusion; and (e} information conveying to the court the dynamics of and the positions taken
by the parties during the negotiation.

135  The fact that a judge, in this case, Justice Strathy, or an experienced mediator facilitated a settlement is in my
opinion, nothing more than a narrative fact. 1 do not know what Justice Strathy's views are about the fairness of the
Amended Settlement and his involvement is no testimonial for the Amended Settlement.

136 The overall thrust of the unhelpful factors is that they are designed to satisfy the court that Class Counsel, which
has most to gain and most to lose in taking on a class action, is not acting in their own self-interest in recommending a
settlement, and they are designed to ensure the court that the proposed settlement is the product of hard-bargaining and
a genuine and intelligent evaluation of the merits of the litigation and the substantive merits of the settlement.

137  Inthe case at bar, I have no doubt that Class Counsel tried its best, but in light of the surprises since the Ap-
proved Settlement, this is not one of those cases where the court should give the Amended Settlement an "A” for effort.

138  Thus, the factors associated with the substantive merits of the Amended Settlement are the most weighty factors
in the case at bar. It is because of the importance I place on the substantive merits of the Amended Settlement, that I
regard the weighty factors to be: (a) the settlement terms and conditions; (b) number of objectors and nature of objec-
tions; (¢} likelihood of recovery or likelihood of success; and (d) future expenses and likely duration of litigation and
risk.

139 In the circumstances of the immediate case, I also regard the degree and nature of communications by counsel
and the representative parties with class members during the litigation as an important factor, but it is a factor that is
more pertinent to procedural and circumstantial fairness than it is to substantive fairness,

140 T turn now to the matter of substantive fairness. Having the above factors in mind, it is analytically helpful to
consider not only the substantive fairness of the Amended Settlement but also the fairness of three other settlements,
one of which is hypothetical. The other three settlements to consider are: (1) the Approved Settlement; (2) what I shall
call the Stark-Reality Scttlement; and (3) what 1 shall call the Objectors’ Settlement. An analysis of these four settle-
ments informs why I conclude that the Amended Settlement is substantively unfair.

141  In my opinion, at the time of its approval, the Approved Settlement was substantively fair. In other words, since
the dispute was about who owned a pension plan surplus estimated to be worth $64.3 million and whether Canada Life
should pay $41 million for wrongful expense charges, a substantively fair settlement was for the class to receive 70% of
the surplus, the current employees to receive a two-year contribution holiday, and Class Counsel to receive $5 million in
fees and disbursements,

142 As explained above, the Approved Settlement, however, was based on mistaken assumptions about future par-
ticipation in the Pension Plan and about the availability of annuities and on a false estimate of the surplus. The Ap-
proved Settlement has become the Stark-Reality Settlement.

143 In my opinion, the Stark-Reality Settlement, which is the first branch of the court's double-bind decision, is un-
fair. In other words, if the litigation were being settled today but without the mistakes and false estimates, the settlement
would be the Stark-Reality Scttlement. Under this settlement there is only one distribution of surplus and Class Mem-
bers would recover 70% of a smalt surplus and Class Counsel is paid $5 million in legal fees. In my opinion, the Stark-
Realty Settlernent is unfair.

144 A 70:30 split was fair in dividing up an estimated surplus of $64 million. A 70:30 split is not fair in dividing up a
surplus of $14 million, particularly when only Canada Life is in a position to weather the economic storm and where
Canada Life achieves significant benefits under the Stark-Reality Settlement (from a new trust arrangement that indis-
putably allows it to charge for services) and where its own right to claim 100% of any future surplus is unaffected. If
there was some component of behavior modification in conceding 70% of an estimated surplus of $64 million, there is
very little in conceding 70% of a surplus of $14 million, especially when Canada Life is left in a position to economi-
cally recover all of what it gives away once the economic conditions right themselves.

145  Further, a $5 million counse! fee under the Stark-Reality Settlement is unfair. The value of the Stark-Reality Set-
tlement to the Class Members is $14.4 million. In hindsight, knowing what I know now and did not know then, I would
not have approved the counsel fee because in the disappointing circumstances of this case, it would be disproportionate
(35%) to the value to the class of the settlement. See Lavier v. MyTravel Canada Holidays Inc., 2013 ONCA 92,
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146  This brings the analysis to a hypothetical settlement that [ shall call the Objectors’ Settlement. As noted above,
the objectors propose a different settlement than the one before the court. With two exceptions, the objectors would ac-
cept the terms of the Amended Settlement. The exceptions to the Amended Settlement are to remove the cap of $15
million and to extend the time period for a second distribution beyond the re-calculation date of December 31, 2014,

147  Analyzing the Objectors’ Settlement, in my opinion, an open-ended calculation date for the second distribution
would be unreasonable and unfair, but if the re-calculation date of December 31, 2014, at the choice of the Class Mem-
bers, could be waived and extended to December 31, 2017, then in my opinion, the Objector's Settlement would be fair,
reasonable, and in the best interests of the Class Members,

148 Recalling that the action commenced in 2005, when the surplus was closer to $100 niillion, and that it took seven
years to ntore or less deplete the surplus in 2012, a re-calculation date of 2017 is a faiier date to allow the economy to
turn over again than is 2014,

149 The Objector's Settlement Proposal addresses two manifestly unfair elements of the Amended Settlement, the
$15 million cap and the 2014 re-calculation date, discussed further below, but it does more, The Objector's Settlentent
addresses Canada Life's moral duty to take more responsibility for the fact that it campaigned for the Approved Settle-
ment with an unprecedented procedure that included a vote by Class Members.

150 In talking about moral duty, I do not mean to suggest a want of integrity or any moral turpitude. I ain rather al-
luding to Canada Life doing the decent, honourable, and right thing even though there may be no legal obligation to do
anything. T say nothing about whether there is a legal responsibility for the estimates and the promotional material, but it
seems to me that when Canada Lifc mounts an elaborate cross-country campaign for the Approved Settlement, there is a
moral responsibility to fully share the disappoiniment when the Approved Settlement becomes the Stark-Reality Settle-
ment even in the absence of a legal obligation.

151  To show itself as the better corporate citizen, Canada Life cannot simply wash its hands of the matter and say it
never guaranteed there would be a significant surplus and that it has exculpated itself from Hability by making no prom-
ises. There is a circumstantial unfairness if Canada Life does not adequately share the pain of the disappointment of its
inaccurate estimates of the surplus and as I will explain below, Canada Life does not adequately share the pain.

152 I wish to be clear, I am making no finding about whether Canada Life has any legal responsibitity for inducing
the Approved Settlement, and I am making no finding that the Class suffered any damages as a result of what occurred
in the making of the Approved Settlement. I also do not mean to shame Canada Life or Class Counsel. The circum-
stances were unfair, and it simply strikes me and many objectors that it is circumstantially unfair to persuade the Class
Members to endorse the Approved Settlement and then not do more to soften the disappointment of the electorate in the
substantive outcome of the campaign, which is the Stark-Reality Settlement.

153 With this background analysis, T now turn to the substantive fairness of the Amended Settlement.

154  The apparent purpose of the Amended Settlement is to lessen the pain of the disappearance of the surplus that
was to be shared by the Integration Group and Canada Life. However, under the Amended Settlement Class Counsel
and Canada Life, the proponents for the Amended Settlement, do very little to share the pain of the Integration Group.

155 Class Counsel for the Integration Group are to be modestly commended for their $200,000 indirect contribution
to the Amended Settlement, but the fact remains that they shall receive $4.6 million in counsel fees, I do not see much
sharing of the pain by Class Counsel.

156  As for Canada Life's sharing the pain, under the Amended Settlement with its $15 million cap, Canada Life's
proportionate share of any surplus is potentially increased, and unlike the Integration Group they have a temporally-
unlimited ability to recapture the diminishment of the surplus.

157 For Canada Life, there is no arbifvary 2014 deadline for recalculating the surplus in light of what might be better

economic conditions. Should there be a second distribution, the taking of 10% off the top of any second distribution and
the cap of $15 million is a disguised way for Canada Life to increase its share of the surplus from the 30.34% originally
allocated to it.

158 I appreciate that that Canada Life's share of the Integration Group's surplus also declined. It declined to 30.34%
of $3.9 million. Thus, Canada Life's share of the surplus is now around $1.2 million, which I observe is precisely the
sum that Canada Life is contributing to top up the surplus for the first distribution under the Amended Seitlement. Thus,
Canada Life is not necessarily contributing its own money to the Amended Settlement because there has never been a
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judicial determination of who actually owns the surplus. The issue of ownership was settled not resolved by the Ap-
proved Seitlement.

159  One may admire the negotiating acumen of Canada Life, but its acumen does not make the Amended Settlement
reasonable or fair or in the best interests of the Integration Group -

160 Further, I regard the 2014 date for re—calcu}ating the surplus as arbitrary and unfair. It is an offer of a faint hope.

161 Thus, in my opinion, the Accepted Seftlement was fair but is no longer fair. Nevertheless, transformed into the
unfair Stark-Reality Settlement, it remains a binding settlement. In my opinion, the Objectors’ Settlement as revised
would be fair, but it is a hypothetical settlement not before the court. In my opinion, the Amended Settlement is not sub-
stantively fair.

162  In my opinion, the Amended Settleinent is also not procedurally fair.

163 In the context of a representative action, procedural fairness is a nebulous concept. It is nebulous because as a
matter of civil procedure, the class members are bound by the result but typically, they are not actively involved in the
prosecution of the case, and they have ceded the control of the litigation to their representative and to Class Counsel. In
these circumstances, the standards for procedural fairness are unclear.

164 At the settlement approval stage, procedural fairness is usually achieved by a class member receiving adequate
notice of the terms of the settlement, having an opportunity to voice support or opposition, and having a right to make
representations at the fairness hearing.

165  This minimum standard for procedural fairness was met in the case at bar. However, in my opinion, the mini-
mum standard was not good enough for the circumstances of the Amended Agreement,

166 Having regard to such things as the unprecedented campaign for approval of a settlement agreement and the fact
that it is the position of both sides that the misfortune of false estimates was a matter of fickle fate and forces beyond
their control, the objectors needed something more than the minimum standard to provide them with procedural fair-
ness. In my opinion, the proponents of the Amended Agreement ought to have paid for a lawyer to provide the objectors
independent legal representation.

167 While the objectors, particularly the five who spoke at the fairness hearing, proved themselves to be good advo-
cates, their arguments would have been better made if they had been made by legal counsel with the skills to match
those of Class Counsel and counsel for Canada Life.

168  This last comment brings the discussion to the matter of ¢ircumstantial fairness and to the matter of what weight
should be given to the arguments and positions of the objectors and petitioners.

169 Ido not think that the Amended Agreement is circumstantially fair. First, there is the unfairness, discussed
above, of Class Counsel and Canada Life not sharing the disappointment caused by the false estimates. Second, it was
not fair for Canada Life, in circumstances where it had campaigned for the Approved Settlement and obtained signifi-
cant benefits, to potentially improve its proportionate share of the surplus by imposing a cap on the surplus to be shared.
Third, there is the unfortunate circumstance that the Pelican, Indago, and Adason Groups are being used as ransom for
the Amended Agreement. Fourth, and most significantly, the objectors oppose the Amended Settlement.

170  Historically, objectors to class action settlements have been few in number, perhaps because they cannot afford
to pay for legal representation and are intimidated by the process or perhaps because the harm they individually suffered
was never that much in the first place. Nevertheless, the proponents for a seitlement, typically, rely on the absence of
opposition as a point in favour of settlement approval. In the case at bar, there was almost no opposition to the Ap-

proved Settlement,

171 However, this is no longer the case. There is fierce opposition to the Amended Setttement, and the objectors as
individuals had a substantial personal interest to protect, While some of the criticism is misguided, much of the eriticism
is telling against the fairness of the Amended Settlement.

172 In my opinion, in the circumstances of this case, considerable weight should be given to the views of the objec-
tors, and they believe the Amended Settlement to be unfair.

173 Finally, I come to the matter of institutional fairness, which places the settlement approval process in the context
of the institutional purposes of class proceedings legislation.
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174  Inmy opinion, from the perspective of institutional fairness, there is little to commend the Amended Settiement.
The best that can be said for it is that it is monetarily better than the Stark-Reality Settlement that is the Approved Set-
tlement and better than the futility of renewed litigation.

175 However, I do not think that a court should approve an unfair settlement because it is the best monetary choice in
a double bind. The court should not approve a settlement unless it is all of fair, reasonable, and in the best interests of
the class. If the proposed settlement is not fair, the court should reject it. The court should not approve an unfair settle-
ment simply because it's the better of two unfair choices.

176 In this case, the Amended Settlement is substantively, procedurally, circumstantially, and institutionally unfair. T
do not approve it.

177  Some good may yet come of not approving the Amended Settlement. It is open to the partics to come back with a
fair settlement. But even if they do not, it will be a good thing for others to know that under the Class Proceedings Aci,
1992, the court will not approve an unfair settlement. If that has the effect of elevating the standard for other settle-
ments, then the institutional purposes of the class proceedings legislation of achieving meaningful access to justice will
be served.

VI  CONCLUSION
178 For the above reasons, 1 disiniss the motion.
179  There should be no order as to costs.
P.M. PERELL J.
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Overview

1 This is an action by the plaintiffs, Robert Charles McRitchie ("the Father') and Cathy Louise McRitchie ("the
Mother"), collectively ("the Parents"), under s. 61 of the Family Law Act, R.8.0. 1990, ¢. F.3 {("FLA"™) for damages
based on alleged medical negligence of various doctors and other health professionals in connection with the pre-mature
birth, disabilities and injuries suffered by their daughters, Jennifer McRitchie {"Jennifer"} and Heather McRitchie
{"Heather"), collectively ("the Twins"}. '

2 In addition, the Mother advances a claim of battery based on a certain drug administered to her at the hospital while
in labour for the birth of Jennifer and Heather.

3 Jennifer and Heather were both born May 5, 1994 at St. Joseph's Hospital in London at 26 weeks and 4 days gesta-
tion.

4 Heather suffers from profound disabilities. She is blind, deaf and a spastic quadriplegic. Jennifer's disabilities are
less severe and are far more subtle. She has some developmeital challenges but is able to function with assistance.

5 The Office of the Children's Lawyer (*OCL") brought a motion on notice under Rule 7.08 of the Rules of Civil Pro-
cedure to dismiss on a without costs basis, the claims in this action brought by Fennifer and Heather,

6 The order was granted by Rady J. on June 24, 2009, The issue now before me is whether this order is an estoppet by
res judicata to the continuation of this action by the Parents of their derivative claims under the FLA.

7 As of the start this trial, the claims of all plaintiffs, but for the Parents, had been discontinued, As well, the action
had been dismissed against all defendants, but for Drs, Natale and Lomax and a nurse, Brenda Dushinski.

8 Regardless of my decision on this matter, the claim of the Mother for battery may proceed as a live issue.

Background

9 This action was started by Statement of Claim dated November 18, 1998, The Father initially acted as litigation
guardian for his twin daughters, In 2007, and at the request of the Father, the OCL reviewed the matter and then con-
sented to being appointed as litigation guardian for the Twins. An Order of August 2, 2007 formalized the OCL ap-
pointment. Collaterally and as of July 13, 2006, the then counsel for the Parents was removed at his request as their
counsel of record. As of that date, the parents were and have remained self represented litigants in this action.

10 Afier appointment as litigation guardian for the Twins, the OCL retained Andrew Spurgeon as its agent lawyer.
He conducted a thorough review of the already extensive investigations undertaken by the Parents’ previous counsel.
Additionally, he canvassed at least 11 experts in the fields of obstetrics and gynaecology, neonatology and child neurol-
ogy, including four experts retained at his instance. Mr. Spurgeon then concluded that there was no reasonable prospect
of establishing liability on behalf of the Twins against any of the then remaining defendants in the action,

11 Based on that opinion, the OCL concluded that it was not tenable to continue the Htigation further as litigation
guardian for the Twins. The OCL, in due course, brought a motion under Rule 7.08 of the Rudes of Civil Proceduie to
dismiss, without costs, the claims of the Twins, the infant plaintiffs in this action, as against the remaining defendants.
Justice Rady granted that order on June 24, 2009 ("the Rady J. order").

Analysis
12 Essentially, the two questions before me are these:
(a) Is the claim of the parents under s. 61 of the FLA a derivative claim?

(b) If s0, and as the claim of the two minor plaintiffs was dismissed, does the principle of res
Judicata apply to the claim advanced by the parents?

Section 61 FLA claim - is it derivative?

13 The applicable parts of s, 81 of the FLA provide:
61(1) If a person is injured ... by fault or neglect of another under circumstances where the person
is entitled to recover damages, ... parents ... of the person are entitled to recover their pecuniary

loss resulting from the injury ... from the person from whom the person injured ... is entitled to
recover ... and to maintain an action for {that] purpose in a court of competent jurisdiction.
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(2) The damages recoverable in a claim under_subsection (1) may include,

{a) actual expenses reasonably incurred for the benefit of the person injured

(¢)  Areasonable allowance for travel expenses actually incurred in visiting the person during
his or her treatment or recovery;

{d) Where, as a result of the injury, the claimant provides nursing, housekeeping or other ser-
vices for the person, a reasonable atlowance for the loss of income or the value of the ser-
vices; and

{e}  Anamount to compensate for the loss of guidance, care and companionship that the
claimant might reasonably have expected to receive from the person with the injury or
death, if the injury ... had not occurred.

14 Tt is clear from the Statement of Claim that this action was brought as a result of the alleged compromised birth of
the Twins, With respect to the claims of the Parents, in this regard, the pleadings state:

40, ... the plaintiffs have suffered traumatic, emotional and nervous upset and lost enjoyment of life.
The plaintiffs, Cathy Louise McRitchie and Robert Charles McRitchie, in addition, suffered dam-
ages, including loss of income and competitive advantage.

41, Asaresult of the aforesaid accident and negligence, the plaintiffs have incurred special damages
for hospital accounts, X-ray accounts, doctor's accounts, drugs, transportation, lost income,
housckeeping, clothing, personal effects and other related expenses ...

15 The jurisprudence on this question is clear. A claim brought under s. 61 of the FL4, does not have a legal life of its
own. Such a claim is a derivative right and subject to the entitlement of the injured person personally to maintain an
action for damages in the circumstances alleged in the statement of claim: See Drummon Estate v. Reid Estate, 1993
CanLII 5482 (ONSC) at para, 17, Von Cramm v. Riverside Hospital of Ottawa et al, [1986] Q.J. No. 999 at para. 11 and
Sinith et al v. College of Physicians and Surgeons 1998 CanLll 1523 {ONCA) para. 38.

Res Judicata - Does it apply?
16  The anthors of Sopinka Lederman & Bryant - The Law of Evidence in Canada, 3d Edition, on the principle of res

Judicata, state:

19,53 The modern ruie of estoppe! by res judicata is grounded ui)on two broad principles of pub-
lic policy; first, that the state has an interest that there should be an end to litigation ... and sec-
ondly, that no individual should be sued more than once for the same cause ...

19.73 Subject to certain exceptions, [such as} cases of fraud or mistake, a judgment by consent
raises an estoppel in the same manner as a judgment which has been contested.

17 The motion by the OCL for approval of the settlement to dismiss the action of the Twins was brought under Rule
7.08 of the Rules of Civil Procedure. The applicable parts of that rule are:

7.08(1) No settlement of a claiin made by or against a person under disability ... is binding on the
person without the approval of a judge;

(2) Judgment may not be obtained on consent in favour of or against a party under disability
without the approval of a judge;
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(4) On a motion or application for the approval of a judge under this rule, there shall be served
and filed with the Notice of Motion or Notice of Application,

(a) an affidavit of the litigation guardian setting out the material facts and the reasons supporting
the proposed settlement and the position of the litigation guardian in respect of the seftlement;

(b) an affidavit of the lawyer acting for the litigation guardian setting out the lawyer's position in
respect of the proposed settlement; :

(¢} where the person under disability is a minor who is over the age of 16 years, the minor's con-
sent in writing, unless the judge orders otherwise; and

(d) a copy of the proposed Minutes of Seittement.

18 In Otto Rivera et al v. Sayaka LeBlond et af 2007 CanLII 7396 (ONSC) Thornburn J. reviewed the application of
Rule 7.08, noting:

23. Rule 7.08(4) and the obligation of the court pursuant to its parens patriae jurisdiction require
a party seeking approval to submit sufficient evidence to make a meaningfu! asscssiment of the
reasonability of the proposed setilement of the claims of a person under a disability.

24, This is a serious and substantial requirement ... It requires full disclosure of evidence regard-
ing the material issues ...

25 Rule 7.08(4) does not, however, require a full trial of the material issues ...

26 ... it is necessary to provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the proposal is secure, pro-
vides a real benefit to the disabled person and adequately addresses the long-term needs and in-
terests of the disabled person.

19 A motion for a settlement approval under Rule 7.08, as amplified in Rivera v. LeBlond, ibid. requires full and
complete disclosure. Upon approval, a decision represents a decision on the merits and a final disposition of the claim.
The Order of Rady J. approving the settlement of the Twins is such a decision.

20 Iam also guided by these comments of the author of The Doctrine of Res Judicata in Canada, 3d edition at p. 351:

The traditional view of a consent judgment is that it is a judgment of the court, not an agreement
between the parties to the proceeding, and it is enforceable in the same manner as if it had not
been created by consent, but by the court on completion of a trial or hearing. It is to be regarded
as a judgment after a hearing on the merits: Whitmell v. Ritchie, [20091 O.J. No. 2064 (Div. Ct.)
at para. 42.

21 A consent order which ends part of an action is of the same strength and effect for purposes of the res judicata
doctrine as a judgment issued by the court on completion of a trial or hearing: Abramson v. Oshawa (City), [1998] O.J,
No. 2205 at para. 2 and Canada Permanent Corp. v. Christensen, [1929] B.C.J. No. 72 at para. 4.

22 The Ontario Court of Appeal in Tsaoussis v. Baetz 1998 CanLII 5454 stated this on the doctrine of res judicata:

16 ... Finality is an important feature of our justice system, both to the parties involved in any
specific litigation and on an institutional level to the community at large....

17 The parties in the community require that there be a definite and discernable end to legal dis-

putes. There must be a point at which the parties can proceed on the basis that the matter has been
decided and their respective rights and obligations have been finally determined. Without a dis-

cernable end point, the parties cannot get on with the rest of their lives, secure the knowledge that
the issue has finally been determined, but must sufter the considerable economic and psychologi-
cal burden of indeterminate proceedings inn which their respective rights and obligations are revis-
ited and reviewed as circumstances change. Under our system for the adjudication of personal in-
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jury claims, that end point occurs when a final judgment has been entered and has either not been
appealed, or all appeals have been exhausted.

19 The importance attached to finality is reflected in the doctrine of res judicaia. That doctrine
prohibits re-litigation of matters that have been decided and requires that parties put forward their
entire case in a single action. Litigation by instalment is not tolerated: Toronfo General Trusts
Corporation v. Roman, [1963] 1 Q.R. 312 {(C.A.). Finality is so highly valued that it can be given
priority over the justice of an individual case even where fundamental liberty interests and other
constitutional values are involved: R. v. Thomas, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 713....

23 Forreasons noted, 1 find:
(a) The claim of the Parents is a derivative one depending entirely on the claim which had
been advanced by the Twins, the two minor plaintiffs; and

(b}  Asthe claim of the Twins was dismissed, the claim of the Parents can proceed no further,
based on the principle of res judicata.

24 The claims of the Parents, but for the claim of the Mother for battery, are dismissed with costs, if demanded.
W.U. TAUSENDFREUND J.
cplelglafr/qlvxw
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Infants -- Legal proceedings -- Jurisdiction -- Conmmon law or inherent jurisdiction of courts (parens patriae) -- Ap-
proval of seitlements and judgments -- Practice -- Judgments and orders -- Setting aside judgments -- Seftlements --
Setting aside, grounds -- Court approval, case involving minors.

This was an appeal by the defendant from an order setting aside a 1992 judgment, and directing that an action brought
in 1994 should proceed. In April 1990, the plaintiff, Tsaoussis, who was then three years old, was struck by a car driven
by the defendant. The plaintiff suffered a skuil fracture, and brought an action against the defendant. Following negotia-
tions between counsel for the plaintiff and the defendant's insurer, the parties reached a settlement. Early in 1992, the
former counsel for the plaintiff applied for the requisite court approval of a settlement involving a minor. On February
7, 1992, the setilement was approved, and judgment was granted in terms of the settlement. However, the plaintiff con-
tinued to have health problems attributable to the 1990 accident. The medical evidence gathered after the 1992 judg-
ment strongly suggested that the child was significantly under-compensated by the terms of the 1992 judgment. The
plaintiff retained new counsel who, in 1994, commenced a new action claiming that the defendant's negligence had
caused injuries {o the infant plaintiff resuliing in damages of $2,200,000. The new action also sought damages for the
plaintiff's mother and sister under the Family Law Act, The defendant claimed that the matter had been settled by the
judgment in 1992. In the fall of 1996, the plaintiff brought a motion to set aside the 1992 judgment. The motion was
allowed, the 1992 judgment was set aside, and a direction issued that the 1994 action was to proceed. The judge consid-
ered the medical evidence that had developed, and concluded that the 1992 judgment was not in the chiid's best inter-
ests. In her view, the criteria generally applicable to a motion to set aside a final judgment did not apply on a motion to
set aside a judgment approving an infant settlement.

HELD: The appeal was allowed, the order was set aside, and the 1994 action was disinissed. The best interests of the
infant plaintiff did not govern whether the 1992 judgment had to be set aside. A judgment approving the settlement of a
minor's personal injury claim that had been signed, entered, and not appealed, was final, and had to be given the same
force and effect as any other final judgment. A motion to set aside that judgment should have been tested according to
the same criteria used on motions to set aside other final judgments. It was not enough in personal injury litigation to
say that something was discovered after the finat judgment to show that the award was too little. The plaintift had to
show circumstances which warranted deviation from the fundamental principle that a final judgment, untess appealed,
marked the end of the litigation line, A minor plaintiff was entitled to full but fair compensation, The court's parens pa-
triae jurisdiction did not expand that entitlement. Once the settlement was approved, and the judgment was final and not
appealed, the parens patriae jurisdiction was spent. The finality principle was not to yield unless the moving party could
show that new evidence could not have been put forward by the exercise of reasonable diligence at the original proceed-
ings, The plaintiff could not show that the evidence which surfaced after the 1992 judgment could not have been made
available by the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to obtaining that judgment.
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1 Should a judgment approving a settlement made on behalf of a minor plaintiff in a personal injury case be set aside
some 4 1/2 years later if, based on medical assessments done after the settlement, it appears that the minor was signifi-
cantly under-compensated by the terms of the settlement?

I.

2 In April, 1990, the respondent, Lorric Tsaoussis {Lorrie), aged three, was struck by a car driven by the appellant,
Juanita Baetz, Lorrie was hospitalized for three days and subsequently seen by her family doctor and paediatrician. Her
mother, Carol Metcalf, retained counsel who, within a month of the accident, notified the appellant of Lorrie's claim
against her. After negotiations between Lorrie's former counsel and counsel for the appeHant's insurer, the parties
reached a settlement, As the settlement involved a minor plaintiff, it had to be approved by the court.

3 Early in 1992, former counsel for Lorrie brought an application under rule 7.08 seeking court approval of the set-
tlement of Lorrie’s claim against the appellant arising out of the accident. In compHance with rule 7.08(<), counsel filed
his affidavit and the affidavit of Carol Metcalf, Lorrie's mother and litigation guardian. Counsel also attached the hospi-
tal records and reports from Lorrie's family doctor and her paediatrician to his affidavit. According to that material,
Lorrie had suffered a skull fracture in the accident. Although she had some medical problems in the weeks following the
accident, they seemed relatively minor. Assessments done in the six months following the accident indicated that Lorrie
was essentially "normal." Nearly a year after the accident her family doctor said:

It is my impression that she should have a complete recovery without any significant sequela an-
ticipated.

4 In Ms. Metealf's affidavit, she indicated that the information supplied on the medical records was correct, and that
based on counsel's advice, she had accepted the tevms of the settlement on behalf of Lorrie,

5  OnFebruary 7, 1992, Scott J. of the Ontario Court {Gen. Div.) approved the settlement and granted judgment (the
1992 judgment). Under the terms of the settlement and judgment, $5,420.00 was paid into court for the benefit of Lorrie
and $1,250.00 was paid by the appellant in full satisfaction of costs. After the funds were paid inte court, counsel for
Ms. Baetz wrote to Lorrie's counsel confirming that "this resolves all claims arising out of this accident.”

6 Ms. Metcalf remained concerned about her daughter's health. Lorrie had headaches, did not sleep through the night,
seemed easily distracted and had become increasingly clumsy. With the help of a social worker, Lorrie's mother ar-
ranged to have Lorrie seen by a paediatric neurologist at Children's Hospital in London, Ontario. Assessments done
between the summer of 1992 and the fall of 1994 revealed that Lorrie had numerous ongoing medical and developmen-
tal problems, some of which were attributed to the head injury she had suffered in the car accident in 1990, By Febru-
ary, 1996, Lorrie's doctor opined that Lorrie's "attention and concentration problems are atiributable fo the motor vehi-
cle accident," Her doctor also felt that the full extent of those problems could not be determined for another year or two.

7 At some peint, Lorrie's mother retained new counsel on behalf of Lorrie, In the fall of 1994, that counsel com-
menced a new action (the 1994 action) claiming that the appellant's negligence had caused injuries to Loriie resulting in
damages of some $2.2 million. Counsel also claimed damages under the Family Law Act, R.S.0. 1990, ¢, F.3 on behalf
of Lorrie’s mother and sister. In her defence, Ms. Baetz pleaded that the claim had been settled by the 1992 judgment
leaving Lorrie with no cause for action against her. Ms. Baetz also denied any liability for the accident.

8 Inthe fall of 1996, counsel brought a motion in the 1994 action to set aside the 1992 judgment.' Although counsel
argued that Scott J. should not have approved the settlement in 1992, the aftidavits filed on the motion make it clear that
medical evidence developed after the 1992 judgment provided the sole basis for setting aside that judgment. The final
paragraph of counsel's affidavit filed on the motion summarizes his position;

There is no doubt in my mind that the present medical evidence now clearly establishes that the
court approved settlement was not in the best interests of either Lorrie or her mother. The medical
fests and assessments which have been performed since the time of the court approval have
clearly provided new evidence of the extent and effect of the brain damage sustained by Lotrie
which was not available to Madam Justice Scott. It is my opinion that the interests of justice re-
quire that the judgment of Madam Justice Scott be set aside. ...

9 Leitch J., for reasons reported at (1997), 33 O.R. (3d) 679, granted the motion, set aside the 1992 judgment and
directed that the 1994 action should proceed.? In doing so, she did not purport to review the correctness of the judgment
as of the date it was made. Instead, Leitch J. held that she was obliged to consider the medical evidence developed after
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the 1992 judgment and decide whether in the light of that evidence the 1992 judgment could be said to be in the best
interests of Loirie. She said, at p. 688:

I find it necessary to consider evidence that was not before the judge who approved the settlement
in 1992 not to show that the assessment of the previously existing evidence was incorrect but to
allow this cowrt to assess whether Lorrie's best interests have been met,

10 After a careful review of the new medical evidence, Leitch J. concluded that as the 1992 judgment had been prem-
ised on medical information indicating that Lorrie's injury was relatively minor and would cause no long-term effects, it
could not be said to meet Lorrie's best interests in the face of medical evidence indicating & much more serious injury
with significant long-term effects. Leitch J. made it clear that in setting aside the 1992 judgment she had considered
only the best interests of Lorrie. In her view, the criteria generally applied on a motion to set aside a final judgment did
not apply on a motion to set aside a judgment approving an infant settlement. She specifically held that prejudice to the
appellant was irrelevant,

11  Ithink Leitch J. properly characterized her function on the motion to set aside the 1992 judgment. She was not,
and indeed could not, sit on appeal from the decision of Scott J. Arguments as to whether Scott J. should have approved
the settlement based on the information placed before her could only be properly made by way of a direct appeatl from
that judgment and no such appeal was ever taken,

12 Leitch J. also properly avoided any consideration of the adequacy of former counsel's representation of Lorrie in
making her determination that the 1992 judgiment should be set aside. Former counsel is not a party to these proceed-
ings, and it would be inappropriate to take anything said by Leitch J. or by me as a comment on the adequacy of his
representation, If Lorrie wishes to take issue with that representation, she can do so in separate proceedings instituted
against the former counsel for that express purpose.®

I1.

13 I, as Leitch I. held, the best interests of Lorrie is the only factor to consider in deciding whether to set aside the
1992 judgment, her decision is unassailable. The medical evidence gathered after the 1992 judgment strongly suggests
that if the appellant is responsible for Lorrie's injuries, Lorrie was significantly under-compensated by the terms of the
1992 judgment, I cannot agree, however, that the best interests of Lorrie govern the decision whether the 1992 judgment
should be set aside. In my view, a judgment approving the settlement of a minor's personal injury claim that has been
signed, entered and not appealed is final, and must be given the same force and effect as any other final judgment. A
motion to set aside that judgment should be tested according to the same criteria used on motions to set aside other finat
judgments. Applying those criteria, I would held that the 1992 judgment should not have been set aside.

Ii.,

14 A person who is injured as a resuit of the negligence of another is entitled to fuil but fair compensation for those
injuries; Watkins v. Olafson {1989), 61 D.L.R. (4th) 577 at 581 (S.C.C.). Under our system of adjudication of personal
injury cases, full but fair compensation is determined at a specific point in time on a once and for all basis, and awarded
in the form of a single lump sum payment. Absent statutory authority, a court cannot provide for periodic payments to a
plaintiff in a personal injury case, or periodically review damages based on developments subsequent to the initial as-
sessment: Watkins v. Olafson, supra, at pp. 580-86. Because we assess damages on a once and for all basis and award a
single lump sum amount, judges must determine what constitutes full but fair compensation on the basis of information
available at the time the adjudication is made. Judges must also factor future costs and future losses into that assessiment
in many personal injury cases. It is almost in¢vitable, particularly where future damages are involved, that the amount
awarded will in time prove to provide over or under compensation. Despite the likelihood of inaccuracy which has
spawned strong judicial and academic criticism of one time lump sem awards,? this province maintains that approach in
personal injury cases in alt but very limited circumstances.” One time lump sum awards are seen as having sufficient
advantages over other proposed forms of compensation to justify the inaccuracy inherent in those words.

15 Paramount among those advantages is finality, Finality is an important feature of our justice system, both (o the
parties involved in any specific litigation and on an institutional level {0 the community at large, For the parties, it is an

~ economic and psychological necessity. For the community, it places some limitation on the economic burden each legal
dispute Enposes on the system and it gives decisions produced by the system an authority which they could not hope to
have if they were subject to constant reassessment and variation: 1.1, Jacob, The Fabric of English Civit Justice, Hamlyn
Lectures 1987, at pp. 23-24.
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16 The parties and the community require that there be a definite and discernable end to legal disputes, There must be
a point at which the parties can proceed on the basis that the matter has been decided and their respective rights and
obligations have been finally determined. Without a discernable end point, the parties cannot get on with the rest of their
lives secure in the knowledge that the issue has finally been determined, but must suffer the considerable economic and
psychological burden of indeterminate proceedings in which their respective rights and obligations are revisited and
reviewed as circumstances change. Under our systein for the adjudication of personal injury claims, that end point oc-
curs when a final judgment has been entered and has either not been appealed, or all appeals have been exhausted.

17  Finality is important in all areas of the law, but is stressed more in some than in others. Its significance in tort law
was highlighted by McLachlin I, in Watkins v. Olafson, supra, at p. 585, where in the course of discussing problems
associated with a scheme of compensation based on reviewable periodic payments, she said:

Yet another factor meriting examination is the lack of finality of periodic payments and the effect
this might have on the lives of plaintiff and defendant. Unlike persons who join voluntarily in
marriage or contract - areas where the law recognizes periodic payments - the tortfeasor and his
or her victim are brought together by a momentary lapse of attention. A scheme of reviewable pe-
riodic payments would bind them in an uneasy and unterininated relationship for as long as the
plaintiff lives,

18  The importance attached to finality is reflected in the doctrine of res judicata. That doctrine prohibits the re-
litigation of matters that have been decided and requires that partics put forward their entire case in a single action, Liti-
gation by instalment is not folerated: Toronto General Trusts Corporation v, Roman, [1963] 1 O.R. 312 (C.A.), affd.,
[1963] S.C.R. vi. Finality is so highly valued that it can be given priority over the justice of an individual case even
where fundamental liberty interests and other constitutional values are involved: R. v. Thomas, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 713; R.
v. Sarson {1996), 107 C.C.C. (3d) 21 (8.C.C.}; Reference re Manitoba Language Rights, [1985] 1 S.C.R. 721 at 757.

19 That is not to say that finality interests always win out over other interests once final judgment is signed and en-
tered. Sometimes the rigor of the res judicata doctrine will be relaxed: Town of Grandview v. Doering, [1976] 2 S.C.R.
621 at 638; Hennig v. Northern Heights (Sault) Ltd. (1980}, 30 O.R. (2d) 346 (C.A.). The court also has the power lo set
aside final judgments: Glatt v. Glatt, [1937] S.C.R. 347, affg, [1936] O.R. 75 (C.A.); Whitehall Development Corpora-
tion Ltd. v. Walker (1977), 4 C.P.C. 97 {Ont. C.A.). The limitations on the res judicata doctrine and the power to set
aside previous judgments are, however, exceptions to the general rule that final judgments mark the end of litigation.
Those exceptions recognize that despite the value placed on finality, there will be situations in which other legitimate
interests clearly outweigh finality concerns. The power to set aside a final judgment obtained by fraud is the most obvi-
ous example, As important as finality is, it must give way when the preservation of the very integrity of the judgment
process is at stake.

20 Attempts, whatever their form, to reopen maiters which are the subject of a final judgment must be carefully scru-
tinized. It cannot be enough in personal injury litigation to simply say that something has occurred or has been discov-
ered after the judgment became final which shows that the judgment awards too much or too little. On that approach,
finatity would become an illusion. The applicant must demonstrate circumstances which wairant deviation from the
fundamental principle that a final judgment, unless appealed, marks the end of the litigation line. I think Anderson J.
struck the proper judicial tone on applications to reopen final judgments in L.M. Rosen Realty Ltd. v. D'Amore (1988),
29 C.P.C. (2d) 106 (Ont, H.C.J.). He was asked to set aside a judgment and vary the rate of post-judgment interest
granted because subsequent events showed that the rate was much too high. He said, at p. 109:

... Even if T thought I had the discretion, I would be reluctant to intervene because I feel it would
be offensive to the basic proposition that there should be finality in litigation. Adjusting the result
after judgment, save in response to unusual circumstances, would be a conspicucus and danger-
ous meddling with that proposition.

21 1 am not aware of any personal injury case in which a final judgment has been set aside, other than on appeal, be-
cause evidence developed after the judgment indicated that the award was much too high or much too low.* [ would be
surprised to find such a case as it would be entirely inconsistent with our system of one time lump sum awards for per-
sonal injuries. As assessments which ultimately prove to be inaccurate are inherent in that scheme, 1 do not see how the
demonstration of that inaccuracy in a particular case could, standing alone, justify departure from the finality principle.

iv.
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22 The approach taken by Leitch J, constitutes a departure from the (raditional approach taken to final judgments in
personal injury litigation, She discounts finality concerns entirely. If she is correct, no judgment approving an infant
settlement is final. Instead, all carry the unwritten caveat - subject to being set aside if subsequent events reveal that the
plaintiff may have been under-compensated,” Nor, in my view, would it be an unusual case in which this caveat would
come into play. Medical assessments change, unanticipated losses arise and estimates of anticipated costs prove inaccu-
rate. In all such situations where the change was significant, minor plaintiffs would be entitled to set aside a judgment
approving a settlement and re-litigate their claim based on the latest information available as to the extent of the damage
suffered by them.

23 In addition to discounting finality concerns, Leitch I. has, in effect, introduced a scheme of compensation by re-
viewable periodic payments in personal injury cases involving minor plaintiffs. Amounts awarded pursuant to settle-
ments approved by the court would become periodic payments if, before the minor reached majority, circumstances
revealed that the amount awarded did not provide full compensation. This is the sort of drastic innovation in our tort
compensation scheme which the Court in Watkins v. Olafson, supra, instructed should be left to the legislature,

24 The respondent contends that the court's obligation to ensure that the best interests of Lorrie were met trumped alt
other concerns. There can be no doubt that a court is obliged to look to and protect the best interests of minors who are
parties to legal proceedings.® This obligation, sometimes referred to as the court's parens patriae jurisdiction, requires
that the court abandon its normal umpire-like role and assume a more interventionist mode, For example, the court must
decide who will act on behalf of the minor (Rule 7.03 - 7.06) and the court must take control of any proceeds paid to the
benefit of the minor (Rule 7.09). The supervisory powers of the court are most clearly evinced by the requirement that
the court approve any consent judgment to which a minor is a party and the closely aligned requirement that the court
approve any settlement of a minor's claim before that settlement will bind the minor {Rule 7.08). The duty on the court
when a motion for approval of a settlement is made was authoritatively described by Robertson C.J.O. in Poulin v.
Nadon, [19501 0.R. 219 at 225:

... If, upon proper inquiry, the judge shall be of the opinion that the settlement is one that, in the
interests of the infant, should be approved, he may give the required approval. If, on the other
hand, the judge is not of the opinion that the settlement is one that should be approved, he may
give such direction as to the trial of the action as may be proper. ...

25 The inquiry described by Robertson C.J.O. requires that the court make its own determination whether the pro-
posed seftlement is in the minor's best interests, Rute 7.08(4) demands that the parties place sufficient material before
the court to allow it to make that determination.

26  As important and far reaching as the parens patriae jurisdiction is, it does not exist in a vacuurm, but must be exer-
cised in the context of the substantive and adjectival law governing the proceedings. The parens patriae jurisdiction is
essentially protective. It neither creates substantive rights nor changes the means by which claims are determined.

27  The proper limits of the parens patriae jurisdiction were drawn in Carter v. Junkin (1984), 47 O.R. (2d) 427 (Div.
Ct.). The defendant insurance company proposed to make an advance payment to a minor under the provisions of the
Insurance Act. The defendant applied for an order approving the advance payment, but the motion judge refused to
make that order unless the insurer agreed to a term which would protect the minor's claim to pre-judgment interest. The
defendant refused to make the payment on that term and appealed. The Divisional Court held, at p. 430:

The court has no jurisdiction to compel an insurer to pay money into court under s. 224 [The In-
surance Act] and to make good the interest differential, But that is not what was done here. The
learned motions court judge did not require the insurer to pay money into court. He simply
granted leave to the insurer to do so, if the insurer was willing to agree to give the undertaking as
to the interest differential, The insurer can still decline to make the payment, in which event the
infant plaintiff will recover at trial the full amount of pre-judgment interest to which he is enti-
tled.

28 The court properly drew a distinction between a court imposed term on a voluntary payment as a condition to
court approval of that payment and the court requiring that the defendant make a payment.-The former protected the
minor's best interests under the scheme of voluntary payments established under the Insurance Act and was a proper
exercise of the parens patriae jurisdiction. A forced payment would, however, have gone beyond the limits of the statute
and given the minor rights which he did ot have under that statute. White a forced advance payment may have been in
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the minor's best interests, it was not within the scope of the parens patriae jurisdiction as it was not contemplated under
the statutory scheme,

29 A minor plaintiff, like any other plaintiff, is entitted to full but fair compensation if the minor establishes a per-
sonal injury claim. The parens patriae jurisdiction does not expand that entitlement. For example, a minor plaintiff who
cannot establish that the defendant's negligence caused the injury, cannot succeed on the basis that, despite that failure,
compensation is in the minor's best interests. Similarly, a minor, like any other plaintiff, is entitled to have the compen-
sation assessment made on a once and for all basis and to be paid that compensation in a single lump sum. The parens
patriae jurisdiction does not enable the court to create a different compensation regime for minor plaintiffs involving
periodic reviews of the adequacy of the compensation provided to the minor, The court must protect the minor's best
interests, but it must do so within the established structure for the compensation of personal injury claims: Kendalf v.
Kindt Estate (1992), 10 C.P.C. (3d) 24 at 27-28 (Ont. Gen. Div.).

30  Finality, is as important in cases involving minor plaintiffs as it is in cases involving adult plaintiffs. The need for
finality must temper the goal of meeting the minor's best interests just as it must temper the desire to provide every
plaintiff with full but fair compensation. Proposed seitlements of minors' personal injury claims, especially those in-
volving very young children with head injuries, raise real concerns about the adequacy of compensation provided by
those settlements. The risk of under-compensation in those cases is very real.’ That risk demands that the court vigor-
ously exercise its parens patriae jurisdiction when asked to approve a settlement. Once the settlement is approved, how-
ever, and the judgment is final and not appealed, the parens pan iae jurisdiction is spent. It can only be reasserted if there
is a valid basis for setting aside the final judgment.

31  Inarriving at the conclusion that the best interests of the minor justified setiing aside the previous final judgment,
Leitch J. relied exclusively on the decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal in Makowka v. Anderson (1990),
67 D.L.R. (4th) 751. In Makowka, a motion judge was asked to approve an infant seftlement. He did so over the objec-
tions of the Public Trustee acting on behalf of the infant. The Public Trustee argued that more time was needed to assess
the extent of the minor's head injury and the cause of her various medical problems. The Public Trustee appealed the
judgment approving the settlement and sought to introduce evidence on appeal of medical assessments done between
the judgment approving the settlement and the hearing of the appeal. Those assessments confirmed the Public Trustee's
concerns and indicated that the minor's injuries were serious and that in all likelihood she would suffer significant long-
term disabilities.

32 Onamotion to admit the fresh evidence heard before the actual appeal, Lambert J.A., for the court, while accept-
ing the importance of finality, even in litigation involving minors, acknowledged that the appeal court could receive
evidence of matters arising after the judgment appealed from. He stressed that the evidence proffered by the Public
Trustee was not directed to a purely factual question, but rather to the assessment of the minor's best interests. The rea-
sons of Lambert I.A. admitting the evidence are referred to in the reasons disposing of the appeal. He said, at p. 758:

.. 30 the purpose of the introduction of fresh evidence in this appeal is not to show that a factual
assessment of the previously existing evidence was incorrect, but it is to show that the best inter-
ests of the infant may not in fact have been carried through in the way that the chambers judge
thought he was carrying them through.

Accordingly, the factors are quite different in this case. Having regard to the crucial ones, which
are the best interests of the child and the good administration of justice, it would, in my opinion,
in the words of the cases, be an affront to justice to insist on imposing this seitlernent on this in-
fant if it was, when it was agreed upon, an unjust settlement.

33 The court hearing the appeal described its task in words that were adopted by Leitch J.

So we are entitled to look at the new evidence, which includes subsequent medical reporis, for the
purpose of determining whether the settlement originally placed before the court seems a just one
today. We are not limited to considering the strengths and weaknesses of Meghan's [the minor]
case as they appeared from the material placed before the judge below. [p. 758]

34 Not surprisingly, the court went on to conclude that the amount provided for in the settlement was totally inade-
quate and set aside the order approving the settlement.
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35 The facts in Makowka are quite similar to our facts. The proceedings were, however, fundamentally different.
Makowka was a direct appeal from the judgment approving the settlement. When the fresh evidence was tendered the
matter was still in the litigation system and the rights and obligations of the parties were subject to appellate review, the
purpose of which was to determine the correctness of the order approving the settlement. The defendant in Makowka
had no reason to think the end of the litigation line had been reached. The Public Trustee continued to maintain that the
settlement should not have been approved and the new evidence went directly to the central issue both on the motion
and on the appeal.

36  On this motion, Leitch J. was not asked to, and could not, review the correctness of the order of Scott J. Instead,
she was asked to allow Lorrie to begin her claim afresh and to re-litigate a claim which, in the eyes of the law and the
mind of Ms, Baetz, had ceased to exist when it became the subject of final judgment in 1992. In my opinion, there is an
important difference between allowing a party to supplement a record at the appellate stage of an ongoing proceeding
and allowing a party to resurrect a claim which is the subject of a final judgment. That distinction has been recognized
by appellate courts faced with applications to admit fresh evidence concerning events which occurred between the
judgment and the appeal. In McCann v. Shepherd, [1973] 2 All. E.R. 885 {C.A.), Lord Denning M.R., said:

... The general rule in accident cases is that the sum of damages falls to be assessed once and for
all at the time of the hearing; and this court will be slow to admit evidence of subsequent events
to vary it. It will not normally do so after the time for appeal has expired without an appeal being
entered - because the proceedings are then at an end. They have reached finality, But if notice of
appeal has been entered in time - and pending the appeal, a supervening event occurs such as to
falsify the previous assessment - then the court will be more ready to admit fresh evidence be-
cause until the appeal is heard and determined, the proceedings are still pending. Finality has not
been reached. ...

37 Admitting fresh evidence on appeal of events which occurred between the judgment and the appeal raises finality
concerns for the reasons set out by Lord Denning, however, those concerns are moderated, first by the fact that the pro-
ceeding is still underway and second because the parties know that their rights remain undetermined until appellate
remedies have been exhausted. Even in those circumstances, evidence is only admitted where it would be "an affront to
common sense” to refuse to admit the evidence on appeal: Mercer v. Sijan {1976}, 14 O.R. (2d) 12 at 17 (C.A.); Seng-
mueller v. Sengmuetler (1994), 17 O.R. (3d) 208 at 211 (C.A.). This was the test applied in Makowka.

38  Leitch J. erred in equating her position on a motion to set aside a final judgment with that of an appellate court
asked to admit evidence of events which occwrred between the judgment and the appeal.” While finality concerns are
relevant in both situations, they must carry a great deal more weight where the judgment is final and the proceedings
which culminated in that judgment have long since ended. The court in Makowka did not have fo address the threshold
issue raised on this motion - should a litigant, based on evidence developed afler final judgment and afler proceedings
have ended, be altowed to start the litigation process all over again? That issue could not be resolved by retiance on the
parens patriae jurisdiction.

V.

39 A party who would otherwise be bound by a previous judgment can bring an action to set aside that judgment.
Fraud in the obtaining of the initial judgment is the most common ground relied on in such actions: McGuire v. Naugh,
19341 O.R. 9 at 11-13 {C.A.); Russell v. Brown, [1948] Q.R. 835 per Hogg J.A. (concurring) at pp. 846-48 (C.AL);
Glatt v. Glatt, supra, at p. 79 {C.A.). Rule 59.06 allows that kind of reHef to be claimed by way of a motion in the origi-
nal proceedings. The rule does not, however, confer the power to set aside a previous judgment, nor does it articulate a
test to be applied in deciding whether a previous judgment should be set aside. The rule merely provides a more expedi-
tious procedure for seeking that remedy: Glatt v. Glatt, supra; Braithwaite v. Haugh (1978), 19 O.R. (2d) 288 at 289
(Cty. Ct.). The language of Rule 59.06 does, however, provide insight into the varied factual circumstances which may
give rise to motions to set aside a judgment.

40  For present purposes, I am concerned with Rule 59,06(2)(a) and particularly, the part of the rule which refers to
metions to set aside orders "on the ground ... of facts arising or discovered after it [the order] was made." The rule
draws a distinction between facts which come into existence after the judgment was made and facts which, while exist-
ing when the judgment was made, were discovered after judgment, In this case, the facts relied on to set aside the previ-
ous judgment concerned the exact nature of Lorrie's head injury and, more importantly, its potemtial impact on her
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physical, intellectual and cognitive development. That injury and those potential effects existed at the time of the judg-
ment.

41 In deciding whether to set aside a judgment based on evidence said to be discovered after judgment, the court must
first decide whether that evidence could have been tendered before judgment. Evidence which could reasonably have
been tendered prior to judgment cannot be used to afford a party a second opportunity to re-litigate the same issue. In
Glatt v, Glatt, supra, the appellant moved to set aside a judgment partly on the basis of evidence discovered after the
judgment, Duff C.I,, for a unanimous court, rejected the claim stating, at p. 350:

it is well established law that a judgment cannot be set aside on such a ground unless it is proved
that the evidence relied upon could not have been discovered by the party complaining by the ex-
ercise of due diligence. The importance of this rule is obvious and it is equally obvious that the
finality of judgments generally would be gravely imperilled unless the rule were applied with the
utmost strictness.

42 That same view prevailed in the majority judgment in Grandview v. Doering, supra, some 40 years later. Mr. Do-
ering sued the Town of Grandview alleging that it was responsible for the flooding of his land, The suit was dismissed.
A few months later he commenced a second action, again claiming damages for the flooding of his land. The second
claim referred to different years than the first claim and alleged a different means by which the flooding oceurred. An
expert consulted by Mr. Doering after the first trial had developed a new theory explaining how the flooding had oc-
curred. The Town moved to have the second action stayed on the basis that it was res judicata. A closely divided Su-
preme Court of Canada sided with the Town and stayed Mr, Doering's claim. The minority were of the view that the
two actions did not raise the same issue. The majority ook the position that the two actions were sufficiently similar to
warrant the application of res judicata, Ritchie J., for the majority, went on to consider whether the new theory as to the
cause of the floeding could provide a basis for re-litigating the Town’s liability, He cited with approval, at p. 636, the
judgment of Lord Cairns in Phosphate Sewage Co. v. Molleson {1879), 4 App. Cas. 801 at 814-15, where his Lordship
said:

As Tunderstand the law with regard to res judicata, it is not the case, and it would be intolerable if
it were the case, that a party who has been unsuccessful in a litigation can be allowed to re-open
that litigation merely by saying, that since the former litigation there is another fact going exactly
in the same direction with the facts stated before, leading up to the same relief which [ asked for
before, but it being in addition to the facts which I have mentioned, it ought now to be allowed to
be the foundation of a new litigation, and I should be allowed to cominence a new litigation
merely upon the allegation of this additional fact. My Lords, the only way in which that could
possibly be admitted would be if the litigant were prepared to say. I will shew you that this is a
fact which entirely changes the aspect of the case, and I will shew you further that it was not, and
could not by reasonable diligence have been, ascertained by me before ... [Emphasis added)]

43  Ritchie J., at 638, observed that Mr. Doering had not alleged, much less proved, that the expert evidence advanc-
ing the new theory concerning the flooding could not have been available by the exercise of reasonable diligence at the
first trial. Consequently, Mr. Doering had not cleared the first hurdle required to allow him io re-litigate a claim which
was res judicata.

44  These and numerous other authorities (e.g. Whitehall Development Corporation Ltd. v. Walker, supra, at p. 98)
recognize that the finality principle must not yield unless the moving party can show that the new evidence could not
have been put forward by the exercise of reasonable diligence at the proceedings which led to the judgment the moving
party seeks to set aside. If that hurdle is cleared, the court will go on to evaluate other factors such as the cogency of the
new evidence, any delay in moving to set aside the previous judgment, any difficulty in re-litigating the issues and any
prejudice to other parties or persons who may have acted in reliance on the judgment. The onus will be on the moving
party to show that all of the circumstances are such as to justify making an exception to the fundamental rue that final
judgments are exactly that, final. In a personal injury case, new evidence demonstrating that the plaintiff was inade-
quately compensated cannot, standing alone, meet that onus,

45  Lorrie cannot show that the evidence developed after the 1992 judgment could not have been available by the ex-
ercise of reasonable diligence prior to obtaining that judgment. Ms. Metcalf testified that she told Lorrie's former lawyer
that Lorrie was having problems sleeping and walking before the 1992 judgment. According to Ms. Metcalf, the former
counsel was aware that arrangements had already been made to have Lorrie seen at the Brain Injury Clinic in London
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when the settlement was made in February, 1992. Documentation produced by Lorrie’s present counsel in response to
undertakings given during Ms, Metcalf's cross-examination indicates that the arrangements were actually made shortly
after the 1992 judgment. The fact remains, however, that according to Ms. Metealf, she and Lorrie’s former counsel
were aware of Lorrie's ongoing problems and Ms. Metcalf's desire to have a further medical assessment done. Ms.
Metcalf testified that Lorrie's former counsel did not suggest that the settlement be delayed pending finther assessment
and Ms, Metcaif did not request that the settlement be delayed for that purpose.

46  The reasons no further assessments were made prior to proceeding with the settlement and judgment are irrelevant
in this proceeding. Certainly, there is no suggestion that Ms, Baetz or her insurers were aware that further assessments
were needed or even contemplated. Those acting on behalf of Lorrie chose to proceed with the settlement without fur-
ther medical assessments, It cannot now be said that the evidence eventually generated by further assessments could not
have been available by the exercise of reasonable diligence prior to the judgment approving the settlement,

47  I'would allow the appeal, set aside the order of Leitch [, and in iis place make an order dismissing the 1994 ac-
tion. Ms. Baetz is entitled to her costs both here and in the court below.

DOHERTY J.A,
ABELLA J.A. -- T agree.
CHARRON J.A. -- I agree.

cp/d/mivmjb/DRS/qlgxc

1 tnder the terms of Rule 59.06(2), the motion should have been brought in the 1992 proceedings, but it would appear that nothing tums on
this procedural irregularity.

2 Justice Leitch also directed that the payment pursuant to the 1992 judgment should be treated as an advance payment {o Lorrie under the
terms of the Insurance Act. She further dismissed a motion brought by Ms. Baetz for summary judgment on the derivative action brought by
Lorrie's mother, Carol Metcalf under the Family Law Act. Given my disposition of the appeal from the order setting aside the 1992 judg-
ment, 1 need not constder the correctness of either of these orders,

3 In the cross-examination of Ms. Metcalf on her affidavit, counsel for Lorrie indicated that the former solicitor had been put on notice of a
possible claim against him based on the 1992 settlement. That lawsuit is being held in abeyance pending the result of this appeal.

4 E.g. see the comments of Dickson J. in Andrews v. Grand & Toy Alberta, [1978] 2 S.C.R. 229 at 236.

5 Section 116 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.0. 1990, e. 43 provides for periodic payment and review of damages on consent of the parties
and in one other very limited circumstance.

6 In Tiwana v. Popove (1988), 23 B.C.L.R. (2d} 392 (8.C.}, the court rcopéned the trial after it had delivered its reasons for judgment, set
aside its reasons and allowed the plaintiff to call further evidence conceming certain medical evidence which had developed after the trial
had ended. In that case, however, format judgment had not been entered when the plaintiff moved to set aside the reasons and call further
evidence. A trial judge has a wide discretion to permit the reopening of a case prior to the entering of judgment: Castlerigg Invesiments Inc.
v. Lam (1991), 2 O.R. (3¢) 216 (Gen. Div.).

7 Leitch J. was concerned with a judgment approving a settfement, however, if she is correct in holding that the best interests of the child are
paratnount, 1 see o reason why a judgment following a trial could not also be set aside if subsequent events showed that the child had been
under-compensated by the amount awarded at trial.

8 The parens patriae jurisdiction over minors extends i)e)'ond claims to which minors are a party. It also protects others who are under a tegat
disability: Sce Re Eve (1986), 31 D.L.R. (4th) 1 at 13-28 (8.C.C.); Rule 7. [ refer only to minors, and only to the exercise of the parens pa-
{riae jurisdiction in the context of proceedings in which a minor is a party because those are the circumnstances which operate in this case.

9 Steeves v. Fitzsimmons (1975), 11 O.R. (2d) 387 (H.C.) provides an interesting approach to this problem. The set{lentent approved by the
court provided that the minor could apply to vary the judgment at any time before his seventh birthday.

16 Tepperman v. Rosenberg (1985), 48 C.P.C. 317 (Ont. H.C.) is more on point than Makowka. In that case an infant plaintiff moved before
O'Leary J. to set aside an order of Craig J. approving a settlement, The infant relied on evidence that was not before Craig J. O'Leary consid-
ercd the fresh evidence so that he could decide whether the settlement was in the infant's best interests. He held that i was and dismissed tie
motion. As the fresh evidence did not affect the result, O'Leary did not have to decide whether he could have set aside the judgment of Craig
J. solely on the basis that the new evidence suggested that the child’s best interests were not served. The concluding paragraphs of his rea-
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sons {p. 320} suggest he would have set the judgment aside if he thought the fresh evidence supported the conclusion that it was not in the
¢hild's best interests. In my view, it would have been wrong to do so without first considering the other relevant factors,
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Insurance law -- Automobile insurance -- Accident benefits -- Appeal by the Estate from an application judge's ruling
refusing to approve minutes of settlement allowed -- Deceased died after minutes of settlement respecting accident
benefits had been agreed upon but not approved by court -- Claim for accident benefits had, by virtue of the settlement,
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become a contractual right fo the agreed amount -- Once the contractual vight passed to the esiate, there was no longer
a party under disability -- Court approval was no longer required.

Wills, estates & trusts law -- Devolution of esiates -- Appeal by the Estate from an application judge's ruling refusing
to approve minutes of settlement allowed -- Deceased died after minutes of setilement respecting accident benefits had
been agreed upon but not approved by court -- Claim for accident benefits had, by virtue of the settlement, become a
contractual right to the agreed amount -- Once the contractual right passed to the estate, there was no longer a party
under disability -- Court approval was no longer required.

Appeal by the Wu Estate from an application judge's ruling refusing to approve minutes of settlement, Wu was struck
by an impaired driver, She sustained serious physical and brain injuries, resulting in significant cognitive impairment.
At the time of the accident Wu was 28 years old, married, and had one child. Wu, represented by her mother and litiga-
tion guardian, commenced an action claiming damages against the tortfeasor and claiming statutory accideni benefits
against the respondents, Zurich Insurance and ING Insurance, Following mediation, the parties agreed to seftle the claim
for $3.1 million. Due to Wir's mental disability, the settlement was "subject to necessary court approval." Three months
after the date of setilement with the respondents, Wu died unexpectedly. Pending resolution of the tort claim, Wu's
counsel had not presented the setilement of the accident benefits claim for court approval. The Estate's application to
enforce the minutes of settlement was dismissed, Wu's death made it impossible for the court to approve the settlement.

HELD: Appeal allowed. The settlement did not die with Wu. Prior to her death, Wu's claim for accident benefits had, by
virtue of the settlement, become a contractual right to the agreed amount, contingent upon court approval. The contrac-
tual right was a chose in action that, by operation of law, devolved to Wu's estate upon death, Once the contractual right
passed to the estate, there was no longer a party under disability. Court approval was no longer required to protect the
interest of the party seeking to enforce the setilement. The minutes of seftlement became operational upon death and

Wu's estate could enforce the obligation to pay.

Statutes, Regulations and Rules Cited;

Insurance Act, R.8.0. 1990, ¢. 1.8

Ontario Rules of Civil Procedure, Rules 7.08(1)

Statutory Accident Benefits Schedule- Accidents After December 31, 1993, and Before November 1, 1996, Reg. 776/93

Appeal From:
On appeal from the order of Justice 1.B. McMahon of the Superior Cowrt of Justice dated April 5, 2005,

Counsel:
Earl A. Cherniak, Q.C. and Kirk F. Stevens for the appellants
Geoffrey D.E, Adair, Q.C. and Robert M. Ben for the respondents

The following judgment was delivered by

1 THE COURT:-- A party under disability died unexpectedly before the court approved the defendant’s agreement to
settle her accident benefits claim for a lump sum. The issue before us on this appeal is whether the estate of the party
under disability can enforce the settlement,

FACTS

2 Yuan Yuan Wu (known as "Rebecca Wu"} was hit by an impaired driver as she crossed a street in downtown To-
ronto, She suffered serious physical injuries and brain injuries resulting in significant cognitive impairment. At the time
of the accident, Rebecca Wu was twenty-eight years old. She was married and had one child.
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3 Rebecca Wu, represented by her mother and litigation guardian, commenced an action claiming tort damages
against the tortfeasor and claiming statutory accident benefits against Zurich Insurance Company and ING Insurance
Company of Canada ("the respondents™), pursuant to the Insurance Act, R.8.0. 1990, ¢. 1.8 and the Stafutory Accident
Benefits Schedule - Accidents After December 31, 1993, and Before November 1, 1996, Reg, 776/93.

4 The respondents obtained comprehensive medical assessments of Rebecca Wu's injuries and future care costs. De-
spite her severe injuries, Rebecca Wu's life expectancy was estimated to be sixty-eight years, Her own experts estimated
her claim for past and future income loss and future care costs at between $5.8 and $6.6 million. After mediation, the
respondents agreed to settle her claim for $3.1 million. Because of Rebecca's mental disability, the settlement was "sub-
ject to necessary court approval." The tort claim remained outstanding but subject to ongoing settlement discussions.

5 Three months after the date of the settlement with the respondents, Rebecca died suddenly and unexpectedly. Pend-
ing resolution of the tort claim, Rebecca Wu's counsel had not presented the settlement of the accident benefits claim for

court approval,

6 The settlement agreement was reduced to writing in the form of minutes of setflement.
Accident of Benefits of Rebecea Wu

Minutes of Settlement

In consideration of the amount $3,000,000 plus $90,000 for party and party costs and $10,000 for
disbursements, Yuan Yuan Wu also known as Rebecca W, by her Guardian of Property, Zhi
Chen and Zhi Chen and Xu-Qi Wu personally, hercby agree to settle with Zurich Insurance Com-
pany and ING Insurance Company of Canada and any successors, for all past, present and fture
accident benefit claims in connection with the motor vehicle accident of August 29, 1996.

All of the above is subject to necessary court approval to be obtained by counsel for the appli-
cants.

Pending securing all necessary approval, Zurich/ING agree to pay all current AB Benefits to the
time of sccuring necessary court approval, The total amount of accident benefits paid after Febru-
ary 3, 2003, and up to the date of court approval shall be paid back by the applicants fo Zu-
rich/ING out of the court approved settlement amount, The Full and Final Release and Disclosure
Notice will be paid by counsel for the insurer and will be executed by the applicants after court
approval [emphasis added].

7 Rebecca Wu's estate, her estate trustees, her spouse and her parents ("the appellants™} brought an application to en-
force the minutes of settlement. The application judge ruled that the requirement for court approval amounted to a "true
condition precedent” that had to be satistied in order to make the settlement agreement enforceable. He ruled that Re-
becca Wu's death made it impossibie for the cowrt to approve the settlement and, as her estate could not meet the condi-
tion precedent, there was no longer a binding agreement between the parties,

ISSUE

8 The sole issue on this appeal is whether the appellants can enforce the settlement of the accident benefits claim
against the respondents.

ANALYSIS

9  The starting point for analyzing the legal status of the settlement agreement is to consider the situation that existed
immediately before Rebecca Wir's unexpected death. In Smallman v. Smallman, [1971]1 3 Al E.R, 717 at 720 (C.A)),
Denning M.R. provided the following helpful statement of the legal status of a settlement agreement that is subject to
court approval: :

In my opinion, if the parties have reached an agreement on all essential matters, then the clause
subject to the approval of the court' does not mean there is no agreement at all. There is an
agreement, but the operation of it is suspended until the court approves it, It is the duty of one
party or the other to bring the agreement before the court for approval. If the court approves, it is



Page 4

binding on the parties. I the court does not approve, it is not binding. But, pending the applica-
tion to the court, it remains a binding agreement which neither party can disavow.,

10 The requirement for court approval of settlements made on behalf of parties under disability is derived from the
court's parens patriae jurisdiction. The parens patriae jurisdiction is of ancient origin and is "founded on necessity,
namely the need to act for the protection of those who cannot care for themselves ... to be exercised in the best interest’
of the protected person ... for his or her benefit or welfare™: Re Eve, [1986] 2 S.C.R. 388 at para. 73. The jurisdiction is
"essentially protective” and "neither creates substantive rights nor changes the means by which claims are determined”;
Tsaoussis (Litigation Guardian of) v. Baefz (1998), 41 O.R. (3d) 257 at 268 (C.A.). The duty of the court is t0 examine
the settlement and ensure that it is in the best interests of the party under disability: Poulin v. Nadon, [1950] O.R. 219
(C.A.). The purpose of court approval is plainly to protect the party under disability and to ensure that his or her legal
rights are not compromised or surrendered without proper compensation.

11 The requirement for court approval of settlements involving parties under disability is codified in Ontario in rule
7.08(1):

No seitiement of a claim made by or against a person under disability, whether or not a proceed-
ing has been commenced in respect of the claim, is binding on the person without the approval of
a judge.

12 Asexplained by Garry D. Watson and Craig Perkins, Holmested and Watson: Ontario Civil Procedure, looseleaf
{Toronto: Carswell, 1984} vol. 2 at 7-33

Rule 7.08 ... merely codifies a rule established by case law that a party under disability is bound
only by a settlement that is for his or her benefit ... it is designed to protect the party under dis-
ability from mistakes of the litigation guardian. The settlement of a claim by or against a party
under disability, whether or not a proceeding has been commenced, is not binding on the party
under disability without the approval of a judge.

13  The wording of rule 7.08(1) may be contrasted with the language of the English "compromise rule” that provides
that no settlement involving a party under disability shall "be valid without the approval of the cowrt." This wording was
considered by the House of Lords in Dietz v. Lennig Chemicals, {1969} 1 A.C. 170 to deprive a settlement that is sub-
ject to court approval of any legal effect and to allow either party to repudiate it unless and until it was approved by the
court, The situation in Ontario is different: see Richard (Litigation Guardian ofy v. Worth (2004}, 73 O.R. (3d) 154
(8.C.1.), holding that an insurer could not repudiate an infant settlement, yet to be approved by the court, on the ground
that the law relating the insurei’s iiability had been changed by a subsequent Court of Appeal decision. The effect of
rule 7.08(1) coincides with Smallman v. Smallman, supra, to this extent: the party under disability has an agreement
from which the opposite party cannot resile and that will become fully operational once approved by the court.

14 We conclude from this éhalysis that immediately prior to Rebecca Wu's death there was in law an agreement,
which the respondents could not disavow, to settle her claim on the terms recorded in the minutes of settlement, but that
the operation of that agreement was suspended pending "necessary” court approval.

15 The crucial issue for us to decide is what effect did Rebecca Wu's death have on the status of the settlement
agreement? The respondents make two central submissions. First, they say that the obligation to pay the settlement
never arose because the requirement for court approval was never met. They say that the application judge correctly
found that the requirement for court approval is a "true condition precedent” upon which the existence of any contrac-
tual obligation to pay depends and, as the settlement was not approved, it died with Rebecca Wu. Second, the respon-
dents submit that it is an implicit term of the settlement that Rebecca Wu must be alive to permit the court to approve it.
As her death makes court approval impossible, the respondents submit that the agreement must be treated as being void
ab initio.

16  For the following reasons, we are unable to accept the respondents’ submissions.

17 With respect to the respondent's first submission, we do not agree that that the settlement died with Rebecca Wu.
Prior to her death, Rebecca Wiy's claim for accident benefits had, by virtue of the settlement, become a contractual right
to the agreed amount, contingent upon obtaining the court's approval of the settfement, That contractual right was a
chose in action that, by operation of law, devolved to Rebecca Wu's estate upon her death: Estates Administration Act,
R.S.0. 1990, ¢. E22, 5. 2,; Carmen S, Thériault ed, Widdifield on Executors and Trusts, looseleaf (Toronto: Carswell,
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2002) at p. 2-52: "The general principle is that a right of action in common law survives death and is fransmissible
automatically to the personal representative."” By their terms, the minutes of settlement speak of "necessary" court ap-
proval. Once Rebecca Wu's contractual right passed to the estate, there was no longer a party under disability. Court
approval was no longer necessary to protect the interest of the party seeking to enforce the settlement. As the need for
court approval disappeared upon Rebecca Wu's death, the minutes of scttlement became operational and her estate
could enforce the obligation to pay.

18 This analysis is supported by a purposive interpretation of the need for court approval. The respondents' argument
that the settfement in Rebecca Wu's favour should be nullified because it was not approved in her lifetime runs directly
contrary to the protective purpose of parens patriae jurisdiction and of court approval of settlements involving parties
under disability. The risk created by the enforced gap in time to allow the court to review the settlement to ensure it
meets the plaintiff's interests should not be borne by the plaintiff and parens patriae jurisdiction should not be used to
defeat the very interests it serves to protect. In this regard, we find persuasive the reasoning in Reed v. United Srates of
America, 891 F. 2d 878 at 881 (11th Cir, 1990). The claim of an infant plaintiff was settled days prior to his death and
“alt that remained for final judgment to obtain was for the court to approve the settlement and enter judgment.” The
courf ruled that as "[t]he statute requiring court approval is designed for the protection of minors" and as the defendant
had agreed to settle the case, the only legitimate basis for refusing enforcement would be the failure of the agreement to
protect the minor's interests. See also Blackiurst v. Transamerica Insurance Co,, 699 P. 2d 688 (Sup. Ct. of Utah 1985}

19 In Olive Clear v. Thermal (Ireland) Limited, [1969] LR. 133, the Supreme Court of Ireland considered the en-
forceability of an infant settlement where the infant had died prior to court approval. O'Dalaigh C.J. analyzed the legal
effect of the seftlement in ferms similar to those expressed in Smallinan v. Smallman, supra, but ruled, at p. 139, that the
requirement for court approval implied that the infant must be alive. We return to the issue of post-death court approval
below, but for present purposes the significant point from this decision is that the other two members of the court sug-
gested that the settlement contract survived and that the proper procedure was for the infant's estate to sue upon the con-
tract: per Walsh J. at p. 140 and per Budd I. at p. 141, Accordingly, although the court concluded that the settlement
could not be approved after the death of the infant plaintiff, there is a majority view that the settlement contract could be
enforced at the suit of the infant's estate despite the fact that it had never been approved by the court.

20 Nor do we agree with the submission that the issue before us should be resolved on the basis of Turney v. Zilka,
[1959] S.C.R. 578 and so-called "true conditions precedent.” Turney v. Zilka involved an agreement for the purchase
and sale of land that made the contract conditional on the annexation of the subject property to another municipality.
The Supreme Court of Canada rejected the contention that the clause was for the benefit of the purchaser and could
therefore be waived by the purchaser. As the condition had not been met, neither party had any right to enforce per-
formance. Judson J. explained at pp. 583-84:

The obtligations under the contract, on both sides, depend upon a future uncertain event, the hap-
pening of which depends entirely on the will of a third party ... This is a true condition precedent
- an external condition upon which the existence of the obligation depends. Until the event occurs
there is no right to performance on either side.

21 Turney v. Zitka and other similar cases involving "true conditions precedent” typically involve the interpretation of
agreements for the purchase and sale of real estate and terms negotiated by the parties to allocate the risk of uncertain
future events, such as planning approval, that are beyond the control of the parties but that will affect the value of the
property that is the subject of the contract. That contractual setting is, in our view, distinguishable from the circum-
stances of the present case.

22 When determining whether a contractual term is to be considered a "true condition precedent," the intentions of
the parties must be considered: see Kempling v. Hearthstone Manor Corp., [1996] A.J. No. 654 at para, 32 (C.A.). Sce
also G. Davies, "Conditional Contracts of the Sale of Land in Canada” (1977), 55 Can. Bar Rev. 289 at 322: "a desirable
approach to the interpretation of conditional contracts would be to recognize that the effect of a condition must depend
upon the language in which it is expressed with the result that conditions must be subjected to individual scrutiny.” The
requirement for court approval in the case at bar was not a negotiated term designed to allocate the risk of an uncertain
fiture event that would affect the value of the bargain. As reflected by the language of the minutes of settlement - "sub-
ject to pecessary court approval” - the requivement for court approval was a term legally imposed upon the parties spe-
cifically to protect the interests of the party under disability.
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23 It is significant that rule 7.08(1) provides that the agreement is not binding on the party under disability unless the
court approves the agreement, but says nothing to limit the binding effect of the agreement on the other party. This re-
flects the unilateral and protective purpose of court approval that is related to ensuring the fairness of the agreement
itself, quite unlike the type of extraneous third-party decision at issue in Turney v. Zitka. In our view, Turney v. Zilka
does not apply to the contract at issue here.

24 With respect to the respondent's second submission, even if we were to accept the respondents' submission that
court approval is a "condition precedent” that must be satisfied to make the agreement enforceable by the appellant, we
see no reason why court approval cannot be granted despite Rebecca Wu's death. The purposive interpretation of the
parens patriae jurisdiction and rule 7.8(1) that we have already outlined suggests that authority to approve the settle-
ment should survive the death of the party under disability to the benefit of that party's estate. There was aii obvious risk
that Rebecca Wu might die earlier than projected and the respondents must have taken into account her projected life
expectancy as one of the many contingencies that influenced their assessment of the value of her claim: White (Litiga-
tion Guardian of) v. Godin, {1997} 0.J. No. 314 (C.A.) at para. 3: "In agreeing to the assessment of damages, the defen-
dants knew that there was a risk that their evaluation of the life expectancy of the plaintiff ... might be proved wrong by
future events.” Parties under disability cannot re-open settled claims when unfavourable contingencies materialize: see
Tsaoussis (Litigation Guardian of} v. Baetz, supra. Fairness requires similar treatment for insurers. The minutes of set-
tlement conld have provided that Rebecca Wu must be alive at the time of court approval but they do not. We do not
agree that it would be just to imply a term that would, after the fact, materially alter the parties' allocation of the risk
related to her life expectancy.

25  We do not find persuasive the opinion to the contrary in Olive Clear v. Thermal (Ireland} Limited, supra.
ODalaigh C.71., at pp. 138-39, gave the following example which corresponds to some degree to the case at bar:

An example will illustrate the point. A defendant, in a case of paraplegic injury to an infant plain-
tiff, agrees to pay to the next friend a large sum for damages, a great part of which is calculated to
be in respect of full-time nursing care. Before approval of the settlement the infant dies from ox-
traneous causes. The infant's death, as it seems o me, prevents the exercise of the court's function
of pronouncing on the adequacy of the settlement, A new situation has arisen; a situation which
the parties have not contemplated,

The death of the infant alters the basis of the settlement, and its effect must, in my opinion, be to
discharge the parties. The foundation of their dealings, the continued existence of the infant, is
withdrawn, and the parties are left fo such rights as they had before the settlement was entered
into andt as survive the infant's death.

26  The death of the plaintiff may eliminate the cost of future care and thereby diminish the value of the claim but, for
the reasons already expressed, it does not create a new situation that should not have been contemplated by the parties.
Life expectancy is but one of many contingencies that parties settling personal injury claims are bound to take into ac-
count when determining the worth of the claim, and the unexpected death of the plaintiff does not remove the entire
foundation for the agreement.

27 The statement in Stevens (Litigation Guardian of) v. Forney, [1994] O.J. No, 407 {Gen. Div.) to the effect that
court approval cannot be given after the death of a party under disability is not binding on this court and, in any cvent,
was obiter as the cowrt held that no contract had been formed prior to the infant plaintiff's death.

28 Inthe absence of any persuasive authority to the contrary, we hold that if it were necessary to do so, the settlement
in favour of Rebecca Wu could be approved by the court after her death.

29  Finally, we note that the considerations of fairness and promoting settlements favour enforcement. We see nothing
unfair to the respondents in enforcing this settlement. They agreed to pay the sum specified in the minutes of settlement
to settle Rebecca Wu's accident benefits claim. When they decided to setile the claim for that amount, they were in pos-
session of all the relevant facts respecting the claim and had ample opportunity to assess all contingencies. There are no
grounds such as mistake or misrepresentation for refusing to enforce the settlement.

CONCLUSION

30 For these reasons, the appeal is ailowed, the decision below is set aside, and in its place, there shall be judgment in
the following terms:
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1. A declaration that a valid settlement agreement was reached between Yuan Yuan Wu
{(also known as Rebecca Wu) by her goardian of property, Zhi Chen, Zhi Chen person-
ally, Xu-Qi Wu, Zurich Insurance Company and ING insurance Company of Canada on
February 3, 2003, on the following terms;

(1) payment in the amount of $3,000,000.00, plus $90,000.00 for costs and
$10,000.00 for disbursements from Zurich Insurance Company and/or ING Insur-
ance Company of Canada to Rebecca Wu, Zhi Chen and Xu-Qi Wi and

(i)  settlement of all past, present and future accident benefit claims in connection with
a motor vehicle accident that occurred on August 29, 1996.

2. An order and judgment requiring the respondents to pay the appelants the sum of
$3,100,000.00
3. Pre-judgment interest and post-judgment interest pursuant to the provisions of the Cowrts

of Justice Act, R.S.0, 1990, ¢. C.43, as amended.

31 The appellants are entitled to their costs of this appeal fixed at $20,000 inclusive of disbursements and GST. If the
parties are unable to agree as to the costs before the application judge, we will receive brief written submissions in that
regard.

LI LASKIN LA,
R.J. SHARPE J A,
J.L. MacFARLAND J.A,
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